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What 'Being Even Closer'

Means to Us

Our goal is to remove barriers in communication, to unite our
subscribers across the country through mobile communication
services by making them feel that they are close to their loved
ones, even when they are far apart.

Being Even Closer
Read more about our Business on pages 04–16

Being efficient
Read more about our Financial Results
on pages 52–55

Being active
Read more about our Performance on pages 30–51

Being open
Read more about our Sustainability
on pages 72–87

Being Responsible
Read more about our Corporate Governance
on pages 90–104

www.megafon.com
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Our goal is to remove barriers
in communication, to unite
our subscribers across the
country through mobile
communication services by
making them feel that they
are close to their loved ones,
even when they are far apart

Being even

Closer
2
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76.8m

29.9m

mobile subscribers

mobile data users

77 >113,000 >8,000
regions with
4G/LTE services

www.megafon.com

2G/3G/4G
base stations

stores of controlled
distribution channels
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Who We Are
MegaFon is one of Russia’s largest mobile operators in terms of revenue and subscribers.
We provide services in all market segments, including voice, data and other mobile and fixedline telecommunications services, digital TV and IP telephony. We also have subsidiaries in
Tajikistan, Abkhazia and South Ossetia. As of the end of 2015, Megafon provided services to
76.8 million subscribers, including 74.8 million subscribers in Russia.

Our extensive
networks
Our advanced infrastructure enables us
to deliver a wide range of high-quality
mobile services throughout Russia.
In 2015, we entered new regions and
increased the total number of our base
stations by 9.9% to 113,230 units. Our
2G and 3G networks cover 97.7% and
89.5% of the population respectively1.
As of the end of 2015, MegaFon’s 4G
services available to 59.2%1 of the
Russian population, in 77 regions of
Russia and in 14 of the 15 largest cities
(with a population of over 1 million
people). By continuously developing
our infrastructure, we want to provide
our customers with fast and stable
connection, high quality of connections
and high speed mobile Internet.

Our retail
network
MegaFon’s own controlled distribution
network include 2,096 MegaFon Retail
stores, 1,980 franchised stores and
approx. 4,000 stores of the nationwide
Euroset chain, which we own in
partnership with VimpelCom. Together,
these are the primary places in which
we come into face-to-face contact with
customers, adding value and enhancing
our brand through the friendly and
speedy resolution of issues, the
delivery of professional advice and high
standards of service.

1

4

Our broad
service portfolio
Our high-quality services, all targeting
real customer needs, extend far
beyond voice, mobile and fixed-line
data transfer. We also provide a range
of value-added services to retail
customers, business and government
clients and other telecommunication
service providers. We work with
corporate clients to develop and
provide bespoke business solutions. We
have a consumer hardware business,
selling handsets and other devices.
Our MegaLabs subsidiary, meanwhile,
specialises in developing innovative
solutions in M2M, financial services,
media, content and the cloud.

Exceptional
people
The commitment and accountability
of MegaFon’s employees are what
makes our business so successful.
Attracting and retaining the best
possible talent is the mission-critical
driving force behind all our training and
personal development activities. As of
31 December 2015, we employed 31,576
people.

Our respected
brand
In 2015, MegaFon updated its brand
positioning. At the heart of the new
positioning is the idea that MegaFon
continuously improves quality of
communication to make people across
Russia feel that they are close to their
loved ones, even when they are far
apart. According to a survey among
the subscribers of the top four Russian
mobile operators, at the end of 2015 the
key unique attributes of the MegaFon
brand were: ‘high communication
quality’ and ’commitment to improving
communication quality’ MegaFon
intends to use its unique attributes to
achieve its strategic objectives in 2016.

Innovative,
affordable
hardware
We aim to improve our customers’ lives
at a reasonable cost with every device
we sell. Our affordable data-enabled
smartphones and tablets are enabling
customers to access innovative services
that open up new opportunities for them
right across Russia. The wide range of
4G-enabled devices, routers, modems,
dongles and other devices, which we offer
in our controlled distribution channels, is
making it easy to access the new world
of 4G and enjoy such popular services as
streaming audio, HD-video, online games,
social networks and others.

Based on MegaFon estimates
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OUR ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

WIRELESS

FIXED-LINE

RETAIL

INNOVATIVE AND VALUE
ADDED SERVICES (VAS)

51%

100%

100%

100%

AQUAFON

NetByNet

MegaFon Retail

MegaLabs

75%

100%

50%

51%

GARS Holding

Euroset

RNIC – Vladimir region

OSTELECOM

75%
TT mobile

1

100%

51%

Metrocom

RNIC – Kurgan region

AUXILIARY

100%

100%

100%

100%

SMARTS2

Pskov GTS

MegaFon Finance

MultiMedia IP

100%

100%

Scartel

MICL 3

1

Regional Navigation & Information Centre.

2

Includes five companies in Samara, Astrakhan, Volgograd, Yaroslavl regions and the Chuvash Republic, acquired from the SMARTS Group in 2014 and 2015.

3

MegaFon Investments (Cyprus) Limited, owner of 3.92% shares in MegaFon.

www.megafon.com
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Key Events of the Year
11

/03

11

/02

2015

18

/02

MegaFon signs
a seven-year
contract with Nokia
Networks for network
construction and
upgrades

MegaFon enters
into strategic
partnership
with QIWI and
launches a cobranded e-wallet

01

MegaFon and Ericsson
achieve a recordbreaking maximum
speed of 450 Mbit/s
over the Company’s
LTE-Advanced network,
using a combination
of three bands of LTE
spectrum

11/07

MegaFon signs
a contract for
the provision of
M2M services
and 2 million SIM
cards to RT-Invest
Transport Systems
(RTITS)

02

03

04

MegaFon signs
a EUR 150m facility
agreement with
UNICREDIT BANK
AUSTRIA AG to
finance the purchase
of equipment from
Nokia Networks

30/06

05

06

29/04

07

RUB 10bn

MegaFon’s Board of
Directors recommends that
the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders approve a
final dividend of RUB 16.13
per share (GDR) for 2014,
with a total of RUB 10bn to
be paid out in dividends

paid out in dividends

Acquisition of 100%
of voting shares in
/08 four subsidiaries
of SMARTS Group,
a regional mobile
operator

17
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17/09
Acquisition
of a 100% interest
in GARS Telecom

MegaFon and
Telefonica S.A.
renew strategic
partnership

08/10

MegaFon and
VimpelCom team up
to jointly develop and
operate LTE networks
in Russia.

Acquisition
of a 49.999%
interest in Glanbury
Investments Ltd,
which owns an office
building that will
house MegaFon’s
new corporate
headquarters

09

10

11

09/10
EVENTS
AFTER THE
REPORTING
DATE

2016

12

MegaFon
issues RUB 15bn
of 11.4% series
BO-05 exchange
bonds

01

23/10

02

03

MegaFon acquired
2,570-2,595 MHz and
2,595-2,620 MHz
spectrum bands in
40 regions of Russia

MegaFon’s Board of
Directors recommends
an interim dividend of
RUB 64.51 per share (GDR)
for 9M 2015, with a total of
RUB 40bn to be paid out in
dividends

MegaFon and China
Development Bank
Corporation sign a
Framework Cooperation
Agreement to finance the
purchase of equipment
from HUAWEI and refinance
a portion of MegaFon’s
existing debt

29/10

03/09

www.megafon.com
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Our Highlights
Stable operational and financial performance
In spite of negative trends in the economy and increasing competition in the telecoms,
in 2015 we demonstrated solid financial and operational performance and achieved
the goals we set for the year.

Superior operating performance1,2…
SUBSCRIBERS, (m people)

68.1

69.7

2013

2014

USERS OF MOBILE DATA SERVICES,
(m people)

74.8
25.2

2015

DSU, (MB per month)

2013

27.4

2014

29.3

37.0%

2015

2013

ARPDU, (RUB per month)

3,286
2,614

211

SHARE OF MOBILE DATA USERS, (%)

39.3%

39.2%

2014

2015

3G AND 4G BASE STATIONS3, (units)

233

177

56,694 4

65,284

43,404

1,556

2013

2014

2015

2013

2014

2015

1

All figures disclosed under non-financial highlights refer to our Russian operations

2

Some of the operating KPIs presented here vary from those reported earlier due to the change in methodology for data service users
calculation. Data service user is defined as a subscriber who has consumed any amount of data traffic within preceding month.

3

Hereinafter – in units for Russia only

4

Verified data for 2014
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+4.2 p.p.

25.5%

share of mobile data
in total revenue
in 2015

…translating into healthy financials
REVENUE, (RUB bn)

297.2

2013

314.8

2014

OIBDA, (RUB bn) + OIBDA
MARGIN, (%)

313.4

2015

CAPEX, (RUB bn) + CAPEX TO
REVENUE, (%)

17.9%
15.9%

44.6%

44.0%

132.6

138.5

2013

2014

42.2%

132.4

2015

17.4%

51.6

2013

11.7%

12.5%

36.7

39.0

2014

2015

FREE CASH FLOW3, (RUB bn) + FREE
CASH FLOW TO REVENUE, (%)

22.4%

27.8%

70.2 2

82.6

22.5%

70.7

56.5

47.1

2013

NET PROFIT 1, (RUB bn) + NET
PROFIT MARGIN, (%)

17.2%

53.8

2014

2015

1

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company

2

CAPEX including acquisition of four companies from the SMARTS Group

3

Verified data for 2013-2014

www.megafon.com

2013

2014

2015
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Geographic Presence
Driving continuous development
We remain focused on increasing the quality of the connections
across Russia and improving services through the modernisation
of 4G, 3G and 2G networks
Murmansk

Belomorsk

Petrozavodsk
Saint Petersburg

Arkhangelsk

Pskov

Ukhta
MOSCOW

Salekhard

Kotlas
Kostroma

Syktyvkar

Nadym
Nyagan
Noyabrsk

Nizhny Novgorod
Belgorod

Voronezh

Kazan

Nizhny Tagil
Ekaterinburg

Boguchany

Samara

Rostov-On-Don

Ufa

Krasnodar

Volgograd

Tyumen
Tomsk

Chelyabinsk

Sochi

Orenburg

Bratsk

Krasnoyarsk
Kansk
Tayshet

Omsk

Astrakhan

Abkhazia

Tulun

Novosibirsk
Tajikistan

South Ossetia

Surgut

Sovetsky

Barnaul

Makhachkala

Irkutsk

Abakan
Kyzyl

Existing fibre-optic network
Fibre-optic network under construction

Subscriber number by branch

16.5m

13.5m

11.2m
Caucasus region

North-West region

Head Office
Samara

Head Office
Moscow

Head Office
Krasnodar

Head Office
Saint Petersburg

Volga region

10
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RUSSIA
MEGAFON
Customer base

74.8m

Market share by customer

29.7%

Mobile internet users

29.3m

4G-enabled devices registered on network
Revenues, RUB

7.85m
308.4bn

Capex in 2015, RUB

69.0bn

TAJIKISTAN
TT MOBILE
Customer base

1.8m

Market share by customer

27%

Mobile internet users

0.5m

4G-enabled devices registered on network

-

Revenues, RUB

3.5bn

Capex in 2015, RUB

0.9bn

ABKHAZIA
AQUAFON-GSM
Customer base

0.15m

Market share by customer

59%

Mobile internet users

0.06m

4G-enabled devices registered on network

Lazarev

Poronaysk

-

Revenues, RUB

1.2bn

Capex in 2015, RUB

0.2bn

SOUTH OSSETIA
OSTELECOM

Khabarovsk

Yuzhno-Sakhalinks

Customer base

0.07m

Market share by customer

100%

Mobile internet users

0.03m

4G-enabled devices registered on network
Revenues, RUB

Chita

Capex in 2015, RUB

0.002m
0.3bn
0.04bn

Vladivostok

6.2m

5.7m
Siberia region

5.4m

Far East region

5.2m

Head Office
Ekaterinburg

Head Office
Novosibirsk

Head Office
Khabarovsk

Head Office
Nizhny Novgorod

Urals region

www.megafon.com

Central region

74.8m

Total number of
subscribers in Russia
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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders
and Investors,
In 2015, MegaFon continued to
successfully pursue sustainable growth.
Our effective management and coordinated
efforts to reach our targets ensured a solid
performance during the reporting period
and helped us successfully complete our
three-year strategic cycle for 2012–2015.

I am proud to say that
notwithstanding a very
challenging macroeconomic
environment MegaFon proved
itself capable of adapting to
a fast-changing environment,
becoming more customer-centric
while holding onto its own
concepts and ideas.
SERGEY SOLDATENKOV
Chairman of the Board

12
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GOVERNANCE DEVELOPMENTS
Our corporate governance framework was
established and operates in accordance
with requirements, regulations and
recommendations of the Central Bank of
Russia, the UK Financial Conduct Authority,
Moscow and London Stock Exchanges, as
well as in line with best global practices.
In 2015, the Board of Directors prepared
to amend the Regulations on the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration and HR
Development Committee to align them
with recommendations issued by trade
regulators, and with best practices. We
intend to expand the functions of these
committees, taking one more step towards
optimising the Company’s corporate
governance framework. In other words,
we are consistently providing proof of our
commitment to the pillars of corporate
governance: transparency, fairness,
responsibility, and accountability.
With the ever-changing financial and
information markets, the Company
is taking great care to protect insider
information and reinforce anti-corruption
efforts. We are closely monitoring all
relevant regulatory changes while also
adopting risk management best practices.
In addition, we have planned to carry out a
comprehensive set of measures aimed at
the development of a risk culture in 2016
and 2017 and the assessment of risks in
the Company’s material processes and
projects, including the Shared Service
Centre, Unified Billing and business
planning. Particular attention will be
given to more fundamental training of the
Company’s senior management on risk
management and mitigation.
Another important development in
improving the effectiveness of the
Company’s corporate governance was
the implementation of the new “two
keys” (“two-in-the-box”) principle for the
Russian corporate practice), providing for
the appointment of several sole executive
bodies acting independently from one
another in clearly defined roles. In June
2015, the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders approved a new version of
MegaFon’s Charter introducing the position
of the Chief Operating Officer responsible
for the day-to-day management of the
business, including business segments,
infrastructure, branches and subsidiaries.

www.megafon.com
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Governance
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In spring 2015, an independent assessment
of the Board of Directors’ performance
was carried out. Based on the assessment
results, the Board of Directors defined a
number of priority areas for improving its
performance, in particular:
●● the Company’s strategic development,
●● the Company’s succession planning
framework,
●● new approach to designing short-term/
long-term incentive plans for the
Company’s management.

STRATEGY
The results of our three-year growth strategy
show that the Company achieved significant
gains – our strengthened market position,
enhanced customer base, and improved
business efficiency brought MegaFon to the
forefront of innovation.
Today, the Russian telecommunications
industry continues to evolve at a rapid
pace, with changes from customer demand
mix and retail business transformations,
through modified approaches taken by mobile
operators to infrastructure development, for
example, splitting off tower infrastructures
into separate companies. In 2016, we plan
to go even further – developing a new
corporate strategy to enable continued
growth for the Company at this inflection
point, albeit on a different path, one which is
adjusted to address changes in the economic
environment, market demand and the
evolving needs of our customers.

DIVIDENDS
Protection of the interests and rights of
our shareholders and investors lies at the
heart of MegaFon’s dividend policy. Since
floating its shares on the London Stock
Exchange and Moscow Exchange, the
Company has regularly paid dividends to
its shareholders, starting from FY2012.
In 2015, the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders resolved to pay RUB 10 bn in
dividends for FY2014 (RUB 16.13 per share
or GDR). In addition, the Extraordinary
General Meeting of Shareholders resolved
to make payment of an additional RUB
40bn in dividends for the first 9 months of
2015 (RUB 64.51 per share or GDR). As a
result, dividends accrued in 2015 totalled a
record RUB 50bn.

Financial
Statements

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION
MegaFon provides communications
services on a daily basis to millions of
our subscribers. We are fully aware of
the significance of our services in the
daily life of our customers. We have great
responsibilities to both the state and
society as a whole.
Therefore, we are particularly focused
on our interactions with stakeholders –
shareholders, customers, partners, and of
course, our people. Fairness and respect
are the basic principles underpinning our
ongoing dialogue with stakeholders. For
us, sustainable development is not just
another area of activity – it is an integral
aspect of MegaFon’s business strategy.
Finally, we value our reputation and take
pride in the high customer satisfaction
rates that we have achieved.

OUTLOOK
In line with the Board of Directors’ scope of
authority set out in the Company’s Charter,
in 2016, we intend to continue operating for
the benefit of our shareholders, customers,
and employees – defining priority areas,
improving decision-making management,
and streamlining our motivation system.
Despite the challenging macroeconomic
situation in Russia, we look to the future
with confidence. Our expertise and our
insights into market processes and
industry trends leave us well-positioned
not just to overcome the current economic
downturn but to retain our market position.
I want to thank all MegaFon employees,
who were “Truly with Us” in this
challenging environment and delivered a
solid performance for the Company in 2015.

SERGEY SOLDATENKOV
Chairman of the Board

MEGAFON
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Chief Executive’s Review
Solid financial and operational
performance was achieved in spite
of negative trends in the economy
and increasing competition in
the telecoms industry. We have
maintained our leadership position in
communication quality, and further
developed our pro-active customercentric approach.
IVAN TAVRIN
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders,
Partners, and Colleagues,
For many businesses and industries 2015
was a year of transformation, a time for
reviewing management strategies, and
a test of corporate resilience against
the backdrop of a worsening economic
environment within Russia. The mobile
telecommunications industry was no
exception here and, given the added factor
of intensified competition, the paradigm
of interaction between the market players
called for reinvention. Despite all this,
in 2015 we achieved the goals we set
for the year and delivered performance
consistent with our expectations. Solid
financial and operational performance was
achieved in spite of negative trends in the
economy and increasing competition in the
telecoms industry. We have maintained
our leadership position in communication
quality, and further developed our proactive customer-centric approach.

14

MEGAFON

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

>80%

2015 HIGHLIGHTS
In 2015, our consolidated revenue totaled
RUB 313.4bn, the same level as in 2014.
Our consolidated OIBDA was RUB 132.4bn,
with an industry-leading OIBDA margin
of 42.2%. CAPEX (including acquisition
in August 2015 of frequencies from four
companies of the SMARTS Group) grew
24.2% year-on-year to RUB 70.2bn.
Given the increased volatility in the rouble,
we have continued the implementation
of initiatives to ensure the Company’s
financial sustainability and optimise its
debt portfolio. Over 80% of our cash and
deposits are held in US dollars or euros.
55% of our debt portfolio is due in three
years or more, with the overwhelming
majority of the Company’s debt
denominated in roubles and the percentage
of FX-denominated loans and borrowings
which are not hedged being less than 30%.
Including interest and cross-currency
swaps over 80% of our debt portfolio has
fixed rates.
To secure sustainable financing for growth
we have signed loan agreements with China
Development Bank Corporation, providing
credit facilities of up to US$ 600m, of which
US$ 300m will be used to finance purchases
of equipment and services from Huawei to
support further rollout and replacement of
equipment for our network. The second loan
facility will be used to refinance existing
higher rate debt.
To finance the purchase of
telecommunications equipment, software and
related services from Nokia Solutions and
Networks we also signed a Finnvera-covered
facility agreement with Unicredit Bank Austria
AG for EUR 150m in June 2015, and a further
facility agreement with Sberbank for the RUB
equivalent of EUR 70m in December 2015.
Also in December 2015, we signed a new
revolving credit facility agreement with
Sberbank for RUB 30bn, of which RUB 15bn
was immediately drawn down to prepay
more expensive short-term debt and extend
maturities for a further two to three years.

www.megafon.com
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We continued to tap the Russian debt
market as well, successfully completing
a placement of RUB 15bn of 11.4%
two-year exchange-traded bonds in
October 2015, with the offering being
oversubscribed over three times.
Complementing this achievement was
our early repayment in May 2015 of the
entire issue of the Company’s series
BO-04 exchange-traded bonds in order
to reduce interest costs.
In 2015, we made vigorous efforts to
improve communication quality by further
developing our network, focusing on
two key areas: upgrades of existing and
replacement of obsolete equipment in our
2G and 3G networks and the active rollout
of our 4G/LTE high-speed transmission
network. Our state-of-the-art infrastructure
which provides fast, high-quality data
transmission to meet the communications
needs of our customers comprised over
113,000 base stations as of the end of
2015, with the total number of base
stations growing 10% over the previous
year and the number of 3G and 4G base
stations amounting to 65,300. At the end
of 2015, the total length of our fibre-optic
communications lines was 184,400 km,
enough to circle the globe almost five times.
Yet another milestone in our commitment
to infrastructure development came when
we signed a seven-year contract with
Nokia to construct and upgrade MegaFon’s
nationwide 4G+ federal network using Single
RAN (radio access network) technology.
Frequency bands are a key asset for
any mobile operator and, to improve our
spectrum position, we made a number
of important acquisitions over the year.
Specifically, in August 2015, the Company
acquired additional spectrum in the Samara,
Astrakhan and Yaroslavl regions and the
Chuvash Republic through the purchase of
a 100% interest in four companies belonging
to the SMARTS Group, which significantly
improved our position in the 900/1,800
MHz bands in these regions. In October
2015, MegaFon made the winning bids at
Russia’s first auction for frequencies held
by the Federal Service for Supervision of

of our cash and deposits
are held in US$

Communications, Information Technology,
and Mass Media for the 1,800 MHz bands
in Dagestan and the Karachay-Cherkess
Republic, which will enable us to improve
network quality and minimise capital
expenses on infrastructure expansion in
these regions. This year, in another auction
held in February 2016, MegaFon acquired
frequencies in the 2,570–2,595 MHz and
2,595–2,620 MHz bands in 40 regions of
Russia, including St Petersburg and the
Leningrad region.
In addition, in accordance with our investment
strategy, MegaFon completed several
strategic transactions. In September 2015,
we acquired a 100% interest in GARS Holding
Limited (“GARS”), which provides a full range
of fixed-line services to tenants of business
centres in Moscow and St Petersburg. This
strategic transaction will significantly expand
our footprint in Russia’s two capitals and
consolidate our position in the corporate and
SME segments of the telecoms market.
I should also mention that, in October
2015, we acquired a 49.999% interest in a
new class A office building at Oruzheyny
Pereulok in Moscow, which will allow us
to consolidate all of our Moscow offices
and production sites in a single location
in the centre of Moscow, thereby saving
occupancy costs and improving our internal
communications and inter-actions.
Also in 2015 we completed and placed
into full operation our Global Network
Operational Centre (GNOC), one of the
largest and most advanced hubs in Russia
and globally to monitor the performance of
our entire network and ensure its reliable
operation.

MEGAFON

15

Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

Our Unified Billing, a strategically
important, complex project, deserves a
special mention. We have been preparing
for the realisation of this project for several
years and launched its testing for B2C
customers on 15 December 2015. Through
this new project, we will have the technical
capabilities to serve customers in any
part of the country, thereby effecting an
improvement in the quality of our customer
service.

LEADING THE FIELD
IN MOBILE DATA
In 2015, our mobile revenue was up 0.2%
year-on-year, driven by industry-leading
growth in revenue in mobile data and
value-added services (VAS). Revenue from
mobile data services, our fastest growing
business segment, reached RUB 79.9bn,
up 19% year-on-year and representing over
25.5% of our total revenue.
Several developments contributed to this
significant growth in mobile data revenue –
the growing popularity of mobile internet,
subscribers using social media and instant
messaging instead of telephony and SMS
for communication purposes, and greater
availability of smartphone offerings as
well as price-cuts in this product category.
Our own efforts also contributed – we
continued to roll out 3G and 4G networks
and to implement new business initiatives
such as updates to our line of tariff plans to
stimulate data usage, and a wide offering
of data-enabled devices at affordable
prices in our retail network. As a result,
penetration of data-enabled devices on the
Company’s network reached 53%, while
data transmission traffic per subscriber
(DSU) grew to 3.3 GB per month.
The growth in revenue from mobile data
and VAS fully compensated for the drop
in revenue from traditional voice services,
demonstrating the success of our strategy
of focusing primarily on developing mobile
data services and innovative products to
complement such services.
The development of 4G networks and
services remains the Company's priority.
MegaFon’s 4G network is deployed in
as many as 77 regions of the Russian
Federation, while LTE-Advanced
services with record-breaking speeds
of 150 Mbit/s–450 Mbit/s were available
in nine cities, including Moscow and
St Petersburg.

At the end of 2015, our roaming services
were available to MegaFon’s subscribers
in 224 countries worldwide, while LTEroaming services were available in 66
countries. In 2015, we saw the penetration
rate of 4G-enabled devices on our network
grow by 34.3% to 7.9 million devices.

ALWAYS THERE FOR OUR
CUSTOMERS
We continue to make further
improvements in communication quality,
maintaining our industry leadership in this
area. High-quality telecoms services are
our key advantage and the reason why
customers choose us.
We also maintain our focus on acquiring
new and retaining existing customers by
developing new products and tariffs to
enhance our existing offerings. Our mobile
subscriber base in Russia keeps growing, up
7% to 74.8 million subscribers at the end of
2015.
Our vigorous marketing initiatives and a
new strategic partnership agreement with
Svyaznoy, Russia’s leading mobile retailer, to
expand the distribution network for MegaFon’s
products and services, have contributed to
this growth in the subscriber base.
At the same time, I want to reiterate our
commitment to developing the Company’s
own retail chain. At the end of 2015, our
controlled retail network comprised almost
2,100 MegaFon Retail stores, approx. 2,000
MegaFon-branded franchised stores, and
almost 4,000 Euroset stores. We offered
over 330 models of 4G-enabled devices,
with sales of 4G smartphones and tablets
in our retail channel up 111% in 2015 from a
year before, reaching 0.5 million units.
In spring 2015, MegaFon re-examined
its branding, resulting in the launch of a
new communication platform, “Truly with
You”, which we believe will help to build a
stronger emotional bond with consumers
and enable MegaFon to engage with
customers on a more personal level.

We are proud to report that our customercentric approach was recognised nationally
when we won awards in two categories
in the 2015 Russia Customer eXperience
Awards: the Most Customer-Oriented
Company in Russia (360° customer
experience management) and the Best
Multi-Channel Customer Experience.
MegaFon was also the winner of the 2015
Customer Rights and Quality of Service
award (in the Communications and Telecoms
sub-category within the Retail Services
category)and the 2015 No. 1 Brand in Russia
award in the Mobile Operator category.
In 2015, MegaFon was the first of the “Big
Three” mobile operators to remove time
limits for free on-net calls. In July 2015, we
also stopped charging for on-net calls in
Moscow for subscribers on our ‘Perekhodi
na Nol’ (‘Switch to Zero’) tariff, which has
the largest number of subscribers in the
mobile market as it has no subscription fee
and no billing increments for on-net calls.

OUTLOOK FOR 2016
Based on our forecasts, 2016 will be
another challenging year for the Company.
Tough macroeconomic conditions and the
resulting changes in consumer behaviour,
as well as price competition in the market,
will continue to put pressure on our
business and financial performance.
As we consider these factors, we are fully
aware that achieving our goals will call for
maximum focus and smart financial planning.
We will focus on keeping up with new
market realities and trends, further
improving communication quality and
developing our network. We remain
committed to retaining our leadership
position in the Russian telecoms market,
by developing the innovative areas of our
business, retaining our subscriber base,
and improving the efficiency of our business
processes. And, of course, maximising the
quality of our customers’ experience will
remain at the heart of everything we do.

In conclusion, I want to thank all our employees, managers, and shareholders
for all of their efforts and support in the past year and express my confidence
that our team’s superior expertise, and their pro-active and hard-working
attitudes will continue to drive the successful growth of our business.
IVAN TAVRIN
Chief Executive Officer

16

MEGAFON

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements

Our Strategy
of Sustainable Growth
Meeting the needs of digital subscribers

Starting from 2012, MegaFon has
successfully pursued a strategy of
sustainable growth.
Within this strategy the following
results have been achieved so far:
●● MegaFon’s share of the mobile
communications market increased;
●● Improved business efficiencies
delivered;
●● Deployment of state-of-the-art
infrastructure and roll-out of 4G
network, with capital expenses
reduced noticeably;
●● New investment management
process introduced: investment
portfolio built up, diversified across
a number of projects, each of which
has a project manager; Investment
Committee set up to evaluate
the strategic value and financial
attractiveness of proposed projects,
and optimise budgets of certain
investment initiatives.
●● Organisational structure changed to
strengthen the Company’s positions
across the segments in the B2С,
B2B, B2G and B2O markets, and
appropriate management models put
in place.
The effective implementation of this
strategy enabled us to build up free
cash flow and increase the amount of
paid dividends between 2012 and 2015.

The deterioration of the
macroeconomic environment in
2014–2015, due mostly to external
political factors, led to the Russian
rouble depreciation and reduced
personal incomes. The telecoms
services consumption profile is
changing: subscribers use international
roaming services less actively and
increasingly opt for services that help
them cut communications costs. At
the same time, the ongoing evolution
of subscribers into digital customers
has become a prominent trend: demand
for mobile data is growing rapidly,
OTT services are gaining popularity,
smartphone penetration increases
along with the volume of content
consumption via mobile devices.
Given the new economic situation and
changes in customer preferences,
MegaFon took a decision to review its
strategy.
The Company’s new strategy is
designed to drive revenue by taking
advantage of the digital customer
trend, enabling data monetisation and
new product offerings for subscribers.
The key drivers of the new strategy
include our strong presence in mobile
retail (through owned-and-operated
stores, franchised points of sale and
Euroset retails network), infrastructure
and IT.

THE COMPANY’S KEY STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES IN THE SHORT AND
MEDIUM TERM INCLUDE:

Meeting the needs of digital
subscribers

Developing cooperation with
internet companies and OTT
services

Development of branded
innovative products and services
complementary to the Company’s
core business, specifically,
MegaFon-TV and other content
services, mobile finance, M2M
services, mobile advertising and
cloud solutions
Timely network expansion and
upgrades, optimisation of the
technology mix to maintain
spectrum advantage

Leveraging new opportunities to
drive operational performance in a
crisis environment

www.megafon.com
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Our Strategy of Sustainable
Growth (continued)

Continue growing
faster than
the market in core
business areas

Strategic priorities

KPIs

Best product offering

●●

●●

●●

Maintain leadership in mobile data
●● Maintain revenue growth from value-added
services

Best distribution
●●

Continue the “smart development” of
the retail network with focus on active
subscriber base growth

Best customer experience
●●

Leverage secondary
core businesses

●●

Active subscriber base

●●

Share of B2B, B2G and B2O revenue

Leverage potential in B2B, B2G and B2O
business segments, increasing their
“weight” within the Company

Fixed business

●●

●●

●●

Fixed business revenue
Launch Fixed-to-Mobile (FMC) products and
services

●●

Ensure on-time delivery of new products

Leverage and realise synergies between
fixed line, fixed broadband and mobile
businesses

New businesses
●●

Deliver best-inclass efficiency in
the management of
the business

Share of new subscribers acquired through the
controlled distribution network1
●● Number of data-enabled devices sold in the
Company’s controlled retail network
●●

Retain customers through excellence of
end-to-end customer experience

Corporate business
●●

Revenue
Mobile data revenue (Russia)
●● Mobile data service user base
●● VAS revenue

Leverage opportunities in new businesses
through development and delivery of
innovative products synergetic to the core
business

Best performance

●●

●●

●●

Identify and deliver continuous operational
improvements

Best network

●●

●●

●●

Continue to actively develop network
and service quality, combined with high
efficiency

Best management system
●●

Develop management system focused on
value creation

OIBDA margin
Implementation of operational excellence
initiatives

CAPEX/Revenue, %
Coverage (% of Russian population)

Implementation of developed management
system
●● Employee motivation
●●

1 Includes the Company’s sales force and own sales network MegaFon Retail, third-party points of sale operating under the MegaFon brand and Euroset stores
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Actions for 2015

Retain the revenue at the same level as in 2014
Launch 4G+ in new cities
●● Continue developing bundles

Corporate
Governance

Revenue: RUB 313.4bn (virtually the same y-o-y, down 0.4%)
Mobile data revenue: RUB 79.9bn (up 19.0%)
●● Mobile data service user base: 29.9 million subscribers (up 6.8%)
●● VAS revenue: up 4.5%
●●

●●

●●

●●

Develop strong data-enabled device portfolio
Continue renovation of owned-and-operated and
franchised points of sale

Deliver excellence initiatives to improve customer
experience
●● Monitor customer satisfaction index (“CSI”) and link it
to the technical network KPIs
●●

●●

●●

Implement the updated corporate strategy as a basis
for consistent business development through all
corporate segments

Increase delivered synergies between the fixed line,
fixed broadband and mobile businesses

Focus on high-priority new business streams (OTT TV,
mobile finance and M2M services)
●● Continue developing innovative products and services
through MegaLabs, the Company’s R&D unit
●●

●●

Maintain OIBDA margin not less than 41.5%

Financial
Statements

Progress in 2015

●●

●●

Investor
Relations

8,070 stores within the retail network (flat y-o-y)
71.5% of all new subscribers acquired through controlled distribution
network (roughly flat y-o-y: +0.28 p.p.)
2
●● 4.3 million smartphones and tablets sold in 2015 (up 11.2%) , with 4G
smartphones and tablets sales up 110.6%
●●
●●

●●

76.8 million active subscribers (up 6.4%)

16.4% (up 1.3 p.p.)
Involvement in major government-sponsored projects and the
government’s digital agenda: development of digital textbooks in
cooperation with Prosveshcheniye Publishing House, etc.
●● Launches of new products: Big Data, video conferencing, M2M monitoring,
electronic document management, etc.
●●
●●

RUB 23.4bn (up 5.6%)
Launch of WireFire, a double-play FMC service (OTT TV and broadband), for
the B2C segment
●● Develop an offering for the corporate segment based on transformational
solutions for traditional telephony designed to optimise business
processes, reduce costs, and ensure seamless experience for customers:
digital signature, virtual PBX, scoring and geolocation services, confidential
communication solutions, redundancy, and smart services
●●
●●

●●

Launch of the updated version of the MegaFon TV content service and its
inclusion in bundled tariff offerings (50 TV channels and up to 6 HD movies
free of charge)

42.2% (0.7 p.p. above the Company’s outlook for 2015)
Launch of Unified Billing
●● Launch of a project to set up a shared services centre, a multifunctional
service centre, to co-locate the following functions: accounting and
reporting, treasury and financial control, procurement and logistics, HR
management, B2O operations support, and receivables administration
●●
●●

Develop 3G/LTE/LTE-A networks
Improve service quality
●● Deliver expected capital expenditures in the range
of RUB 165–180bn for 2013–2015, as previously
announced by the Company during the IPO

22.4% (up 4.5 p.p.) 3
The Company’s CAPEX in 2013–2015 totalled RUB 173.8bn, in line with the
guidance announced by the Company during the IPO at the end of 2012
4
●● Launch of 4G in 77 regions accounting for 59.2% of the population
(up 8.2 p.p.)

●●

●●

●●

●●

●●

Develop an HR strategy

As part of efforts to develop the Company’s HR strategy, the Talent Pool
programme was designed and launched to develop employees’ managerial
skills to ensure that the Company’s needs for managers are met promptly
and efficiently
●● The Company’s values were approved and cascaded across the Company
down to the regional office level.
●●

2 Includes MegaFon-branded equipment (smartphones and tablets only) sold in 2015 in the controlled retail network and third-party equipment sold in MegaFon Retail
3 Including the cost of acquisition of additional spectrum through the purchase of a 100% interest in four companies from SMARTS Group in August 2015. Net of this acquisition, the
CAPEX/Sales ratio was 20.4%, up 2.5 p.p.
4 Russian population as of the latest census in October 2010

www.megafon.com
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Business Model
How We Create Value

Wireline
services

Equipment
market

Sales of equipment
and accessories

Wireless
services
Technology
and software
market

Markets,
suppliers,
partners

Financial
markets

Key products
and services

Labour
market

RESOURCES AND ASSETS

MOBILE
NETWORK

RETAIL
NETWORK

CUTTING-EDGE
TECHNOLOGIES

RECOGNIZED
BRAND

OUR
PERSONNELL

>113,000

>8,000

Wide product and
services line

Brand recognition
and loyalty

High quality of service
and products

base stations

points of sales in controlled
distribution network

>126,000

Independent
dealers network

km of FOCL backbone
network

(Svyaznoy, Russian Post,
local dealers)
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OUR PRIMARY SOURCE OF REVENUE
IS FROM SUBSCRIBER PAYMENT.

Telecom
operators

We have designed our revenue structure to
mitigate exposure to credit risk and support
a stable cash flow

Corporate
customers

Retail
customers

Investor
Relations

76.8m

6.4%

86.2%

7.5%

RUB
313.4bn
Revenue

subscribers

Wireless services
Wireline services
Sales of equipment
accessories

42.2%
OIBDA margin

Because of our determination
that investors should receive an
appealing return, we also distribute
a significant portion of cash in the
form of dividends

RUB
50.0bn
Dividends2

Free cash
flow

1

Including frequencies aquisition.

2

Dividends distributed in 2015, including dividend payments for FY2014 and 9M 2015.

www.megafon.com

RUB
70.2bn
CAPEX1

Our business model is
built around our growth
and reinvestment
strategy. We are always
seeking to strengthen
our market position by
reinvesting our cash
flow back into the
business
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Industry Overview and
the Company’s Market Position
THE GLOBAL MOBILE MARKET
The global mobile market continues
growing rapidly. At the end of 2015, the
total number of unique mobile subscribers
reached 4.7 billion (up more than 30%
year-on-year), while the global mobile
communications penetration rate was
63%. At the same time, the overall growth
rate of the number of mobile subscribers
globally keeps slowing down due to market
saturation in developed countries and
connection difficulties faced by low-income
segments of the population in emerging
markets. According to estimates by GSMA
Intelligence, the global subscriber base will
total 5.6 billion by the end of the decade,
and over 70% of the world’s population will
have access to mobile communications.
With increasing demand for mobile data,
lowering prices and a vast range of
available data-enabled devices, mobile
data transmission has become the main
driver of growth for mobile operators
around the world.
The global market is currently witnessing
a shift to mobile broadband networks on
the back of rapid deployment of 4G/LTE
networks worldwide. Mobile broadband (3G
and 4G technology) accounts for almost
50% of the total number of connections
as at the end of 2015, and this share is
expected to exceed 70% by 2020 due to
increased price affordability, a wide range
of smartphones, more extensive and
intensive 3G and 4G network coverage,
and in certain cases thanks to operators
subsidising the purchase of handsets.
The growing share of high-speed
connections and rapid deployment of
3G and 4G networks largely reflect
the increasing penetration rate of
smartphones. By the end of 2015,
smartphones penetration rate in developed
countries reached 65%, and 40% of the
total number of connections in emerging
markets, mainly driven by the Asia Pacific
region and Latin America.
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Smartphones penetration rate will increase
to 2.6 billion by 2020, with 90% of the
growth coming from emerging markets.
China currently remains the largest market
for smartphones, but soon India will become
the main growth driver: the Indian market is
expected to generate almost 0.5 billion new
connections within the next five years.
According to Cisco, in 2015, global mobile
internet traffic grew 74% year-on-year to
3.7 exabyte per month, with mobile video
accounting for 55% of the total traffic
consumption. Average monthly traffic on
smartphones grew 43% year-on-year to
929 MB per month as compared to 648 MB
per month in 2014.
International Data Corporation (IDC)
analysts predict that in 2016 3.2 billion
people on Earth will have internet
access, representing 44% of the world’s
population, while 2 billion users will access
internet on mobile devices. According
to IDC, the highest growth in internet
penetration rates has been recorded in
countries like China, India and Indonesia.
These markets will account for nearly half
of the global growth in the next five years.
This is due to low-priced devices and tariff
plans for wireless services in these Asian
countries.
According to IDC’s forecast, the global
market for mobile internet will grow at an
average annual rate of 2% in the years 2016
to 2020. This rate could well prove to be
much higher with the potential emergence
of new methods to provide internet access
that are now being actively researched
by companies like Google, SpaceX and
Facebook.
According to industry analysts, currently
over 2 billion people use e-mail and read
news online, while the number of online
buyers has hit record highs. In 2015, an
estimated total of over US$ 100bn was
spent to purchase travel online, and
roughly the same amount was spent on
books, CDs, DVDs, application downloads
and online training courses.

THE RUSSIAN TELECOMS MARKET
IN 2015
According to the data provided by the
Russian Ministry of Economic Development
in its monitoring report on the results of
the social and economic development of
the Russian Federation, in 2015 the total
size of the telecoms market shrank by
1.4%, as compared to 2014 when it grew
by 2%.
Among key industry trends, the Ministry
of Economic Development points to
a slowdown in the growth of mobile
services provided to the population (the
share of these services in total mobile
communications services in the period
January–September 2015 shrank to
85.1% from 86.8% in the period January–
September 2014), which analysts attribute,
in particular, to saturation in the mobile
services market.
Experts at the Ministry of Economic
Development note that, despite a
challenging economic situation, leading
Russian mobile operators remained active
in 2015. In particular, they offered new
services, continued to expand significantly
the geographic coverage of high-speed 4G
internet and LTE networks, suggesting
that they anticipated considerable 4G and
LTE traffic growth going forward.
According to TMT Consulting, the size of
the Russian telecommunications market in
2015 reached RUB 1,674bn, while analysts
estimate the market’s annual growth in
2015 was 2.1% versus 1.7% in 2014.
This growth was driven by a significant
increase in revenue from Pay-TV services,
as well as the impact of changes in FX
rates on settlements for wholesale
services at the international level.
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TMT Consulting predicts that in the
next five years the rate of growth in the
Russian telecoms market will slow to
1.3% per year on average, as a result of
declining voice revenues which will be
partially offset by increased revenue from
mobile internet and value-added services.
Its analysts anticipate that there may
be a new breakthrough in the telecoms
market linked to the introduction of 5G
technology; however, commercial launch of
such technology is not expected until after
2020. In the meantime, mobile operators
will look to developing data centre and
cloud services for further growth, with Big
Data services being the most promising
segment.
According to the forecast of the Ministry of
Economic Development, despite a difficult
macroeconomic situation and a slowdown
in infrastructure construction, the mobile
communications market will remain healthy.
The industry will benefit from the geographical
expansion of 4G and 3G networks, as well
as growing consumption of mobile internet
services and bundled tariff offers.
Cisco predicts that by 2020 the volume of
mobile internet traffic will have increased
eight-fold, growing at an average annual
rate of 53%. Video content will account
for 75% of mobile traffic in Russia. It is
anticipated that 4G will take over as the
prevailing technology in Russian mobile
networks.

MOBILE BUSINESS
The Russian mobile communications
market is characterised by high penetration
rates and intense competition. According
to AC&M Consulting, at the end of 2015
the total number of mobile subscribers
in Russia totalled 251.9 million, up
4.8% year-on-year. The average mobile
communications penetration rate across
Russia reached 176.3%, while in Moscow
and St Petersburg it exceeded 230%.
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Governance
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MegaFon is currently the second-largest
mobile operator in Russia in terms of
revenue and subscriber base, with a 29.7%
market share in total mobile subscribers.1
According to estimates by TMT Consulting,
in 2015 the mobile communications
segment accounted for about 58% of
the total Russian telecoms market,
although its rate of growth was lower than
the market and in the prior year (1.2% in
2015 against 1.9% in 2014).

Financial
Statements

MOBILE MARKET SIZE (RUB bn) +
PENETRATION1 (%)
170.0%

168.2%

176.3%

873.9

889.9

887.3

2013

2014

2015

Voice services

The traditional voice services segment,
while remaining the largest segment of the
mobile communications market, experienced
a further decline in revenue. Due to the
rapid development of 3G and 4G networks
and growing popularity of OTT content,
consumer focus is shifting from voice
services to mobile data.
In a bid to support demand for voice
services, all the “Big Three” operators have
introduced special tariffs to increase on-net
voice traffic. MegaFon’s range of tariffs
includes the ‘Perekhodi na 0’ (‘Switch to
Zero’) tariff which provides free minutes for
on-net calls within the region in which the
subscriber resides.

Data services

In 2015, data services remained the most
rapidly developing segment of the Russian
mobile communications market. In 2015,
the Russian mobile data market grew by
around 19%, to RUB 210.0bn1, and the share
of mobile data in total wireless revenues
increased from 19.9% in 2014 to 23.7% in
2015. The main drivers for the data market
growth were the increasing adoption of
data-enabled devices, the rapid expansion
of 3G/4G networks and the popularity of
“data-heavy” content.

MOBILE VOICE MARKET IN
RUSSIA1 (RUB bn)
605.8

589.2

2013

2014

549.6

2015

MOBILE DATA MARKET IN
RUSSIA1 (RUB bn)
210.0
176.7
135.1

2013

2014

2015

1 Company’s estimate based on data provided by AC&M Consulting.
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Industry Overview and the Company’s
Market Position (continued)

According to estimates by J’son &
Partners Consulting, in 2015 there were
approximately 93 million active SIM cards
with mobile internet access in Russia and
52 million unique users. Mobile internet
penetration in 2015 reached 64% against
58% in 2014. Mobile internet users are
mainly the owners of smartphones or
tablets. In 2015 the number of active
smartphone users in Russia reached 68.2
million (up 28% year-on-year) and the
number of tablet users was 13 million (up
26% year-on-year)1. According to Google2,
85% of smartphone owners use the internet
every day, spending 82% of their time using
internet-enabled “apps”.
The number of LTE users continued to grow
in 2015. According to J’son & Partners
Consulting , the number of LTE users in
Russia was in excess of 10 million at the
end of 2015. J’son forecasts that by the
end of 2020 this number has the capacity
to approximately treble, coming close to 30
million. The main constraint on this growth
is the likely slowdown in 4G investment
due to the overall unfavourable economic
situation and, in particular, the Russian
rouble depreciation.
According to Cisco, in 2015 mobile internet
traffic in Russia reached 224.6 PB per month,
up 56% year-on-year. Mobile traffic grew
on average twice as fast as fixed-line IP
traffic. In 2015, every data-enabled device
generated an average of 947 MB of data
traffic per month (up 52% year-on-year),
while smartphones consumed a monthly
average of 1,493 MB.
For mobile operators providing mobile data
services, revenue growth in 2015 did not
correlate directly with data traffic growth.
Revenue growth was slower than the
growth rate for data traffic because of the
extensive promotion of bundled tariff plans
and packaged data tariff options where, the
more traffic that is available in the package,
the lower the cost of each megabyte of
traffic becomes. According to J’son&
Partners Consulting, the average cost of
1 MB of mobile traffic in 2015 was RUB 0.09,
a reduction of RUB 0.04 year-on-year.
According to a forecast by J’son & Partners
Consulting, by 2018 the number of mobile
internet subscribers (SIM cards) will reach
121 million, a 31% growth from 2015. Internet
traffic on mobile devices is anticipated to
grow 2.6-fold in the next three years, driven
by steady reductions in tariffs.

MegaFon is very well positioned to take
advantage of the growing demand for
data services and increased traffic due
to the wide coverage of its 4G network
and the high data speeds which it
provides. According to the Federal Service
for Supervision of Communications,
Information Technology, and Mass Media
(Roskomnadzor), the leading Russian mobile
operators significantly increased the number
of their LTE stations in 2015. The total
number of active 4G base stations at the
end of 2015 increased 2.1-fold year-on-year
to more than 72,000 units. MegaFon owns
36%3 of the total number of 4G stations
in Russia and provides 4G services in
77 Russian regions.

Value-added services (VAS)

In 2015, Russian operators’ VAS revenues
continued to grow. According to AC&M
Consulting, at the end of 2015, the
aggregate revenue from these services
(short messaging, content services,
e-commerce, etc.) was RUB 127.7bn,
up 3.0% year-on-year.
The share of VAS in the revenue structure
of mobile operators keeps growing as
well. In 2015, it averaged 14.4% of the total
revenues.
The range of VAS services being offered
is expanding. These new areas include
M2M services, or the “Internet of Things”
(IoT). M2M solutions have been widely
adopted across the energy and utilities
sectors to provide for wireless transfer
and analysis of data generated by meters,
as well as in security and other sectors.
Using high-speed data transfer networks
to make M2M services available appears to
have the highest potential in the medium
term. In Russia, M2M solutions are mostly
used in the transportation industry (taxis,
information boards at public transport
stops, traffic speed controls, etc.).
MegaFon actively develops and promotes
M2M services targeting mostly the B2B
segment, but is developing some B2C
solutions, as well. MegaFon has made
product and service development in this
area a major strategic priority (for more
information see page 36).
iKS-Consulting estimates that at the
end of 2015 the number of SIM cards
in the M2M/IoT segment had reached
approximately 8 million (up 20% year-onyear), with the B2B segment accounting for
over 97% of the market. Industry analysts

believe that in the coming years the M2M/
IoT market will continue to grow rapidly,
both in the B2B segment, which is far from
being saturated, and in the B2C segment,
where special tariff plans for device users
in this segment are being introduced.
According to forecasts by iKS-Consulting,
in 2020 the Russian M2M/IoT market will
grow to 26 million SIM cards, 18% of which
will be used in the B2C segment, primarily
in connected cars, “smart homes” and
consumer electronics.
According to Cisco, in 2015 M2M modules
accounted for more than 9% of connections
in Russia, while one average M2M module
generated 127 MB of mobile traffic
per month. At the end of 2015, M2M
connections accounted for about 1% of the
total mobile data traffic.
Another key VAS area is digital media
content, which comprises information
and entertainment (e.g. game and video)
content and mobile TV. According to
Ericsson ConsumerLab, Ericsson’s research
arm, in 2015 half of Russian internet
users watched TV and video on their
smartphones, which is almost 4 times
more than in 2013. The Russian mobile TV
market was driven by growing penetration
of mobile gadgets, lower-priced mobile
internet services and enhanced quality of
3G/4G infrastructure.

VAS MARKET IN RUSSIA 4
(RUB bn)

133.0

2013

123.9

127.7

2014

2015

1 According to J’son & Partners Consulting.
2 Based on data provided by Consumer Barometer, Google/Ipsos.
3 Roskomnadzor’s method of calculating the number of base stations differs from the one used by MegaFon.
4 Сompany’s estimate based on data provided by AC&M Consulting.
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To develop mobile TV, which is gaining
in popularity, in 2015 MegaFon updated
its MegaFon TV service. Along with an
expanded content base, the Company
started offering movies, TV series and
programmes in its ‘Vse vklyucheno’
(‘Everything included’) bundled tariffs.
A user of the MegaFon TV service may
watch TV on up to five devices using one
account (for more information see page 35).
In 2015 the Big Data segment (Big Data
collection, storage and processing
technologies) experienced rapid growth.
These technologies enable the analysis
of customer preferences or marketing
campaign performance, as well as risk
assessment. For instance, Big Data is
widely used in the telecommunications,
trade and financial sectors, and in public
administration. It is currently one of the
fastest-growing IT markets. Frost &
Sullivan analysts project that in 2015 the
global market for Big Data technologies
grew 32% year-on-year, or by US$ 21bn.
Russia currently accounts for less than 1%
of this market.
A number of Russian operators and IT
companies are now engaged in developing
the Big Data segment. MegaFon’s strategy
has been, and continues to be, to develop
its Big Data services as a value-added
service and an efficient tool to drive
performance for corporate and government
customers (for more information see
page 37).
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FIXED-LINE BUSINESS
ВIn 2015, revenues continued to decline
across all segments of fixed services, due
to traffic migration to mobile networks
and OTT services. TMT Consulting
estimates that, in the past year, 1.8 million
subscribers stopped using telephony
services. The decline in revenue in this
segment is estimated at 8.1% (the same as
in 2014). Nevertheless, according to TMT
Consulting, this business will still be viable
in the coming years, though its penetration
rate will drop to 34% by 2020 from the
current 45%.
In 2015, shrinking fixed-line services resulted,
in particular, in the reduction of revenue from
services to corporate customers. Specifically,
iKS-Consulting analysts estimate that
revenue from business communications in
2015 fell 1.5%–2% to RUB 148bn, whereas in
2014 it had grown 1.5%. Revenue from fixed
telephony fell by about 5% (7%–8% for intercity and international long-distance calls).
This decline was partly offset by the growing
revenue from data services (up by about 4%).
Meanwhile, a current prominent trend is for
operators to offer a range of options enabling
corporate customers to optimise their mobile
and fixed costs, including bundled offers
combining these options.
MegaFon is actively promoting fixed
communication services for corporate
and government customers, offering a
comprehensive range of services and options.

B2B/B2G MARKET SIZE (RUB bn)
+ PENETRATION (%)1

FIXED-LINE MARKET1
(RUB bn)

68%

547.2

545.7

2013

2014
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554.4
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55.3

2013

70%
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As a result of these efforts, in 2015,
MegaFon grew its fixed-line revenue by
5.6% year-on-year.

Broadband internet access

According to TMT Consulting, in 2015, the
number of broadband subscribers (B2C
customers) in Russia grew by 3.6% year-onyear to 29.9 million. Household penetration
of broadband was 54% (up 2 p.p.). In 2015,
the top five internet providers accounted for
67% of the B2C broadband subscriber base
in Russia. Internet providers’ revenues grew
3.2% year-on-year to RUB 121.1bn.
The B2C subscriber base in Moscow comprised
4.2 million customers, while the broadband
penetration rate increased by 2 p.p. year-onyear to 90%1. In 2015, the top five internet
providers accounted for 90% of the B2C
broadband subscriber base in Moscow.
The Russian fixed-line broadband market
has reached saturation. The market growth
rate keeps falling, and in the short term is not
expected to exceed 1%–2%2. This slowdown
is largely due to market saturation in large
and medium-sized cities; spread of wireless
technologies (primarily LTE); slowdown in
network construction by Russia’s largest
operators due to the Russian rouble
depreciation and the resulting higher costs
of infrastructure equipment; and increasing
price competition. With opportunities for
organic growth nearly exhausted and the
positions of some local players weakened,
the market may see a rise in M&A activities
and further consolidation in the industry.

B2C MARKET SIZE (RUB bn)
+ PENETRATION (%)1

70%
47.0%

60.1

59.8

2014

2015

110.5

2013

51.7%

54.0%

117.3

121.1

2014

2015

1 TMT Consulting.
2 Forecasts by J’son & Partners Consulting.
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Industry Overview and the Company’s
Market Position (continued)

Pay-TV

According to iKS-Consulting, in 2015,
the Pay-TV market grew by 11.7% to
RUB 68.4bn. The number of households
subscribed to Pay-TV services increased
by 5.4%, reaching 39.2 million, while the
number of digital TV subscribers grew by
7.9% to 23.9 million. Pay-TV penetration
rate is nearly 70%.
One of the key trends in recent years has
been the dynamic growth of the digital TV
segment with a simultaneous decline in
analogue connections. At the end of 2015,
about 61% of the total Pay-TV subscriber
base used digital TV services. Demand
for digital TV services is driven by the
development of new technologies (IPTV,
OTT), falling prices of digital TV equipment
(offered by many operators for a small
lease fee or free of charge), along with the
universal availability of satellite TV.
The Russian Pay-TV market is controlled by
five largest players whose combined share
of the market is 72% by subscribers, and
64% by revenue1.

EQUIPMENT SALES
The increasing affordability of mobile
services, the need for “heavy” content
(video and music), and the expansion of
data transmission continued to stimulate
demand for data-enabled sophisticated,
high-performance devices in 2015.

Smartphones

In 2015, for the first time in several years,
smartphone sales fell in unit terms as a
result of reduced personal incomes caused
by the generally unfavourable economic
situation. At the same time, the sales
volume in roubles increased. According
to Evroset’s preliminary estimates, in
2015, smartphone sales in Russia declined
by 8.4% year-on-year in unit terms to
25.5 million units. However, in monetary
terms, the smartpnone market size was
approximately RUB 258bn, up 5% year-onyear. The discrepancy was largely due to
higher per unit prices in 2015: the average
smartphone price was RUB 10,100 against
RUB 8,800 a year earlier.

According to Svyaznoy, the increase in
prices moved many data-enabled devices
into higher price categories. In 2015, sales in
the cheapest smartphone segment (under
RUB 3,000) dropped on average by 25%
year-on-year, while sales of expensive units
(over RUB 30,000) increased manyfold.
Meanwhile, LTE smarphones performed
much better that the market in general. The
share of LTE smartphones exceeded 20% of
total smartphone sales in unit terms.

Tablets

According to J'son & Partners Consulting,
6.2 million tablet PCs were sold in Russia
in 2015, a decline of 33% year-on-year.
This trend is not limited to Russia: global
sales of tablet PCs also fell by 10% in unit
terms. However, the global sales have
not plummeted as dramatically as sales
in the Russian market. The main reasons
for shrinking sales in Russia were the
unfavourable economic environment and
an oversupply of inventory.
Along with sales declines in unit terms,
the average device price fell as well: from
RUB 8,600 in 2014 to RUB 8,400 in 2015.
This was due to the rouble depreciation
and wider penetration of cheaper devices
(B and C brands), along with a reduction in
the number of producers offering premium
tablets in the market.

Phablets

The main trend in 2015 was the growth
of sales of phablets (smartphones with
screens of five inches or more), which
for the first time overtook the sales of
tablet PCs. Phablets appeal to consumers
because they offer a potential for cost
optimisation as users buy “two-in-one”
devices rather than smartphones and
tablet PCs separately. Phablet sales also
grow as multimedia mobile content gains
popularity and 4G technologies spread and
get cheaper.
According to Evroset, in 2015, 7.5 million
phablets were sold in the Russian market
(as compared to 4.8 million in 2014), and
revenue from phablet sales grew by 63%
y-o-y to RUB 101bn.

Retailers note that phablets have become
more popular because they can be placed
in the medium and low price segments: this
kind of device can now be purchased for
under RUB 5,000. At the same time, while
the average smartphone price grew by
10%–11% y-o-y in 2015, the average phablet
price remained flat throughout the year at
around RUB 12,800 2.

Modems and routers

Sales of modems and routers in
Russia have been declining every year.
Smartphones and tablets are becoming
devices of choice for internet access
because they are small, do not need
additional equipment to provide a fully
operational internet connection, and can
themselves serve as access points. Falling
sales of USB modems are also due to the
shrinking laptop market 2.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS
The market and operating environment
are continually impacted by regulatory
developments.

Personal data on the internet

In 2015, significant changes in the field of
processing internet users’ personal data
were made. In particular, from 1 September
2015, Russian citizens’ personal data must
be recorded, systematised, accumulated,
stored, clarified and retrieved through
databases located within the territory
of Russia. Further amendments to the
regulation of internet users’ personal
data processing are expected to be
introduced in the future. Specifically, in
accordance with the list of instructions
issued by the Russian President following
the meeting with participants of the First
Russian Internet Economy Forum that
took place on 22 December 2015, federal
executive authorities are to present their
legislative proposals on the regulation of
the processing on the internet of personal
data of Russian citizens. MegaFon expects
that it will be able to comply with the new
requirements; however, this compliance may
entail additional costs for the Company.

As reported by the Svyaznoy retail chain,
all in all, the share of smartphones in total
mobile handset sales in 2015 was about
70% in unit terms and close to 95% in
money terms.

1 iKS-Consulting.
2 Svyaznoy retail chain.
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B2G communications services
for federal-level authorities

In November 2014, the Government
of the Russian Federation amended
the procedure for setting up data
communications networks for federal
government bodies. Instead of using
a tender process, federal bodies may
now connect to the Government’s data
communications network administered by
one of the communications operators.
In 2015, the Russian Ministry of Telecom
and Mass Communications issued a
decree to support the implementation
of this initiative, and guidelines were
developed for the design of data
communications networks of federal
government bodies. The implementation
of this regulatory initiative could result in
MegaFon losing B2G market share in the
provision of data transfer and telematics
services to federal government bodies.
However, during public procurement
tenders in 2015, MegaFon retained all of
its key government clients.

Corporate
Governance

Inter-operator cooperation

During 2015, the Government
Communications Commission considered
amendments to existing regulations
regarding inter-operator cooperation.
In January 2015, a decision was taken
to gradually amend these regulations.
The decision was made at a meeting of
the Analytical Centre at the Government
of the Russian Federation attended
by representatives of the Presidential
Administration, heads of federal executive
bodies, and top managers of fixed and
mobile operators. The first phase of this
development initiative involves measures
to determine a single rate for calls
within individual regions of the Russian
Federation. It also involves simplifying the
requirements concerning traffic transfer at
relevant connection levels.
At the second stage, in around two years’
time, authorities are expected to consider
possible methods of regulating interoperator cooperation among fixed operators

KEY COMPETITORS
MegaFon’s key competitors include:
●● MTS: founded in 1993, the largest
wireless telecoms operator in Russia;
●● VimpelCom: founded in 1992, the third
largest wireless telecoms operator in
Russia;
●● Rostelecom and Tele2 Russia: in
2014, Rostelecom, the state-controlled
telecoms company which provides mainly
fixed-line services, completed a deal to
create a joint venture with Tele2 Russia,
a private company operating in Russia
since 2003. As a result, the fourth-largest
federal mobile market player operating
under the brand name Tele2 was created.
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and mobile operators, taking into account
the technological, financial and socioeconomic implications of such changes.
On top of that, in December 2015, the
Government revisited the issue of regulating
call termination rates set by mobile and fixed
operators. Various regulation scenarios have
been examined to assess their potential
impacts on the Russian communications
industry, along with international experience
of regulating inter-operator cooperation.
The implementation of the Government’s
initiatives may lead to lower call rates and
reduced telecoms services costs.
We are also aware of a number of other
regulatory changes concerning our industry
that need to be monitored and for which we
should be prepared.
Further information about the way
the Company addresses these
challenges is available in the “Risk
Management” section on pages 56–69.

MARKET SHARE BY SUBSCRIBERS IN RUSSIA1 (%)

16.2%

15.9%
29.0%

23.8%

29.7%

2014

23.7%

2015

31.0%

MegaFon

30.7%

MTS

VimpelCom

Others

KEY RUSSIAN PLAYERS BY MOBILE REVENUE1 (%)
12.6%

11.7%
29.9%

29.8%
24.9%

2014

25.0%

32.7%

1 Company’s estimate based on data provided by AC&M
Consulting
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33.4%
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+6.4%
growth in
subscriber base

share of mobile data
users in the total subs
base

+15.2%

7.85m

increase in the number
of 3G and 4G base
stations

28

39%

MEGAFON

4G-enabled devices
registered on MegaFon
network
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The year 2015 was a year of
strong growth in the base of
our subscribers to which we
offer a wide range of traditional
and innovative services
and products, high-quality
communications and service

Active
www.megafon.com
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Review of Operations
SERVICES AND PRODUCTS
Mobile voice

One of our core
commitments is to offer
a wide range of high-quality,
convenient services at
affordable prices.
IVAN TAVRIN
Chief Executive Officer

In 2015, the majority of MegaFon’s product
initiatives in mobile voice services focused
on growing the volumes of voice traffic
within MegaFon’s own network (on-net
voice traffic) and increasing the proportion
of subscribers using our ‘Vse vklyucheno’
(‘Everything included’) bundled tariffs.

DSU1, (MB per month) 2

3,286

1,556

2014

2015

1

DSU (monthly average data services usage per user) is
calculated by dividing the total number of megabytes
transferred by our network during a given period by
the average number of data services users during
such period and dividing the result by the number of
months in such period.

2

Some of the operating KPIs presented here vary
from those reported earlier due to the change in
methodology for data service users calculation.
Data service user is defined as a subscriber who has
consumed any amount of data traffic within preceding
month.
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To increase on-net traffic consumption in
July 2015 we refined our ‘Perekhodi na 0’
(‘Switch to Zero’) tariff, introducing free
on-net calls within the region in which
the subscriber resided. Our marketing
initiatives in the voice segment were
mostly focused on promoting this tariff
plan.
To increase the proportion of subscribers
using bundled tariffs we actively promoted
our bundled tariff line ‘Vse vklyucheno’,
which represents a package of voice
minutes, messages and mobile data
traffic to stimulate take-up of these tariff
packages.

2,614

2013

The traditional voice services have
remained the largest segment of our
business; however the share of voice
revenue in total revenue has been declining
every year due to growing mobile data
usage and the increasing popularity of OTT
content. Despite the decline in revenue,
mobile voice communications remain an
in-demand service and a part of everyday
life in modern Russia. As such, we are
committed to the ongoing development of
this segment. Furthermore, the potential
for achieving high levels of gross margin
remains strong for voice services.

The marketing campaigns with special
price offers for ‘Vse vklyucheno S’ for RUB
190/month held in March 2015 and for ‘Vse
vklyucheno M’ for RUB 290/month held in
November–December 2015 enabled us to
double the share of customers using the
‘Vse vklyucheno’ bundled tariffs. In March
2016, we transformed our bundled tariffs
and tailored them to meet the specific
needs of each individual branch according
to the local consumption patterns for each
service type.
In 2015, our ‘Perekhodi na 0’ tariff and the
bundled tariff line ‘Vse vklyucheno’ were
the most popular among our subscribers,
accounting for 40% and 31% of new
subscriptions, respectively.

The deployment of VoLTE (Voice over LTE/
Long Term Evolution) technology, a voice
service based on the 4G mobile wireless
communications standard, to be launched
in the nearest future, will become an
important milestone in the development
of both voice and LTE services. VoLTE’s
key benefits include faster call setup times
(less than a second), high quality of voice
communications creating the effect of
presence, and an option to shift part of the
voice traffic onto the LTE network, reducing
the load on our 2G and 3G networks. As
of 31 August 2015, trial VoLTE calls were
available on our 4G network in MegaFon’s
Stolichny Branch (Moscow and Moscow
region). VoLTE will be commercially
launched as soon as all necessary approvals
are obtained from the industry regulator.

Mobile data

Mobile data remains the key growth driver
for our business. In 2015, we focused on
developing our 4G and 3G networks by
expanding the coverage and improving the
quality of communications, stimulating
higher mobile data usage through special
price offers, new offers, and upgrades of our
tariffs and internet options, and promoting
data-enabled devices in our controlled
retail channels.
In 2015, we upgraded our ‘Vse vklyucheno’
(‘Everything included’) packages and
internet options, significantly increasing
the amounts of available data traffic
without increasing the price. Specifically,
we doubled the amount of traffic available
under the ‘M’ and ‘L’ internet options,
increasing the amount of traffic available
during the day to the amount available at
night-time.
We also introduced two new internet
options for tablet users — ‘Internet
Planshet XS’ (‘Internet Tablet XS’) and
‘Internet Planshet S’ (‘Internet Tablet S’),
available throughout Russia. The ‘Internet
Planshet XS’ option was launched for
tablet owners who mostly use Wi-Fi
networks and rarely use mobile data. As
part of the offering, customers subscribing
to the option get free 600 MB of traffic per
month (20 MB per day) and if they need
more traffic on certain days, they can
activate an extra mobile data allowance
option for an extra charge. At the end of
2015, 75,000 customers were using the
option. The ‘Internet Planshet S’ option
was launched to target more active tablet
users, who get a certain mobile date
amount for a monthly subscription fee.
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In September 2015, we ran a marketing
promotion to boost 4G internet consumption,
under which subscribers for the ‘Internet
S-XL’ line were given an extra 4G data
allowance good through the end of the year,
which was equal to the data allowance
already available under their existing plan.
In November 2015, we offered our customers
a completely unique product – a driver’s
tablet, which is a plug-and-play complete
packaged solution. The package includes
a tablet, tablet car charger, in-car tablet
holder, and pre-activated ‘Internet S’ option.
The package was priced at RUB 2,490. This
was the first solution of its kind offered
in the Russian market. The pre-activated
internet option enables our customers to
use the device not just to navigate the car,
but also to read news online or use social
media without leaving their car.
By the end of 2015, MegaFon’s data service
user base increased 6.8% to 29.9 million
people. At the same time, the number of
data service users in Russia grew by 6.9%
to 29.3 million, accounting for 39.2% of
our overall subscriber base in the country.
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This growth was driven by our marketing
efforts, continued development of our
3G and 4G networks, higher penetration
rates for data-enabled mobile devices,
and promotions in our controlled retail
channels. At the end of 2015, the share
of data-enabled devices on the MegaFon
network increased to 53%.
In 2015, as mobile data usage grew, DSU
(monthly average data services usage
per user) in Russia increased by 25.7%
year-on-year to 3,286 MB per month. Our
ARPDU (average monthly revenue per
data services user) increased by 10.4%
year-on-year to RUB 233. Overall, in 2015,
our revenue from mobile data services was
RUB 79.9bn (or 25.5% of total revenue), up
19.0% from 2014.
In 2015, the increase in the volume of
traffic was driven mostly by traffic in our
4G network, which grew 45% year-on-year,
accounting for approx. 40% of the total
traffic. As of 31 December 2015, 7.85 million
4G-enabled devices were registered on the
MegaFon network, up 34% compared to 2014.
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With the active development of 4G networks,
subscribers are becoming more demanding of
the quality of data transmission services they
get. As services such as audio streaming,
HD video, online games, and social media
are gaining in popularity, and consequently
boost the volumes of traffic flows, customers
increasingly seek consistently high-speed
data services and fast response times.
Therefore, ensuring adequate network
capacity is on top of the current agenda for
operators.
To address this need Megafon
commercially launched the 4G/LTEAdvanced standard in 2014. It is currently
the most advanced standard in mobile
data services, enabling subscribers to use
video chats with no video or sound latency,
watch TV programmes or HD movies online,
and download large image galleries or
archived files virtually wherever they are.
At the end of 2015, LTE-Advanced services
were available in nine major Russian cities
at speeds of 150 Mbit/s–450 Mbit/s.

MEGAFON 4G NETWORK ROLL-OUT MAP

In 2015, MegaFon continued to roll out its LTE-Advanced
network based on the existing 4G base station infrastructure.
At the end of 2015, LTE-Advanced 4G high‑speed internet
services with the speeds of 150 Mbit/s‑450 Mbit/s were
available to subscribers in nine major Russian cities.

Saint Petersburg

MegaFon 4G/LTE services
availability
MegaFon LTE-Advanced
services availability

Moscow

Cities with a population
more than 1 million

Nizhny Novgorod
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Volgograd
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Review of Operations (continued)

Mobile devices

The sale of our branded (customised)
affordable data-enabled devices is one
of the key elements of our marketing
efforts to promote higher data usage
among customers. MegaFon sells the
following types of branded mobile devices:
smartphones, tablets, WiFi routers
and modems. In 2015, the Company’s
portfolio comprised over 30 models of
MegaFon-branded devices, including seven
smartphone models and one tablet model.
In 2015, to stimulate sales of branded
devices we ran several marketing
promotions offering MegaFon Login
smartphones and big-screen MegaFon
Login phablets at MegaFon Retail stores
specially priced for customers subscribing
to MegaFon’s internet option or tariff plans.
We also promoted our branded routers, in
particular MegaFon MR300 router, which
was offered at a reduced price.

MEGAFON BRANDED DEVICES SOLD1
0.5%
5%

0.2%
8%

19%

2014

28%

57%

9%
55%

Feature phones

Tablets

Smartphones

Modems

B2X telecommunication services

+30.9%

B2B/B2G
mobile data revenue
growth

Across our B2X portfolio, which combines
the B2B, B2G and B2O segments, we
provide a full range of telecoms services,
with a focus on connecting employees, and
monitoring and managing corporate SIM
cards and devices. MegaFon’s sustained
growth in the corporate segment is driven
by our commitment to deliver high reliability
and assured quality of service, flexible
tariffs, and multifunctional solutions
tailored precisely to customer requirements.
In 2015, the number of MegaFon’s B2G and
В2B customers grew 5% year-on-year to 286
thousand legal entities. In the B2B and B2G
segments, we managed to acquire several
large corporate and government customers,
some of whom became our clients as a result
of the implementation of the MNP (mobile
number portability) process.
In 2015, we delivered strong performance in
the B2B and B2G segments, growing total
revenue by 8.2% year-on-year, mobile voice
revenue by 6.6% year-on-year, and mobile
data revenue by 30.9% year-on-year.

1
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Sales of own-branded devices via controlled retail
channels, including MegaFon Retail, Euroset and
franchised stores.

MEGAFON

2015

19%

During 2015, we enhanced our customer
offering by launching a number of new
products and services. In particular, in June
2015, we commercially launched our Wi-Fi
with Authorisation service at the federal
level. The service will enable MegaFon’s
partners to offer Wi-Fi access to
customers, e.g. visitors in a café or a store,
as well their employees. Customers will be
provided with user authorisation service to
access the internet, in full compliance with
the statutory requirement for mandatory

Routers

identification of users accessing public WiFi
hotspots. Several major corporate clients
and the Constitutional Court of the Russian
Federation have already signed up to the
service since its launch.
In 2015, to keep up with the current trend
of document management automation,
MegaFon launched its Electronic
Document Flow service. Businesses can
use this service to deploy e-invoicing and
e-signature solutions enabling e-document
exchange with other businesses using the
service. Corporate users of the service
also benefit from instant access to
communications service invoices and bills.
The Electronic Document Flow service
enables our customers to streamline
administrative processes and achieve
significant cost savings.
In June 2015, we launched a unique service
for secure encryption of data transmitted
over VPN networks. The service enables
full protection of data transmitted over
fixed lines against external intrusion or
theft. To deploy this solution an existing
VPN network is equipped with a special
tool which encrypts all data flows that
pass through it. The cryptographic service
is provided in full compliance with the
applicable Russian national standard,
GOST 28147–89, and meets regulatory
requirements, including those by the
Federal Security Service of the Russian
Federation (FSB). We expect that the
bulk of the demand for this service will
come from government agencies, financial
organisations, security services, and entities
focused on personal data processing.
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In 2015, we also further refined our Online
Conferences, Virtual Office and Employee
Monitoring services (for more information
see page 38).
We maintained our focus on developing
our M2M Monitoring (machine-to-machine)
service, which enables our clients to control
and monitor the movements, location and
condition of devices and equipment via a
SIM card transmitting mobile data. Over
2015, the M2M Monitoring solution was
deployed across all of MegaFon’s branches;
its performance was enhanced; and the
service was integrated with other MegaFon’s
platforms, enabling integration with IT
systems of our corporate clients via API. At
the end of 2015, the total number of users
of this M2M service (SIM cards) exceeded
1.6 million (for more information see page 36).
We continued developing our content
delivery network (CDN), offering our
customers customised CDN solutions to
meet their diverse content-related needs:
assured delivery of content to remote
areas, streamlining video files during
online broadcasts, ensuring accessibility
during peak hours, providing high-speed
transmission, etc. Our clients in this area
include Russia’s leading content providers,
software suppliers, online movie portals,
TV channels, online stores, and game
developers. In 2015, we added Russia’s
largest TV channel, Channel One, to our
list of clients. During 2015, we completed
modernisation of our CDN network and
increased its capacity by over 40%.
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In the B2O segment, the DREAM project
remains our top priority. The project aims
to optimise and enhance connectivity
between Europe and Asia. By the end
of 2015, we had ten leading global and
Russian operators connected to the
DREAM backbone line, including China
Telecom and China Unicom, and Europe’s
Deutsche Telekom and Interoute.
During 2015, as part of the project, we
made upgrades to some sections of
the backbone line, improving DREAM’s
performance on several measures. In
particular, we successfully reduced the
stated signal latency on Frankfurt to
Hong Kong route (measured by RTD)
from 175 ms to 169 ms – an industryleading performance level. We also built
an alternative gateway to Kazakhstan,
which enabled us to expand our partner
network in this country, and as a result, set
up Europe–to–Asia links with geographic
redundancy across Kazakhstan.
The backbone line’s total capacity
currently in use (including for MegaFon’s
infrastructure needs) is 1 Tbit/s. According
to TMT Consulting, our DREAM project has
an approximately 8% share of the Europe–
to–China landline links market.

Financial
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Another key project in MegaFon’s interoperator business was the construction,
in conjunction with Georgian operator
SilkNet, of the first overland crossborder backbone passage linking the
two countries, along the Verkhniy-Lars–
Kazbegi route. The new backbone line is
offering initial capacity of 100 Gbit/s. The
project enables MegaFon to offer telecoms
operators in the Transcaucas region and
South-West Asia access to both Russian
and European internet exchange points.
The project was commercially launched
in early 2015. Currently, we provide IP
transmission and leased line services to
several local operators.
During the year, we signed contracts with
several major corporate and government
customers, including Novolipetsk Steel,
Rosselkhozbank, VTB 24, PJSC Enel
Russia, DIXY retail chain, OJSC PhosAgro,
JSC Mercedes-Benz RUS, Boehringer
Ingelheim, LLC Siberian Generating
Company, the Ministry of the Internal Affairs
of the Russian Federation, the Federal
Guard Service (FSO), GAS Pravosudie, and
LLC RT-Invest Transport Systems. And, as
noted above, we provided communications
support to a number of high-profile events,
most notably the summit meetings of the
SCO and “BRICS” groups, as well as the
2018 FIFA World Cup draw.

DREAM ROUTE

Key
DREAM route
MegaFon Backbone
Cross-border links

Saint Petersburg
Nizhny Novgorod

Moscow
Tula
Orel
Bratislava
Vienna

Samara

Voronezh
//

Frankfurtam-Main

Belgorod /
/

Saratov

Uralsk

Rostov-On-Don
Almaty
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//

Khorgos
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Fixed-line communications
for the mass market

In addition to high-quality mobile services,
MegaFon also offers a range of fixedline broadband, Pay-TV and telephony
services. The Company provides its
fixed-line services through NetByNet
Holding LLC (which operates under the
NETBYNET brand), our wholly-owned
subsidiary acquired in 2011. NETBYNET
provide services to individual and corporate
customers in seven Russian federal
districts: the Central, Northwestern, North
Caucasian, Southern, Volga, Ural, and Far
Eastern Federal Districts.
Asset acquisitions enabling the Company
to enhance its presence in the key markets
and enter new territories are an important
component of NETBYNET’s development
strategy. Since 2011, the operator has
acquired and integrated over 15 companies
across Russia, significantly increasing its
coverage. Rather than investing in blanket
expansion of its network, the Company
makes selective upgrades where they are
necessary and economically viable.
In January 2016, NETBYNET completed
another acquisition. The company acquired
CJSC Startel and fixed assets of CJSC
Startelecom-Centre. These businesses
provide fixed-line services to corporate
customers in the Moscow region and Tver.
The acquisition of two operators with
a stable customer base and attractive
resource sharing potential provides a
platform to consolidate NETBYNET
position in the corporate market in 2016.
During 2015, NETBYNET also focused on
improving service to existing customers
and development of additional services.
NETBYNET was the first fixed operator
to launch customer support via popular
messenger Viber and WhatsApp. Marketing
efforts included offer customers a new
bonus programme and focussing on
increasing bundled sales.
In 2015, we further developed our WiFire
product. In January 2015, WiFire Mobile,
based on MegaFon’s infrastructure,
was launched, offering unlimited mobile
Internet in Moscow and the Moscow region.
It became the third service in the WiFire
package, complementing the previously
launched WiFire TV (wireless digital TV)
and WiFire Home (residential broadband).
Our efforts to further develop the wireless
digital television WiFire TV service,
launched by NETBYNET in 2014, included
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the roll-out of the service across the
network’s entire coverage area, enabling
access to the WiFire TV app on Samsung
and LG Smart TV television sets, having
the Wifire TV solution pre-deployed on
Philips Android TV television sets, and the
establishment of content partnerships with
Disney and MEGOGO.

During 2015, despite the volatility in
currency exchange rates we adjusted our
international roaming rates just once – in
February. Despite the currency exchange
challenges, MegaFon has retained its
leadership as the operator offering the
most attractive international roaming
deals.

Due to our organic growth, asset
integration and acquisitions, MegaFon’s
fixed-line subscriber base exceeded 944
thousand retail customers at the end of
2015, while the total number of Pay-TV B2C
users increased by 45% to 226 thousand
as a result of the stepwise development of
WiFire TV.

4G roaming services

Plans for 2016 include enhancing
NETBYNET’s presence in Russian regions,
active promotion of the WiFire product,
expansion of the Wifire TV service, and
growing the share of the corporate
segment in total revenue.

With this growth, we have consolidated
our position as one of the world’s leading
telecom operators in terms of LTE-roaming
coverage. In many countries of the world,
we offer access to LTE networks via
multiple roaming partners, which ensures
better coverage and connectivity.

Roaming services

MegaFon’s roaming services are available
across Russia and in 224 countries
worldwide.
In 2015, we continued offering our
customers new or improved roaming
services. In particular, we launched our
‘Bood kak doma’ (‘Feel at Home’) tariff
option, a unique offer that helps slash
mobile costs when travelling in Russia.
Customers subscribing to the option get
the same rates for all calls, text messages,
and mobile data services when travelling
through Russia as they are charged in their
region of residence.
During the year, we also launched a
new, smart notification system. All our
customers travelling beyond their region of
residence now receive smart international
and domestic roaming offers based on
a customer’s profile. In 2016, we plan to
develop a notification system which will
help predict customer behaviour and target
our subscribers with attractive, more
personalised deals.

MegaFon’s international LTE roaming
services were first launched in January
2014, and in two years we have grown the
number of countries where MegaFon’s
LTE roaming services are available to 66,
with roaming agreements in place with
79 operators.

Our 4G roaming service is definitely in
demand among our customers, as they
need the same fast mobile data services
when travelling outside their region
of residence as they enjoy at home.
Accordingly, we intend to maintain our
focus on growing the list of our LTE
roaming partners. Countries with access
to 4G account for around 71% of the traffic
consumed by our customers roaming
internationally.

79

operators provide
4G roaming services
to MegaFon

In 2015, popular roaming products
included the ‘Ves mir’ (‘Around the World’)
tariff option, offering 30 free incoming
minutes per day anywhere in the world,
the ‘Internet za granitsey’ (‘Internet
abroad’) tariff option, which in addition to
an attractive mobile data deal provided
genuine transparency in mobile costs, and
the ‘Bood’ kak doma’ (‘Feel at Home’) tariff
option, mentioned above.
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INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS AND VALUE ADDED SERVICES (VAS)
We are committed to the development of new products and continued
enhancement of existing products, translating innovations and new
technologies into convenient, useful services, and thus creating added
value for both consumers and our business partners.
Our current offering includes a wide range of innovative products and value
added services (VAS), specifically in M2M services, cloud solutions, mobile
advertising, TV and other segments.
In 2015, MegaFon focused on developing
and launching new services across several
areas: video services, financial services,
cloud solutions, convergent services,
mobile advertising, M2M, and Big Data.
We aim to keep our focus on a limited
portfolio of selected product initiatives,
because this allows us to develop highquality, well-designed products which
consumers will embrace enthusiastically,
which in turn helps us maintain MegaFon’s
profile as a technology leader and lays a
solid foundation for creating new revenue
streams.
MegaLabs, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
spearheads the development of most of
MegaFon’s new products and services.
Today, MegaLabs employs 160 technical
experts and professionals working in
project management, product marketing,
application and system development,
customer research and industry
collaboration.

www.megafon.com

Video services

2015 marked a milestone in the
development of our MegaFon TV product.
During the year we implemented a new
growth strategy for this service aimed at
attracting new subscribers and reinforcing
the loyalty of existing subscribers, as
well as capturing revenue in the rapidly
developing ОТТ services market.
In May 2015, MegaFon TV launched a new
content offer for subscribers to the ‘Vse
vklyucheno’ line of tariff plans and options:
50 TV channels and up to four movies per
month at no extra charge.

330,000
active users of
MegaFon TV

Today, the size of the Russian market for
legal paid content is estimated at RUB
25bn (according to a study by Ernst &
Young); however, in 2015, the combined
earnings of all players in this market were
under RUB 7bn. This was mostly due to
the spread of online piracy, low awareness
among customers of the benefits of using
legitimate services, conservatism on the
part of content owners, and high rates
charged for content.
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Subscribers pay for content using their
current accounts opened with the operator.

>1.6m

M2M SIM cards
at the end of 2015

MegaFon believes that, by providing its
subscribers with attractive tariff plans and
options providing access to movies and TV
content, it can remove the obstacles to
consumption of legal paid content by users
and open up new opportunities for rights
holders to monetise their content.
We ran an advertising campaign in December
2015 and January 2016, at the end of which
approx. 400,000 subscribers had signed up to
the MegaFon TV service, with 70% of them
taking advantage of our special offer. By the
end of January 2016, the number of active
users from among our subscribers reached
330,000 (as compared to 30,000 active
users at the end of 2014). In January 2016,
the number of subscribers actively buying
extra content via the MegaFon TV service
reached 45,000. The growth of the user base
was clearly driven by our subscribers to ‘Vse
vklyucheno’ tariff plans and Internet options.
According to a service user survey, 70% of
subscribers to ‘Vse vklyucheno’ tariff plans
and options are satisfied with the special
offer, including 61% of users who rated the
MegaFon TV service as “good” or “excellent”.
Today, the MegaFon TV service offers a
range of content unique in the market: over
130 TV channels including HD TV channels,
movies by Russian and foreign production
companies, childrens’ content, and a host
of TV series. The service can be accessed
on iOS and Android mobile devices, PCs,
Smart TV, and Samsung and LG TV sets.
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The Company’s plans to further develop
the MegaFon TV service include continued
expansion of the content library, extending
the range of devices that can be used to
access the service (including Apple TV,
Chromecast, and Android TV television sets
and set-top boxes), as well as providing
access to exclusive content.

M2M and geo-services

We offer both universal М2М products for
cross-industry applications and bespoke
solutions to meet very specific needs. To
bring innovative М2М solutions to market
we collaborate with software companies
whose technologies have been successfully
tried and tested in the IT market. Despite the
fact that MegaFon has started developing
M2M services quite recently, MegaFon had
more than 1.6 million M2M users (SIM cards)
as at the end of 2015. Our share of the М2М
services market accounted for almost one
quarter of the market, with the total market
size estimated at seven million users (at the
end of 2015).
MegaFon’s M2M Monitoring platform
targets large and medium-sized companies
with five and up to several thousand
employees and managing a pool of SIM
cards that require online real-time M2M
remote control and monitoring. M2M
Monitoring enables them to transmit data
between devices and gather information on
their location, network activity, and traffic
consumption. The platform can be adapted
to any industry and provides flexible
functionality and a user-friendly interface
to meet the SIM card management needs
of this business segment. During 2015,
this solution was deployed across all
MegaFon’s branches. In 2015, the M2M
Monitoring service was significantly
improved – its performance was enhanced;
and the service was integrated with other
MegaFon’s platforms, enabling integration
with IT systems of our corporate clients via
API. The enhancements gave the product
a number of unique features, providing an
edge over competition.

Our Employee Monitoring service was
further developed in 2015. The service
is mostly used by credit institutions,
production and service companies, and taxi
services. The solution enables customers
to easily pinpoint employees’ locations
through interactive maps in the service
interface. The Employee Monitoring service
provides an option of tracking employees’
movements, with movement reports sent
via email, including at preset time intervals.
The service also allows selection of areas
on a map (e.g. warehouses, offices, etc.) to
monitor when individual employees visit
these places. Customers can exchange text
messages with their employees via the
service interface. The service functionality
enables customers to improve HR
management and drive task performance.
As part of our efforts to further develop
the service, in 2015, we launched Tracker
mobile app for iOS devices, which improves
location accuracy for subscribers using the
Apple products.
Our Car Fleet Monitoring service enables
corporate clients to monitor and track
their vehicle fleets in real time. Through
a powerful combination of software
and hardware, installed in vehicles
and company control rooms, clients
can monitor mileage, idle time and fuel
consumption. Through this service our
customers can save up to 30% of their
costs due to reduced vehicle misuse.
Our Remote Device Management service
is based on wireless control of networked,
remotely located assets, e.g. payment
terminals, retail vending machines, security
and alarm systems, filling stations, and
gas, heat or electricity distribution grids.
The service permits the monitoring of the
operation of remote devices and rapid
detection of issues, collecting data from
hundreds of various devices in real time.
In 2015, our biggest project in the M2M
segment was the signing of a contract
with RT-Invest Transport Systems for
the supply of М2М solutions, which will
be used to pay road tolls collected for
road repairs on federal highways. Under
the contract, MegaFon will supply up to
two million SIM cards, which will be fitted
into in-vehicle devices for trucks.
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First

mobile operator in Russia
to offer a secure and
easy cloud solution

Our customer offering also includes
geolocation services such as Radar,
which is used by EMERCOM of Russia’s
Liza Alert search-and-rescue volunteer
group, which saves from danger more
than 200 people a year. The Radar
service enables subscribers to locate
other subscribers both on their own
and other networks. At the end of 2015,
the Radar service user base reached
800,000 subscribers.
The solution is capable of tracking the
geolocation of every member of a rescue
team, networking all users, and enabling
a team coordinator to give them more
clear instructions, which allows a
manifold increase in the efficiency of the
rescue effort. Radar can also be used in
personal life, e.g. parents can use the
service on their phones to track their
children in real time.

Big Data

Big Data technology provides advanced
analytics tools for processing vast
amounts of data to drive business
efficiencies, develop new products,
and improve overall competitive
edge. Extracting information from big
data sets delivers benefits that are
not available with more traditional
approaches to data analytics, e.g.,
through more accurate assessment
of a product’s potential, more efficient
CAPEX allocation, and providing a
fundamentally different customer
experience than that offered in
traditional industries, all by smart
solutions and services based on machine

www.megafon.com

learning technology. Our clients in this
business segment include Russia’s leading
banks, transport companies, and retail
chains.
Businesses, including banks, are
increasingly using MegaFon’s Big Data
geospatial analytics tool to drive their
decision-making. This service enables
clients to develop behavioural models
for large groups of people, and provides
an automated data processing solution
based on mobile technologies to generate
real-time analysis of data a client needs.
Insights from such accurate analytics help
businesses improve their understanding
of customer preferences, reduce operating
costs, and increase profit.
We also have strong relationships with
municipal authorities, including the
Moscow Government, which relies on
MegaFon’s geospatial analytics services
for effective transport planning and smart
planning of real-estate development
of new territories as part of the city
development programmes. We also use
Big Data solutions in upgrades of our own
network infrastructure, in launching new
points of sale, and generally in our costcutting efforts and analyses of investment
efficiency across areas of our business.
In 2015, we expanded our range of Big Data
analytics services, and introduced
a new functionality that offers the ability
to monitor passenger flow transport
mode. This new solution enables transport
companies to estimate the size and
structure of passenger transportation

markets for services both within and
between cities, across all transport modes
and without the need to install sensors
or any other additional meters. Offering
a level of detail down to a few minutes,
the service enables accurate estimates
of passenger flows across modes of
transport – from air to road (cars and
buses), and transfers between them.
The operator’s systems record load data
for base stations, which show changes
reflecting subscriber flows. Transport
companies can use insights from this data
to allocate the share and volume of traffic
to individual routes, estimate transfers
to other modes of transport and carriers,
identify weak spots in timetables, optimise
route network, and reallocate resources.
In 2015, the contribution of Big Data
services to MegaFon’s B2C revenue
accounted for 1.7%.

Cloud and IT solutions

With the launch of MegaDisk, MegaFon
became the first mobile operator in
Russia to offer a secure and easy cloud
solution providing unlimited data storage
and syncing on PC, Mac, Android and iOS
smartphones.
In 2014, this solution was deployed across
all MegaFon’s branches, and in December
2014, unlimited data storage became
available to all users of MegaDisk. In 2015,
we continued enhancing the MegaDisk
service. The service is free to all MegaFon
clients and enables users to combine
and access files across multiple internetconnected devices.

MEGAFON
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Financial services

10m

unique users of
MegaFon's mobile
payment solutions

Over 2015, the number of users of MegaDisk
service almost quadrupled compared to
2014, and exceeded 55,000 clients.
In 2015, we continued to develop userfriendly, convenient and flexible products
to enhance customer experience and
maximise customer satisfaction. At the
very start of 2015, our Online Conferences
service was made available to customers
across all branches of MegaFon, offering a
seamless experience of video conferencing
and webinars. The service rapidly gained
in popularity due to its user friendly and
intuitive interface, flexible pricing and the
ability to apply it without installment of any
additional software.
In September 2015, we launched a fully
updated version of our Virtual Office. This
cloud-based telephony system solution
for small and medium-sized companies
enables deployment of a corporate virtual
network in the office space in a few minutes,
call distribution to employees’ desktop
and mobile phones, integration with the
CRM system, call recording option, etc.
As companies seek cost optimisation
opportunities, MegaFon is focusing on the
phone functionality that can boost sales,
such as call history, data visualisation,
individual performance reports, integration
capability with any IT systems a client may
have, telephone event notification, etc.
As part of our B2B Online Cloud concept,
we seek to make MegaFon’s services even
more user-friendly. With this objective, in
late 2015, we launched a service enabling the
electronic completion of contracts for mobile
services. Customers can now prepare and
sign documents online, using an electronic
signature, a solution used by companies in
Russia to submit reports to the relevant
public authorities. We have already received
many positive responses from our customers,
and will continue developing the B2B Online
Cloud services in 2016.
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MegaFon’s mobile financial services and
products enable our subscribers to conduct
a wide range of personal banking and
accounting tasks through their mobile
phones and tablets.
Our financial services allow MegaFon’s
customers to use their mobile phone
accounts to make easy and secure
payments for goods and services in over
5,000 online shops. The list of participating
online retailers is constantly increasing,
with more and more customers benefiting
from moving their payments online,
including internet, utility, TV, and telephone
bills, traffic fines, bank loan repayments,
and money transfers, all directly from a
mobile phone account.
In 2015, we continued enhancing our
financial services offering, increasing the
number of unique users of our mobile
payment solutions to ten million, with
the average number of users of mobile
payment services reaching approximately
three million at the end of the year. In 2015,
the number of mobile payments made via
our financial solutions increased by almost
14% year-on-year.
In 2015, we implemented a number of
mobile commerce offerings, with the
expectation of realising significant benefits
early in 2016.
The launch of our Mobile Ticket service
marked a milestone in the development of
payment capabilities provided by a mobile
phone account. The product initiative
was implemented in conjunction with
the Moscow Government’s Transport
Department and the Moscow Metro.
Starting from September 2015, owners of
NFC-enabled (Near Field Communication)
smartphones and SIM cards can pay
their fare on any public transit system in
Moscow by simply tapping their device on
a ticket gate validator. The fare is charged
to the subscriber’s Mobile Ticket account
at the rate offered by Troika transport
e-cards (e-wallets). The Mobile Ticket
account is topped-up automatically from
the subscriber’s mobile phone account.
Over 7,000 people have already used the
service in the few months since its launch,
and their numbers are growing.
In 2015, we continued expanding our own
terminal payment network. This project
was scaled up to the federal level, with
the number of terminals increased to
1,732 units (twice as much as in 2014) and

payment volumes growing 93% yearon-year. Now that a payment terminal is
available in almost every one of MegaFon’s
own retail stores, we no longer need to
use third-party terminals, and can save
on payment processing fees and get the
extra benefit of using the terminals as
an additional tool to promote our own
services and products. In implementing
this project we mostly focus on expanding
the list of services customers can pay for
using our payment terminals. The technical
integration of the processing system and
the 1C system of MegaFon Retail enabled
us to launch a bank loan repayment
service. We have also made it possible for
subscribers pay for other popular services
such as payment of utility bills and traffic
fines, etc.

Mobile advertising

In 2015 MegaFon continued to develop its
Mobile Advertising and Mobile Notification
services. These services enable our
corporate clients to reach their target
audience of MegaFon subscribers quickly
and reliably to inform them about new
offers via SMS.
For our clients in the financial sector we
launched the Status option, a security
solution protecting subscribers against
fraud. This option provides an extra layer of
protection for remote banking, as well as
for any other service that uses customers’
mobile devices (email systems, social
media apps, e-wallets, etc.). The service
provides clients with information about
the current status of various customer
identifiers (SIM card change, registering on
the network, etc.).
In 2015, our total revenue from our Mobile
Advertising and Mobile Notification
services was over RUB 4bn.

Converged services

MegaFon’s converged services have also
gained in popularity in 2015, with the total
number of their users growing 20% yearon-year. Our convergent (FMC) services,
primarily focused on corporate clients,
are available in all regions of Russia and
provide solutions which facilitate the
management of voice calls, call forwarding,
and the use of other communications
technologies. These solutions include:
mobile call termination on fixed-line
networks or calls over IP connection, short
codes, hotlines, quick dial codes, ‘8-800’
free call numbers, MultiFon and Virtual
PBX services.
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INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT
Our strategy is focused on achieving the highest level of 4G services
penetration, improving our 4G/LTE network quality and coverage, and
continuing to upgrade our existing 3G network and improve backbone
infrastructure.

Our infrastructure development is
aimed at providing our customers
with fast and stable connections,
top quality communications and
high speed mobile internet so that
our subscribers can be closer to
each other despite the distance
separating them.
IVAN TAVRIN
Chief Executive Officer

In 2015, MegaFon continued
investing actively in its infrastructure
development. The Company is
currently one of the leaders among
Russian operators in terms of the
number of base stations and the
owner of one of the longest backbone
networks in Russia.
In October 2015 and February 2016,
the first auctions for LTE frequencies
in the 1,800 MHz, 2,570–2,595 MHz
and 2,595–2,620 MHz bands were
held in Russia. MegaFon participated
actively in these auctions and
acquired these frequencies in a total
of 40 Russian regions. Acquiring these
frequencies will enable the Company
to consolidate its competitive edge in
certain regions, improve the quality of
its services by increasing the network
capacity and data transfer speeds,
and roll out 4G/LTE networks at a
lower cost.

4G/LTE networks

MegaFon was the first among Russian
mobile operators to launch a 4G
network in Russia.
During 2015, we focused our efforts
to develop the Company’s 4G/LTE
networks in the following two areas:
coverage expansion through entry
into new regions, and LTE network
development and coverage quality
improvement in the regions where
MegaFon’s 4G services were already
available. As a result, by year-end, the
number of base stations grew 24%
year-on-year, exceeding 23,000 units.
In 2015, MegaFon extended its 4G
network coverage to an additional five
regions. At year-end, MegaFon’s 4G
services were available to 59%1 of the
Russian population (as compared to
51% in 2014) in 77 regions and in 14 out
of the 15 cities with a population of
more than one million.
4G/LTE networks in the regions
where the Company operates were
developed through expanding network
capacity and improving coverage
quality, including through improved
penetration into residential and office
buildings.

1

Adjusted data. Calculated based on the
national census conducted in October 2010.

MegaFon is the winner COMNEWS Awards 2015
In 2015, MegaFon was the winner of a ComNews Award as the rating leader
in the “Biggest Number of 4G and LTE-Advanced Base Stations” category.
ComNews Awards are presented annually based on analyses of quantitative
and other data intended to measure companies’ effectiveness in the use of
information and communications technologies. Last year, MegaFon won the
award for the largest number of 4G base stations.

www.megafon.com
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MEGAFON'S MOBILE NET AT A GLANCE

In 2015, MegaFon continued to roll out its LTEAdvanced network based on the existing 4G base
station infrastructure. At the end of 2015, LTEAdvanced 4G high-speed internet services with the
speeds of 150 Mbit/s–450 Mbit/s were available to
subscribers in nine major Russian cities.

113,230

MegaFon plans to continue the geographical
expansion of LTE, in particular by rolling out the
network in cooperation with other major players.
Specifically, in January 2016, MegaFon signed
an agreement with VimpelCom to implement
a large-scale joint project for the construction
and subsequent operation of LTE base stations
in ten Russian regions. MegaFon’s and Scartel’s
integrated network has the widest range of
frequencies in the 2,600 MHz band in the country,
and the implementation of a joint RAN-sharing
project with VimpelCom will allow us to enhance our
infrastructure in the 1,800 MHz band in the most
efficient way. With this project, we are going not only
to improve the existing network significantly, but also
to rapidly launch LTE in new locations in the selected
regions at minimum cost.

MegaFon's base
stations

+9.9%
y-o-y
growth

+5

regions
y-o-y

77

regions are
covered by 4G/LTE

3G networks

In 2015, MegaFon continued developing and modernizing
its 3G network as this mobile data transfer technology
remains the most popular among Russian users, even as
the number of LTE users grows steadily each year.
NUMBER OF MEGAFON’S BASE
STATIONS1 (units)
18,547

23,003

+24.0%

42,281

+10.8%

2G

+3.5%

4G

10,106
33,298

38,147

42,929

46,337

47,946

2013

2014

2015

3G

MEGAFON’S 4G/LTE NETWORK COVERAGE IN
RUSSIA (number of regions)
51%

59%

36%

77

72
49

2013

2014

The Company’s priority in 3G development in 2015
was to increase the network capacity and at the same
time to improve communications quality and mobile
internet speeds by adjusting the network’s functional
composition. At year-end, the number of 3G base stations
grew 11% year-on-year to more than 42,000 units. The
new base stations have brought the benefits of even
more stable connections across our coverage area and
acceptable data transfer speeds irrespective of the load
on the network.
Since the launch of its 3G network in 2008, MegaFon
remains the market leader in terms of the number
of 3G base stations and the network’s geographic
coverage. At the end of 2015, the Company’s 3G
services covered 83 Russian regions, reaching 89.45%
of the population.

2G networks

During 2015, MegaFon was addressing local tasks
to expand its 2G coverage, including in remote and
hard-to-reach areas, as well as to improve coverage
for corporate customers who signed contracts with
the Company in the reporting period.

2015

% of population covered2
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1

Verified data.

2

Russian population as of the latest census in October 2010.
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In 2015, we continued to participate in
national projects designed to extend 2G
mobile coverage to remote regions of the
country and along federal highways. We
also addressed improving coverage for
corporate customers who signed contracts
with the Company.
In 2015, the number of 2G base stations
grew 3.5% year-on-year to almost 48,000
units. MegaFon’s 2G services cover 83
Russian regions, reaching 97.71% of the
country’s population.
In 2015, MegaFon made the decision
to spin off its tower infrastructure
into a separate company. The tower
company will be our new focus for tower
infrastructure management, enabling
faster organisational decision-making and
ensuring efficient network development
and communication quality improvement.
We also participated in the federal
programme to overcome the digital divide
in sparsely populated areas across Russian
regions, implementing a number of projects
including the launch of new 3G base
stations in 27 villages and settlements in
the Karachayevo-Circassian Republic and
the active roll-out of own networks in the
Rostov region.
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Backbone and backhaul networks

Developing our backbone network is an
integral part of our commitment to meeting
the increasing needs of our customers.
That is why further roll-out of our backbone
fibre-optic communications line (FOCL)
is a key element of our infrastructure
development strategy. The extension of our
FOCL helps enhance communication quality,
increase our mobile network capacity and
improve data speeds across 4G, 3G and fixed
broadband technologies.
In 2015, the FOCL was further developed
both through our own construction efforts
and implementation of joint construction
projects and fibre-optic line exchange
programmes. Overall, during 2015, we
increased the length of our backbone
network by 4% year-on-year, or 5,000 km.
The total length of our backbone FOCL
exceeded 126,000 km with the share of
urban base stations interconnected through
FOCL being at 64% at the end of 2015. The
length of our backhaul network exceeded
58,000 km at the end of the year.

Financial
Statements

In 2015, in line with our backhaul network
development strategy, we continued building
up urban network capacity, migrating to
10GE-level capacity, and launching nodes
with the capacity of 100GE and more. Our
urban network development strategy is
focused on maximising the penetration of
4G services, improving our 4G/LTE network
quality and coverage, paving the way for 5G
networks, and continued enhancement of 3G
network capacity.

BACKBONE NETWORK (km)
126,030
121,102
112,783

2013

2014

2015

The key development in our backbone network
in 2015 was the implementation of new stages
of MegaHighway, a 100 Gbit/s DWDM-based
transit trunk line project designed to minimise
traffic latency and reduce the cost of arranging
channels. In 2015, the Moscow–St Petersburg
and Voronezh–Rostov-on-Don sections were
commissioned.

Developing of our fibre-optic communications line (FOCL)
In 2015, MegaFon completed one of the largest FOCL development projects – the
construction of our own fibre-optic communications line linking the north of the
Sverdlovsk region and the Khanty-Mansi autonomous area. The project took an
entire year and was completed in August 2015. More than 860 km of fibre-optic
lines passed through 29 population centres across the region. The fibre-optic lines
looped MegaFon’s high-speed network through the largest cities in the Urals:
Yekaterinburg – Nyagan – Surgut – Tyumen – Yekaterinburg. The launch of this
FOCL project brought improvements in communications quality and helped satisfy
the growing demand of MegaFon’s subscribers for high-speed mobile internet.

www.megafon.com
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Network quality

In 2015, we implemented a number of measures
to improve communications quality. We
introduced solutions adding new functionality
to our radio access network and optimised the
parameters of backhaul network sections to
improve the end-to-end quality metrics of our
services.

Global Network Operational Centre (GNOC)

We continued our efforts to reduce cut-off calls
at specific locations and eliminate local network
congestion. By the end of the year, we achieved
progress against key quality indicators across
all Russian operations.
A well-developed modern infrastructure, along
with a significant edge in frequency spectrum,
allow us to ensure high speeds of data transfer
and excellent communications quality.
Based on the research carried out by Telecom
Daily in November–December 2015, MegaFon
was recognised as the best operator in Moscow
in terms of voice communications quality, with
the least number of blocked and cut-off calls.
Similar research in St Petersburg also confirmed
our leadership in a number of areas. Specifically,
testing showed that MegaFon delivered
the highest quality of voice communication:
no blocks or cut-offs were registered in the
network, while MegaFon demonstrated the best
call initiation time, as well as the best result
in terms of maximum speed in 3G and 4G/LTE
networks.

CALL SET-UP SUCCESS RATE (%)
99.47%
99.27%
98.98%

In spring 2015, MegaFon completed its major project to set up the Global
Network Operational Centre (GNOC). Investment in the project exceeded
RUB 1bn. It is one of the largest and most advanced facilities of its kind in
Russia and globally. The GNOC’s key distinctive feature is that in addition to
round-the-clock monitoring of MegaFon’s network status and quality across
Russia, it also manages almost 300,000 active network elements, including
voice and packet switching equipment, backhaul network equipment and
service platforms.
The Centre’s functions are shared between two sites, in Saint Petersburg
and in Samara. In case of an emergency, network operation can be fully
consolidated at one site within 15 minutes. The GNOC is based on umbrella
management and monitoring systems: Fault Management, Network
Resource Inventory and Trouble Ticketing. Functional teams based in the
Centre and in the branches are responsible for network operation in line with
the target model, with overall coordination from the GNOC.
The GNOC’s launch resulted in much faster localisation of network problems
(by over 60%), development and implementation of new business processes,
and significant gains in operational performance. Throughout 2015, the
GNOC processed on average more than 15 million notifications and messages
and solved around 5,000 defects a day. During the year, the GNOC handled
221,000 requests from mobile subscribers and 72,000 requests from
corporate customers.
The GNOC was actively involved in a number of high-profile events, most
notably the summit meetings for the members of the Shanghai Cooperation
Organization and the government representatives of the countries referred
to as the “BRICS”, as well as the 2018 FIFA World Cup draw.

2G

3G

4G

Federal umbrella systems are planned to be refined in 2016 to increase the
level of automation and enhance the GNOC’s performance.

DROP CALL RATE (%)
0.75%

0.39%

2G
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3G

0.33%

4G

293,000

requests handled
in 2015

c.5,000

defects solved per
day in 2015
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Unified billing

In 2015, MegaFon continued to implement
its Unified Billing project. The project
will enable an overhaul of the billing
architecture to transform it into a unified
solution for subscribers of all branches,
and ensure the high quality billing and
customer service. The project completion is
expected in 2018.
The main objectives of the Unified Billing
project are to reduce the timelines for
launching new and modifying existing
products; to centralise the process of
launching new business initiatives; to
enhance customer service quality and
customer experience; to launch new
functionalities to better differentiate
MegaFon from its competitors; and support
overall business transformation initiatives.
The project is based on a “greenfield”
concept that involves building a separate,
single business support system (BSS) from
scratch, integrating it with the existing
Legacy BSSs and adjacent systems using
umbrella solutions, launching new sales in
the new BSS, and a phased migration of all
subscribers from Legacy BSSs.
The key developments for the project in
2015 included the development of the
Unified Billing architecture in line with the
original roadmap, creation of a subscriber
migration strategy, a pilot launch for
retail customers (B2C) in the mobile
communications segment in December
2015, and a commercial launch for
corporate customers (B2B) in the fixed-line
communications segment in August 2015.
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Information technologies

The development of our IT capabilities
is vital to helping us address a large
number of business issues and increase
the Company’s operational efficiency. In
2015, MegaFon implemented a number
of initiatives aimed at improving our IT
systems and infrastructure.
In particular, in the reporting period, the IT
Department “federalisation” was carried
out, covering the IT infrastructure, corporate
systems, business analytics and reporting
systems, with the aim to improve the
manageability and quality of IT operations.
The completion of the “federalisation” of the
IT Department’s business systems section
is scheduled for 2016.
In 2014, we developed a Unified Accounting
Report Library based on our Corporate
Data Warehouse (CDW). In 2015, the use
of the CDW enabled us to run a unified
procedure for financial period closings and
to centralise reporting to the Head Office.
During 2015, we implemented a set of
measures to improve information security,
including the deployment of an anti-virus
protection system based on a Kaspersky
Lab solution and a system to run pre-launch
audits of applications at workstations,
introduction of management and protection
mechanisms for local privileged accounts
and a Mobile Device Management system
that ensures monitoring and protection
of mobile devices (both company- and
employee-owned) of staff with access
to sensitive information, as well as
enhancement of data encryption reliability
on insiders’ mobile PCs.

Financial
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We initiated a range of projects to improve
the efficiencies of our business processes
and reduce operating costs. In particular,
we launched the INZHIR project designed
to introduce SAP in our own MegaFon
Retail network. The key objective of the
project is to achieve optimum stock levels
in points of sale through planning and
forecasting. Its implementation will drive
cost cutting, boost the efficiency of key
processes and make systems operation
more transparent. The pilot is scheduled
to be launched in 2016. Also, in 2015,
automated workstations for consultants
were introduced at the Federal Centre for
Corporate Client Services.
In 2015, MegaFon continued implementing
IT projects to enhance customer service
quality. In particular, a project of migrating
to a new PCC architecture was initiated
to enable quality improvements in packet
data transfer; the project to create
the ‘virtual consultant’ service ELENA
completed at Stolichny Branch has
enabled much faster customer service;
and the Online Telemarketing project was
implemented to target our subscribers with
well-timed offers for them not to miss out
on attractive new options as they become
available.

Developing of our fibre-optic communications line (FOCL)
In May 2015, MegaFon placed in operation the Barnaul – Kosh-Agach section
of the Altai Territory – Republic of Altai fibre-optic communications line. Total
length of the route exceeds 860 km. This commissioning of the Barnaul – KoshAgach backhaul network will not only provide subscribers with access to highspeed internet via smartphones, tablets and USB-modems, but also allow public
and municipal customers to switch and connect their departmental and other
networks to the FOCL. This will bring them the benefits of even faster access
to the public services portal and sharing of information in their daily workflows.
Along with an increase in the speed of existing 3G and 4G networks, the new line
will also enable further construction of LTE sections in the Republic of Altai and
districts of the Altai territory.

www.megafon.com
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION
Our integrated approach to customer service ensures that we deliver highquality service as we offer our customers a wide range of products and
services and promptly respond to their requests and complaints. MegaFon
is committed to driving performance across all sales and service channels,
including owned-and-operated stores, call centres, self-service systems,
commercial website and social media.
Controlled sales network

Through our subsidiary, MegaFon Retail,
and our controlled sales channels, we
are committed to developing our own
sales network. This network of ownedand-operated stores is a hugely valuable
resource for MegaFon, helping us to retain
existing subscribers and attract new
customers.
As at the end of 2015, our controlled
retail network included 2,096 MegaFon
Retail stores, 1,980 franchised stores
operating under the MegaFon brand,
and approximately 4,000 Euroset stores.
Euroset is a nationwide retail chain in
which we acquired a 50% interest in 2012.
In 2015, 72% of all new subscriber additions
(both B2C and B2B) were acquired through
our controlled distribution network, with
approximately 40% of new additions
coming from our own distribution
channels. The share of franchised stores
(branded retail) in the total number of new
subscriber additions (both B2C and B2B)
in 2015 was 18%, while Euroset stores
accounted for 15%.
In 2015, as competition became more
intense and consumer spending declined,
we focused our efforts on boosting the
performance of own retail network,
improving service quality, promoting stores
under the MegaFon brand as the place to
buy mobile devices, and strengthening the
overall appeal of our stores.

We updated and improved our brand-book
and point-of-sale signs, and developed and
launched a new line of branded in-store
and advertising equipment.
To drive service excellence across our
own retail network and franchised stores,
during 2015, we used regular customer
surveys, including extended SMS
surveys, to gather prompt feedback from
customers, in particular regarding negative
experiences. We also monitored our
employees’ compliance with the customer
service standards through mystery
shopper exercises.
In 2015, MegaFon Retail’s MegaGuru
service, which helps subscribers
customise their equipment and provides
technical advice on how to use their
devices, continued to function. This
service is currently available in 85 cities
across Russia. MegaFon Retail employs
193 specialists, who processed 354,000
inquiries from subscribers in 2015 and
over 73,000 customers had MegaFon’s
proprietary apps installed (Client Account,
MegaFon TV).
In 2015, the sales volume in the Russian
handset and smartphone market fell in unit
terms, while in revenue terms it grew, as
smartphones were consistently replaced
other phones in the equipment market.

Accordingly, we focused our efforts on
sustaining the volumes of smartphone
sales which in MegaFon Retail stores in
2015 were up 25% year-on-year in unit
terms (reaching 3.4 million units).
On the back of the growing popularity
of data-enabled devices, in 2015, we
continued to offer a wide range of
smartphones and tablets in MegaFon
Retail stores and were actively
implementing programmes to stimulate
sales. Specifically, in 2015, we offered our
customers affordable smartphones and
ran a number of marketing campaigns,
e.g., in February–March, we promoted
a budget MegaFon Login+ a 5.5-inch
diagonal screen 3G smartphone for RUB
4,990 and in November–December, we
offered budget 3G smartphones for RUB
1,990 and 4G smartphones for RUB 2,990.
Special price offers for the equipment
were only applicable if a subscriber made
a prepayment of services and subscribed
to one of the bundled tariffs in the ‘Vse
vklyucheno’ line or a special internet
option.
As we developed our LTE infrastructure,
in 2015, we expanded the range of
4G-enabled devices. The share of 4G
smartphones in combined smartphone and
tablet sales via MegaFon Retail stores in
2015 grew by 12% in unit terms (up 6 p.p.
year-on-year).

Our awards
●●
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MegaFon was the winner of the Customer Rights and
Quality of Service 2015 award. The Company was recognised
in the Communications and Telecoms sub-category within the
Retail Services category. The principal purpose of the award
is to recognise those companies that justify the trust placed
in them by consumers.

MEGAFON

●●

●●

MegaFon also won the No. 1 Brand in Russia 2015 award in
the Mobile Operator category.
MegaFon was among the winners of Customer eXperience
Awards Russia 2015. The Company received awards in two
categories: the Most Customer-Oriented Company in Russia
(360° customer experience management) and the Best MultiChannel Customer Experience.
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CONTROLLED DISTRIBUTION NETWORK AT A GLANCE

>8,000
points
of sale

One of the drivers of smartphone
and tablet sales was the offering of
introduction of affordable modern devices.
In 2015, MegaFon Retail offered approx.
300 models of smartphones and 50 models
of tablets (including models in different
colours) on average. In 2015, the Company’s
portfolio comprised over 30 models of
MegaFon-branded devices, including seven
smartphone models and one tablet model.
The budget category (under RUB 3,500)
accounted for 43% of vendor smartphone
sales in MegaFon’s retail network1, while
in 2014 this share was just 30%. The
2
share of A-brands (devices by first-tier
manufacturers) in total smartphone
sales declined considerably: from 43% in
2014 to 17% in the reporting period, with
none of the models popular in 2014 being
found among the best sellers in 2015. The
following B brand devices proved the most
popular with consumers visiting our stores:
ZTE, Micromax, Alcatel, Lenovo and Fly
(in 2014, Fly, Samsung, Nokia, Lenovo and
Alcatel smartphones accounted for the
largest share of sales). The average price of
vendor smartphones fell by 18% in 2015 to
about RUB 5,500.

40%

In 2015, tablet sales dropped in unit terms.
This was mainly due to a high level of
saturation in the tablet market. In 2015,
sales of tablets via the MegaFon Retail
network fell by 47% year-on-year in
unit terms. The average price per tablet
of vendors in 2015 amounted to about
RUB 4,500, which is 30% lower than in 2014.
Budget vendor devices (under RUB 5,000)
represented over 70% of tablet sales, with
a third of this share coming from tablets in
the price range of under RUB 2,000.
In 2015, the share of MegaFon Retail in the
mobile telecommunications equipment
market changed. MegaFon Retail’s share
in the smartphone market in unit terms
grew from 9.9% in 2014 to 11.3% in 2015;
however, its share in tablet sales fell from
7.7% in 2014 to 6.4% in 2015 3.

1,980

2,096

franchised
stores

MegaFon Retail
stores

Euroset retail
stores

2
15%
40%
18%

40%
18%2
of the total number
of new subscriber
additions

15%
18%

of the total number
of new subscriber
additions

15%

of the total number
of new subscriber
additions

SALES MATRIX OF MEGAFON RETAIL

c.300

models of smartphones

c.50

models of tablets

>30

MegaFon-branded devices
including seven smartphone models
and one tablet model.

1

Net of Internet and wholesale sales.

2

40% of new additions coming from our own distribution channels, incl. the Company's sales force and own sales network MegaFon Retail.

3

Company estimates and data provided by GFK-Rus International Institute of Marketing and Social Research.

www.megafon.com
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In 2015, MegaFon continued active
development of its online sales channels
and online shop, which offers a wide
range of retail services including the sale
of equipment and accessories. During
the year, we adapted the online shop
website for all types of mobile devices and
computers; launched online purchases
that permit paying for a purchase with
a bank card via the online shop website;
introduced technical improvements;
launched an e-mail marketing tool to
provide subscribers with information
about promotions and relevant offers;
and implemented a system for the
comprehensive promotion of MegaFon’s
products and services on the internet.
In addition, we opened pick-up points
at the online shop warehouses in four
cities and carried out integration with
our partners’ websites (Yandex.Market,
Wikimart). Customers can now process
their orders directly on external platforms
without the need to go to MegaFon’s online
shop website.
In 2015, MegaFon’s online shop had
16.5 million visitors. We fulfilled over
300,000 orders, acquired over 271,000
new customers and sold over 159,000
smartphones, mobile phones and tablets
(including 13,600 customised devices), and
almost 19,000 modems and routers.
As in the previous year, smartphones were
the largest contributor to sales. The main
difference from 2014 was a sizeable growth
in the sales of budget devices. The total
turnover of MegaFon’s online shop in 2015
amounted to RUB 1.3bn.

16.5m

visitors of MegaFon's
online shop
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Other retail sales channels

In addition to controlled points of sale, we
have a number of external retail channels
through which we sell our products and
services to customers.
In 2015, our independent dealer network
included over 45,000 points of sales,
including stores of local dealers, multibrand electronics retail stores, Russian
Post outlets, as well as 2,750 stores
of the federal retail chain Svyaznoy,
with whom we signed a new dealership
agreement. Starting from April 2015, all
Svyaznoy stores offer an extended range of
MegaFon’s products and services, including
commission-free mobile top-up.

As MegaFon is mostly focused on the
expansion of controlled retail channels,
in recent years, we have seen a decline in
the number of uncontrolled retail points
of sale. The share of subscriber additions
(both in the B2C and B2B segments)
coming from uncontrolled retail decreased
from 29% in 2014 to 28% in 2015. This
was mainly due to the shrinking of the
multi-brand network both because of its
waning business appeal and competitive
pressure from federal players, and more
rigourous enforcement of Federal Law No.
103-FZ dated 3 June 2009 On Activities
of Payment Agents Related to Accepting
Payments from Individuals..
In 2016, we plan to increase the number of
new additions via Svyaznoy retail stores,
which comprise a well-developed chain
across Russia, with high-ARPU customers,
to promote sales, as well as continuing
to promote sales via major retail chains,
including digital retailers.
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22,000

calls proceeded daily by
24/7 virtual consultant
ELENA

Call centres and subscriber services

MegaFon’s call centre operators provide
comprehensive information and technical
support to our subscribers, advising
them on various communications-related
matters, such as: service activation/
cancellation, tariffs, tariff plan change,
technical issues, etc. At the end of 2015,
we had eight call centres operating from
13 separate sites. We have kept the
average cost per one minute of service at
our contact centres at RUB 7.
MegaFon continues working on its
project to create a call centre operations
management hub. As part of the process
of billing solution integration, we are
developing a distributed single customer
service queue, which will expand
simultaneously with the growth of our
subscriber base. Specifically, in 2015, we
focused on the elaboration of the Single
Queue project based on a “Greenfield”
concept and we completed the tender
procedures for all of our call centre
solutions. We expect to integrate our call
centres by 2018, when we expect that the
majority of our subscriber base will have
migrated to our “Greenfield”

www.megafon.com

To continue further expansion and
centralisation of our telemarketing
functions, in 2015, we implemented a pilot
project to introduce online telemarketing
and opened a federal telemarketing hub in
Tula. The launch of the new site was yet
another step towards the development of
personalised service for our subscribers.
Tula became the third city, after Rostov-onDon and Novosibirsk, to host MegaFon’s
federal telemarketing hub. The growth of
our telemarketing capacity enabled us to
increase the number of processed calls
from 11.9 million in 2014 to 19.4 million in
2015. As at the end of 2015, telemarketing
sales reached 5.5 million services, up
1.5 million year-on-year.
In 2015, we decided to focus our efforts on
improving customer service quality in call
centres on repeat calls, and implemented
a number of initiatives in this area. This
enabled us to improve our FCR (first call
resolution) rate from 78% to 82% and
achieve the CSI (customer satisfaction
index) growth in the “Consultant’s ability to
resolve the issue on the first call” category
from 64% to 67%, which is the best result
achieved among the “Big Three” operators.

It should be noted that there is a current
trend in the customer service industry
for customers’ calls to move from voice
channels to multimedia channels (e-mail,
SMS, online chat). Customers increasingly
strive to resolve issues on their own - and
in response we are actively developing
self-service options, such as our online
service and self-service channels (24/7
virtual consultant ELENA and Online Client
Account service).
ELENA uses speech recognition technology
to solve customer problems bypassing
a keypad menu. The first version of this
virtual consultant was launched in summer
2014. Since then, the service has evolved
dramatically. ELENA is now able to keep
up a conversation on over 60 subjects, and
responds to loosely structured questions.
The service is fully integrated with our
billing system, which means that ELENA
can provide details of the current balance,
remaining minutes, active tariffs or
services, and give advice on paying bills.
We expect that very soon ELENA will be
able to process some 70% of customer
queries, allowing human employees
to concentrate on more complex,
non-routine enquiries that require an
individual approach. In the future, ELENA’s
capabilities will be enhanced through
deeper integration with business systems,
as well as pre-programmed self-education
algorithms.
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Subscribers’ protection from
unsolicited messages and fraud

>700m

SPAM messages blocked
by MegaFon in 2015

As of the end of March 2016, ELENA was
processing on average up to 22,000 calls
per day. So far, the virtual consultant is
only available to customers in the Moscow
region, but in 2016 we intend to roll out the
service on a federal scale. In addition, in
2016, we plan to implement a text version
of the service (via SMS, online chat, and
mobile messaging services).
As for the Online Client Account service, it
has already been scaled up to the federal
level. During 2015, it became available in
all Russian regions. In December 2015, its
monthly audience exceeded four million
users. At the end of 2015, the Client
Account app for Android, iOS and Windows
Phone was installed on more than 3.5
million devices. The app’s user-friendly
interface helps easily resolve the majority
of subscribers’ most common issues. The
most popular functions with the users of
mobile Client Account were services and
options management, requests for itemised
bills, and MegaFon Bonus programme
management.

MegaFon pays serious attention to
the security of its customers and
their protection from unsolicited and
suspicious messages. The fight against
spammers and fraudsters was made
more efficient with the introduction in
October 2014 of amendments to the law On
Communications, which enable operators
to block any unwanted mass messaging.
Our network currently contains several
effective safeguards against spam and
fraud. In particular, in 2013, MegaFon was
the first among the “Big Three” operators
to adopt requirements to mass messaging
via SMS protecting subscribers from
unwanted information, to implement the
federal Anti-Spam system, and to start
blocking SMS spam.
The SMS-Control service, launched in
May 2014, enables users to add senders
of unsolicited messages to their personal
blacklist. In addition, the Company put
in place an automated system to collect
and handle spam complaints (free short
number 1911).
During 2015, MegaFon blocked over 700
million spam messages, thus achieving a
tenfold decrease year-on-year in the number
of complaints regarding unsolicited and
suspicious messages. The number of fraud
complaints also reduced almost by half.

Since 2014, MegaFon has paid special
attention to protecting its customers from
malware targeting Android mobile devices.
We have implemented special tools enabling
detection of infections affecting user devices.
In April 2014, we launched an alert service
to notify our subscribers via SMS about
potential infections. In 2015, we sent out
almost 1.5 million of such SMS alerts.
MegaFon’s network also has a system
alerting subscribers to a potential threat
when they attempt to access internet
resources containing malware. During 2015,
the Company identified and entered in the
system over 6,000 malicious resources, six
times more than in 2014.
These efforts, along with prompt detection
and neutralisation of infection sources in
the internet and botnet management tools,
enabled us to considerably reduce the
number of affected subscribers.
To strengthen financial transactions
security when using m-commerce services
the Visa Qiwi Wallet application was
developed specifically for MegaFon’s
subscribers.
Subscribers can report suspected fraud on
the dedicated “Safe Communication” portal
(www.stopfraud.megafon.ru), where they
can also find information about the latest
fraudulent schemes and ways to protect
themselves against them, download and
install anti-virus software.

Social media remain an essential tool
for customer service and promotion of
the Company’s products and services.
MegaFon provides customer service via a
monitoring system covering the VKontakte
and Twitter social networks, MegaFon’s
official communities on FaceBook and
LiveJournal, as well as other blogs. In 2015,
MegaFon’s customers generated about
30,000 queries via social media.
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Brand and marketing

In 2015, we focused our marketing
efforts on growing the number of active
subscribers, retaining and expanding our
existing customer base, and stimulating
higher data usage.
To build up our subscriber base we
implemented a number of initiatives,
including modification and upgrade
of existing products and launches of
new offers. We were also focused on
stimulating voice traffic on our own
network. For this purpose, we upgraded
and actively promoted our ‘Perekhodi na
O’ (‘Switch to Zero’) tariff with free on-net
calls within the region of residence.
To promote the use of bundled tariffs and
encourage subscribers to switch to these
tariffs we reduced the price of the “junior”
bundled tariff of the ‘Vse vklyucheno’
(‘Everything included’) line; in March
and November–December 2015, we ran
marketing campaigns featuring special
time-limited deals on different bundled
tariffs; and in November 2015, we amended
bundled tariffs to abandon call billing for
on-net calls and increase the amount of
data traffic available in the bundle.
To drive customer loyalty we introduced
free access to MegaFon TV as part of
the usage of bundled tariffs and internet
options. As a result, our subscribers got
access to 50 TV channels and up to four
movies. In addition, there is no Internet
traffic billing for “senior” bundled tariffs and
internet options.
To make MegaFon’s services even more
user-friendly we continued to actively
develop and promote the “Pay When You
Can” service allowing subscribers to stay
connected even if they run out of credit.
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In 2015, MegaFon changed its brand
positioning. The new positioning is based
on the idea that MegaFon is committed to
improving communication quality day by
day so that people all across Russia could
feel at any time that they are close to their
loved ones even when they are far apart.
The new communication platform, “Truly
with You”, will help us build a stronger
emotional bond with consumers and enable
MegaFon to engage with customers on a
more intimate level. The changes affected
all brand-related external communications.
As part of the new positioning, we changed
our advertising format: we now make our
videos in the form of short movies (novels).
These videos show real-life situations
illustrating how mobile communications
help people always stay in touch with their
loved ones.
The new positioning drove our advertising
recognition up 60% year-on-year, while
the effectiveness of advertising in
communicating the key message grew 50%
year-on-year.
Along with the MegaFon brand, we are
actively promoting the Yota brand, which
primarily targets active users of mobile
internet.
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MEGAFONLIVE

To support the new positioning we
organised a major music festival,
MEGAFONLIVE, to showcase
what it means to truly stay
connected and how high-quality
communications can bring people
and whole cities closer together.
The festival attracted 420,000
spectators and about 590,000
online viewers.

According to a survey covering subscribers of
four leading mobile operators in Russia, as at
the end of 2015, MegaFon’s key unique brand
attributes included “high communication
quality” and “commitment to improving
communication quality”. At the same time,
the key attributes of the Yota brand were
“innovative operator, operator of the future”
and “developing new technologies”. We will
continue to capitalise on these strengths in
2016 to achieve our strategic objectives.

To stimulate the use of data-enabled
devices and higher data usage we
implemented a number of marketing
initiatives, including active promotion
of and special deals on data-enabled
devices bundled with our services. We also
encouraged our voice-only users to start
using mobile data.

www.megafon.com
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+0.2% +19.0%

increase in wireless
revenue

increase in mobile data
revenue

42.2%

+6.3%

OIBDA margin

50
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In spite of negative trends in
the economy and increasing
competition in the telecoms,
in 2015 we demonstrated
solid financial and operational
performance and achieved the
goals we set for the year

Being

Efficient
www.megafon.com
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Financial Review
This review is based on MegaFon’s audited consolidated
IFRS financial results for the 12 months ended on 31
December 2015. We have included financial results from
our majority-owned operating subsidiaries in Tajikistan,
Abkhazia and South Ossetia in our consolidated figures.
MegaFon finished 2015
with stable financial
results in line with its
full-year guidance despite
the declining trends in the
economy and increased
competition in the market
IVAN TAVRIN
Chief Executive Officer

The Company’s strict financial discipline
and smart financial planning helped us
achieve revenue targets in line with our
projections, maintain high OIBDA margin
and increase our net profit notwithstanding
the high volatility in the rouble exchange
rates.
Growing market competition made us take
a more careful approach to monitoring the
market trends and to sustain a compelling
value proposition for our services and
tariffs, our mobile equipment inventory
and the price mix offered to customers
in our controlled retail network. Our
marketing initiatives helped us maintain
our leadership position in the mobile
market and generate steady cash flows
while ensuring affordable and high-quality
services for our customers.
In 2015, MegaFon paid out record-high
dividends of RUB 50bn and made several
strategic acquisitions while maintaining a
comfortable level of leverage.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
INDICATORS1
In 2015, the Company’s consolidated
revenue declined marginally by 0.4%
year-on-year to RUB 313.4bn. Russian
revenue remained the major component,
accounting for over 98.4% of the Company’s
total consolidated revenue. Our total
consolidated revenue for Russia decreased
by 0.8% year-on-year to RUB 308.4bn. At
2015 year-end, MegaFon was the second
largest among the “Big Three” operators
in terms of consolidated revenue in Russia,
with a 31.5% share.
Consolidated OIBDA decreased by 4.4%
year-on-year to RUB 132.4bn. Our OIBDA
margin was down 1.8 p.p. year-on-year to
42.2%, in line with our full-year guidance.
The decline in OIBDA was mainly due to
higher advertising expenses related to the
Company’s new positioning campaign, an
increase in social charges, and higher rent
and utilities expenses resulting from our
network expansion and inflation pressures.

CONSOLIDATED KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Parameter

2015

2014

Change, y-o-y

Revenue, RUB bn

313.4

314.8

-0.4%

OIBDA, RUB bn

132.4

138.5

-4.4%

42.2%

44.0%

-1.8 p.p.

39.0

36.7

+6.3%

12.5%

11.7%

+0.8 p.p.

CAPEX, RUB bn

70.2

56.5

+24.2%

Free cash flow, RUB bn

53.8

70.7

-23.9%

Net debt, RUB bn

180.8

136.2

+32.8%

Net debt/LTM OIBDA, times

1.37х

0.98x

+0.39x

OIBDA margin, %
Net profit, RUB bn
Net profit margin, %

1
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CONSOLIDATED REVENUE, (RUB bn)

313.4

23.1

19.9

-14.0%

22.2

23.4

+5.6%

202.3

190.1

+0.2%

67.2

2014

79.9

+19.0%

2015

Mobile data revenue
Other wireless revenue
Wireline services
Sales of equipment & accessories
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In 2015, the Company’s consolidated net
profit increased by 6.3% year-on-year to
RUB 39.0bn. The key net profit drivers in
the reporting year included lower foreign
exchange losses, as well as gains in
derivative financial instruments resulting
from our efficient foreign exchange
management.

Lower
-0.4%
314.8
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Governance

As at 31 December 2015, our net debt was
RUB 180.8bn, an increase of RUB 44.7bn
year-on-year. The increase in net debt was
mainly due to the payment of dividends in
late December, acquisition of an interest in
CJSC “Sadovoe Koltso” (the “Garden Ring),
and repayment in October 2015 of the
remaining deferred consideration for the
Scartel acquisition. Nonetheless, MegaFon
maintained a comfortable Net Debt/OIBDA
ratio of 1.37х as at 31 December 2015.
Our free cash flow declined by 20.3% yearon-year to RUB 53.8bn mainly due to lower
operational cash flow and increased capital
expenditures which we made for further
infrastructure development to ensure our
network’s continued premium quality.

Mobile revenue

Consolidated mobile revenue for the
year was RUB 270.0bn, compared to RUB
269.5bn in 2014, or a 0.2% increase, on the
back of overall subscriber base expansion
of 6.4% year-on-year to 76.8 million
subscribers and solid growth in mobile data
revenue.
In 2015, mobile data revenue increased
by 19.0% year-on-year to RUB 79.9bn.
Key growth drivers were: 1) mobile data
user base growth by 6.8% to 29.9 million
users as a result of our active marketing
efforts, as well as growing penetration
of data-enabled devices (the share of
data-enabled devices registered on the
MegaFon network reached almost 53%);
and 2) higher mobile data usage (in 2015,
our DSU in Russia grew 25.7% year-onyear) backed by the expansion of our 4G
footprint and new and revised tariffs
and tariff options, as well as marketing
campaigns to stimulate sales of dataenabled devices. The share of mobile
data revenue in the total consolidated
revenue increased from 21.3% in 2014 to
25.5% at the end of 2015.

1

www.megafon.com
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39.2%

MegaFon's share in terms
of mobile data revenue
among "Big 3" operators
in Russia

As at the end of the reporting year,
the Company had the largest network of
base stations among all Russian telecom
operators – over 113,000 base stations,
an increase of 9.9% year-on-year. The
number of 4G base stations also grew –
by 24% year-on-year. At the end of 2015,
MegaFon’s 4G services were available in
77 regions of the Russian Federation.
In 2015, MegaFon remained Russia’s top
mobile operator among the “Big Three”
in terms of mobile data revenue in Russia
with a 39.2% share.
The growth in mobile data revenue, along
with higher VAS revenue (up 4.5% year-onyear) resulting from high customer demand
for our traditional VAS services and new
content and mobile-commerce services, fully
compensated for the slowdown in revenues
from traditional voice services, which has
become a general trend in the market.

Wireline revenue1

In 2015, revenue from wireline services was
up 5.6% year-on-year to RUB 23.4bn. This
growth was driven by: 1) the expansion of our
B2B and B2G client base; 2) the acquisition of
GARS Telecom providing a full range of fixedline services to tenants of business centres
in Moscow and St Petersburg; and 3) further
development of DREAM (Diverse Route for
European and Asian Markets), our high-speed
data transit project.

“Wireline revenue” means revenue from fixed-line services.
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Financial Review (continued)

Revenue from sales of equipment
and accessories

In 2015, revenue from sales of equipment
and accessories decreased by 14.0%
year-on-year from RUB 23.1bn to RUB
19.9bn, mainly due to the general
market trend for customers to switch to
more affordable data-enabled devices,
including 3G and 4G smartphones
exclusively introduced in the Russian
market by MegaFon, in the context of
a difficult macroeconomic environment
and rouble depreciation.
Lower revenue from sales of equipment
and accessories in 2015 is also
attributable to a one-off increase in the
sales volume of more expensive devices
in Q4 2014 driven by the macroeconomic
pressure and rapid depreciation of the
rouble in that period.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
AND FREE CASH FLOW

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, (RUB bn)
+ CAPEX TO REVENUE, (%)

In 2015, MegaFon’s capital expenditures
increased by 24.2% compared to 2014,
totalling RUB 70.2bn. We continued
strengthening our position in 4G/LTE network
rollout and modernising our current network.
Our total capital expenditures include the
cost of acquiring 900/1,800 MHz spectrum
in the Volga and Central economic regions
through the acquisition of companies from
SMARTS Group1 for RUB 6.1bn. When the cost
of the SMARTS acquisition is backed out, the
Company met its full year 2015 guidance on
capital expenditures.
Our OIBDA-CAPEX indicator decreased by
24.2% year-on-year in 2015 to RUB 62.2bn
due to higher capital spending throughout
the year and lower OIBDA.

22.4%
17.9%

70.2

15.9%

56.5
47.1

2013

2014

2015

Our free cash flow declined by 23.9%
from RUB 70.7bn in 2014 to RUB 53.8bn
in the reporting year as a result of lower
cash flow from operational activities and
increased capital expenditures.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
STABILITY

KEY FACTORS INFLUENCING OIBDA, (RUB bn)

Key Components
-1.8 p.p.
44.0%
OIBDA
margin

0%
Gross profit
margin

-0.6 p.p.
S&M as % of
revenue

-1.2 p.p.
G&A as % of
revenue

42.2%
OIBDA
margin

Lower
-4.4%
138.5

0.2
(1.4)

(1.7)

132.4
(3.3)

With the aim of mitigating foreign exchange
volatility risks we kept a substantial part of
our liquidity in foreign currency – over 80%
of our cash was held in "hard" currencies.

Gross profit
-0.5%

OIBDA
2014
y-o-y growth

1
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At the end of 2015, MegaFon had sufficient
liquidity and a comfortable leverage position
of 1.37x Net Debt/LTM OIBDA, despite
the payment of RUB 50bn in dividends,
acquisition of additional spectrum through
the purchase of a 100% interest in four
companies from the SMARTS Group,
acquisition of a 100% interest in GARS
Telecom, and the acquisition of a 49.999%
interest in Glanbury Investments Ltd,
the owner of a class A office building at
Oruzheyny Pereulok in Moscow, to be
used by MegaFon as its new corporate
headquarters to consolidate all MegaFon’s
Moscow business units in one location.

-0.4%

-0.3%

Revenue

Cost of
revenue

+10.1%

Sales &
Marketing

+4.4%

General &
Administrative

y-o-y decrease

OIBDA
2015

Despite a volatile macroeconomic
environment, we continued to enjoy access
to funding and support from our major
financing counterparties, while monitoring
all developments and taking necessary
steps to mitigate any negative impacts.
The Company has access to untapped
credit facilities sufficient to meet current
liabilities and back-up CAPEX.

JSC SMARTS-Samara, CJSC Astrakhan GSM, CJSC Yaroslavl GSM, and CJSC SMARTS Cheboksary.
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We optimised our debt portfolio so that, by
the end of 2015, over 55% of the Company’s
debt becomes due after three years, and
61% of the debt portfolio is denominated in
roubles.
Initiatives taken during the year to optimise
our debt portfolio and secure financing for
further enhancement of our network were as
follows:
●● in May 2015, MegaFon completed early
repayment of its series BO-04 exchange
bonds in the total amount of RUB 15bn
●● in October 2015, MegaFon placed RUB 15bn
of its series BO-05 exchange bonds at a
coupon rate of 11.4% p.a. for a 2-year period
●● in June 2015, we signed a Finnvera-covered
Facility Agreement with Unicredit Bank
Austria AG for EUR 150m to finance the
purchase of equipment, software and
related services from Nokia Solutions and
Networks
●● in December 2015, we signed a new Facility
Agreement with China Development
Bank for US$ 300m that will be used to
finance the purchase of equipment and
services from Huawei, and another Facility
Agreement for the same amount to
refinance a part of the Company’s existing
indebtedness
●● in December 2015, MegaFon signed a new
Finnvera-covered Facility Agreement
with Sberbank for the rouble equivalent
of EUR 70m to finance the purchase of
telecommunications equipment, software
and related services from Nokia Solutions
and Networks
●● in December 2015, we signed a new
revolving credit facility with Sberbank in the
amount of RUB 30bn. Proceeds from this
borrowing were used to partially prepay
short-term rouble debt with higher interest
rates and to refinance other debt to defer
principal repayments for a further two to
three years.
As a result, by the end of 2015, most of
the Company’s liquidity was held in US
dollars, while the debt portfolio was
mostly denominated in roubles, in line with
MegaFon’s financial strategy. Given the
unstable macroeconomic environment, this
approach helps us partially mitigate the risk
of the rouble depreciation.
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LIQUIDITY SPLIT BY CURRENCY1
17%
33%
46%

As of 31
December 2014

2

c.0.25% in EUR for operating purposes.

3

On nominal basis.

4

Including structured and plain vanilla FX swaps.

www.megafon.com

83%2

US$

RUB

HKD

BREAKDOWN OF MEGAFON’S DEBT BY CURRENCY 3
2%

2%

21%
28%

As of 31
December 2014

As of 31
December 2015

15%
9%

62%

RUB

US$ Swapped 4

61%

US$

EUR

BREAKDOWN OF MEGAFON’S DEBT BY MATURITY
11%
20%

21%

24%

10%

As of 31
December 2014
24%

Liquidity is calculated as a sum of cash and cash
equivalents and short-term deposits.

As of 31
December 2015

21%

The debt repayment profile was also
optimised in 2015 to reduce the share of
short-term borrowings from 24% to 21%.

1
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As of 31
December 2015
24%

20%
34%
12%

1 year

2 years

3 years

4 years

5 years and longer
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Risk Management
APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT
MegaFon’s success and strength in the
market is underpinned by a robust risk
management system.
Good risk management policies and
processes have been increasingly important
since the IPO in 2012, and during 2015 we
continued to make progress in this area.

Our approach to risk management

During 2015, we continued to develop
a well-structured, tailored and explicit
risk management system through the
improvement of existing risk management
structures, policies and processes.
In 2013, we successfully completed the
roll-out of our enterprise risk management
(ERM) programme across all branches. This
process was accompanied by training for
employees and the implementation of risk
identification and mitigation procedures.
As part of our further efforts in this area,
we continued to broaden the Company’s
risk management system and enhance
our risk culture framework. In particular,
risk management reports that go to
management now include a risk dashboard,
which affords managers a clear view of
changes within the corporate risk profile,
and gives them the opportunity to review
mitigation activities and understand
emerging issues in key risk areas. We also
use a range of statistical and probabilistic
models to help forecast risks.
Our ERM system comprises three levels of
risk identification, analysis and discussion:
1. questionnaires, interviews and follow up
discussions with every internal function,
2. cross-function workshops and
brainstorming sessions, and
3. meetings of the Risk Committee
(including the Company’s top managers)
at our Headquarters and in the branches.
At all three levels, risks are regularly
reviewed in terms of their potential impact
on the Company’s business. This review
process then helps us to shape and prepare
a Company register of key risks, including
legal, market, political and macroeconomic
risks, and a set of appropriate mitigation

1
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measures. The register and mitigation
procedures are discussed in depth,
amended as necessary, and approved by
the Head Office Risk Committee, which
holds its meetings twice a year. The
approved risk mitigation actions are then
forwarded to branches, departments and
relevant individuals. Since 2014, the risk
mitigation process has been controlled
via an electronic system, which allows
us to exercise stricter control over the
implementation of approved measures
and helps to increase the efficiency of risk
mitigation.
Our risk management process is continually
reviewed by the Audit Committee and
Internal Audit. The Audit Committee
evaluates the effectiveness of our overall
risk management framework on a regular
basis and makes recommendations for risk
response and framework improvement.
Our risk management levels and flow of
responsibilities are set out in the diagram
opposite.
In order to comply with international
risk management standards we work
constantly on developing the Company’s
risk management system in order to expand
its scope and improve its overall compliance
and effectiveness. As part of our effort to be
more compliant with ISO 31000:2009, the
international risk management standard,
we have performed an assessment and
identified areas for further development,
including in particular risk culture. We have
already developed a roadmap to embed a
strong risk culture across the Company.

We define “risk culture”1 as the norms of
behaviour for individuals and groups within
an organisation that determine collective
ability to identify and understand, openly
discuss and act upon, the organisation’s
current and future risks.
We believe not only that managing risks is
essential to achieving corporate goals, but
also that the prevailing risk culture within
an organisation can have a major impact on
how well the organisation manages its risks.
We are developing our risk culture model,
which is based on four main aspects:
●● Tone at the top: this requires that senior
managers act as role models in the
discussion of risk and risk tolerance,
actively seek information about risk
events and recognise those who help to
identify and unveil risks.
●● Governance: this requires that risk
accountabilities are included in
employees’ job descriptions and targets,
timely communication about risks is
encouraged, and all risks are regarded as
opportunities to improve and learn.
●● Competency: this requires that the risk
function is given a defined remit and
leadership support in order to support
those employees who manage risks,
a special leadership structure of risk
champions is created, and all employees
are trained to competently identify and
manage risks. To deal with the last, we
have developed an internal training course
focused on risk management, which will be
provided to senior managers in 2016–2017.
This training is planned to be made
mandatory for new hires.

We believe not only that managing risks is essential to
achieving corporate goals, but also that the prevailing risk
culture within an organisation can have a major impact on
how well the organisation manages its risks.

This definition is consistent with the principles set out in the guidelines of the Institute of Risk Management.
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RISK IDENTIFICATION LEVELS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

REPORTING

Audit Committee

RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal Audit

Risk Committee (Head Office)

Chief Financial Officer

APPROVAL OF BRANCH RISKS
BY HEAD OFFICE

RISK IDENTIFICATION LEVELS

Project Risks Coordinator/
Business Function Coordinator

Business Process Risks /
Project Risks

(tax risks, network maintenance risks,
SAP risks, fraud risks, etc.)

www.megafon.com

Risk Management Function
(Head Office)

Risk Committee (Branch)

Heads of Business Functions
(Head Office)

Branch Risks Coordinator

Head Office Risks

Branch Risks
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Risk Management (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
GEOPOLITICAL RISKS
SANCTIONS

Description and potential impact

Several entities and individuals in Russia are
already subject to sanctions over the conflict in
Ukraine, and there is a risk of further and broader
sanctions.

Risk mitigation
Neither the Company nor the telecoms industry in
general are currently subject to direct sanctions,
and we do not anticipate such sanctions being
imposed.
The fact that all our operations are based in Russia
and all our revenues come from this market also
help minimise the impact of any such sanctions on
our business and our financial results.

EFFECT UPON
RELATIONSHIPS WITH
COUNTERPARTIES
(VENDORS AND
SUPPLIERS)

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

RISK OF CREDIT RATING
DOWNGRADE

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation
Despite the recent downgrade, MegaFon’s ratings
remain among the highest in the Russian corporate
sector and this resilience, along with our ability to
deliver strong financial performance, will continue
to ensure that we have access to funding.

Further sanctions might be imposed on supplies of
equipment, software or services from the EU and
the United States.

Some international rating agencies may further
downgrade Russia’s sovereign credit rating.
MegaFon’s credit ratings may be constrained by
either Russia’s sovereign credit ratings or by the
agencies’ country ceilings for Russian corporates,
as the Company’s business is concentrated mostly
in Russia.
Thus, the latest downgrade in Russia’s sovereign
credit rating caused a reduction in MegaFon’s
corporate rating and further sovereign credit
downgrades may lead to further cuts in the
Company’s rating, which could cause an increase in
our borrowing costs.
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To address the possible impacts of sanctions we
have done a thorough analysis of all counterparties
that might be at risk, evaluated the possible impact,
explored possible alternatives and developed a
list of potential substitutes and other measures to
mitigate the possible impact of such sanctions.

Furthermore, our existing credit facilities do not
contain any terms that are tied to changes in our
credit ratings.
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GEOPOLITICAL RISKS (continued)
BANK ACCOUNTS
OF SYSTEMICALLY
IMPORTANT COMPANIES

LIQUIDITY RISK

Description and potential impact

Pursuant to Federal Law No. 213-FZ On the Opening of
Bank Accounts and Letters of Credit certain strategic
companies are required to open and close accounts
and deposit accounts at or purchase securities from
only the Russian banks specified by the Central Bank
of Russia and/or the Russian Government. Furthermore, when engaging in such transactions with
foreign banks, such companies are required to notify
competent authorities accordingly. Additionally, such
strategically important companies are required to
maintain their securities registers only with registrars
that meet certain requirements specified in the Law.

If further sanctions are imposed, there is a possibility
that Law No. 213-FZ, which currently applies to entities in the national defence-industrial complex, may be
extended to cover systemically important companies
in other sectors as well, including our Company, which
has already been identified as a company strategically
important to the economy under Federal Law 57-FZ.
Risk mitigation
We are closely monitoring the situation, and are
prepared to take appropriate measures should this
risk materialise.

Description and potential impact
Deterioration of Russian corporates’ access to
Western capital markets and higher key rate
may limit our access to capital and increase our
borrowing costs.

Risk mitigation

Further sanctions could lead to restrictions on
access to clearing systems or prohibition on certain
transactions, which would affect our international
payments.

MegaFon has access to adequate funding through
the credit facilities, which it has in place. This
reduces risks of refinancing our existing debt
required in the short and medium term.

Description and potential impact
Lowering oil prices, a weaker rouble and rising
inflation may negatively impact the Russian
economy, leading to reduced consumer purchasing
power and a decrease in household consumption,
which could potentially result in lower revenues
from telecoms services. A macroeconomic decline
might also lead to the withdrawal of investment
in certain projects, which would slow down our
network roll-out.

We have entered into long-term contracts with
Huawei, Ericsson and Nokia Siemens Networks to
assure the continued construction and modernisation
of our network.

To date, a large portion of our deposits has been
denominated in foreign currencies, which protects
our liquidity position against the revaluation risk
arising from adverse changes in FX rates.

MACROECONOMIC RISKS
RISK OF
A MACROECONOMIC
SLOWDOWN

Risk mitigation

We have signed financing agreements with China
Development Bank Corporation and other banks
(with guarantees provided by Finnvera export
credit agency) for the purchase of equipment and
services from Huawei and Nokia Siemens Networks,
respectively, for network development, allowing us
to cater for our medium-term requirements.

Our internal analysis suggests that the wireless
market is more resilient in an economic slowdown
as consumers tend to be dependent on mobile and
internet services, and as a result do not consider
spending less on these services.

www.megafon.com
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Risk Management (continued)

OPERATIONAL RISKS
RISK OF INCREASED
COMPETITION

Description and potential impact

The mobile telecom business, which provides the
bulk of our revenue, is one of the most developed
areas of the Russian telecommunications sector.
The mobile market in Russia is characterised by high
penetration (176.3% in 2015)1 and keen competition,
with all operators trying to increase existing
customer loyalty and attract new subscribers
through service excellence and attractive offers.
MegaFon’s key direct competitors include MTS,
VimpelCom, and Tele2.
In 2014, Rostelecom completed the final stage of
a deal to create a new national mobile operator –
Tele2, which is a joint venture with Tele2 Russia.
As part of this deal, Rostelecom transferred all
its mobile assets to Tele2. In 2015, Tele2 started
providing 3G/4G data services in the Moscow region.
MTS and VimpelCom have decided to jointly develop
their 4G/LTE networks.
Additionally, MegaFon may face competition
from various MVNO operators. In 2015, Sberbank
started negotiating on MVNO terms with various
mobile operators including Tele2 and VimpelCom.
Should the launch of Sberbank’s MVNO project be
successful, it may lead to more intense competition
and subsequently additional pricing pressure in the
market.

RISK OF NOT
KEEPING PACE WITH
TECHNOLOGICAL
ADVANCEMENTS

Description and potential impact

The Russian telecommunications industry is
experiencing significant changes due to the rapid
development of new technologies and standards
(LTE, LTE-A, etc.). As a result, many operators are
at risk of their services becoming outdated and
uncompetitive.

Evolving business models in our market may lead to
changes in market structure and dynamics. Failure
to anticipate and respond to these developments,
and to make consequent adjustments to our model
may affect our customer relationships, service
offerings and market position and result in a
negative impact on our operating results.
Risk mitigation

MegaFon is the second largest Russian mobile
operator by subscriber base and revenue. We
have licences to provide GSM, 3G and 4G services
throughout the country. At the end of 2015, our
3G services were available in 83 Russian regions,
while our LTE services were available in 77 regions,
and our LTE-Advanced high-speed services in nine
cities. We also have an extensive retail network,
comprising 2,096 owned-and-operated stores and
1,980 franchised stores, allowing us to control our
distribution channels and deliver a wide range of
high-quality services to customers.
We believe that our extensive backbone networks,
unrivalled spectrum advantage, leadership in 4G/LTE
mobile data services, extensive distribution network,
diversified portfolio of products and services, and
smart approach to CAPEX allocation and cost
optimisation should enable us to withstand any
competitive pressure from these developments.
In early 2016, MegaFon signed an agreement with
Vimpelcom on the joint development and operation
of LTE standard communication networks, according
to which new base stations with 4G support will be
deployed in ten regions. Construction and operation
costs will be divided between the two companies.
The launch of the network is planned for after the
second quarter of 2016.
Risk mitigation

We have kept pace, and we intend to continue
to keep pace with technological progress and
new industry standards by adopting the latest
technologies, and by developing and introducing
more effective and innovative products and
services.
Due to our unrivalled spectrum advantage we can
offer telecoms services across the entire range of
standards currently available in the market
(2G/3G/LTE/LTE-Advanced).

1
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OPERATIONAL RISKS (continued)
CUSTOMER CHURN RISK

Description and potential impact

Like other Russian operators, we have a significant
churn rate. Given the competitive mobile
environment in Russia and the recent introduction
of MNP (mobile number portability), it is vital
that we not only acquire new customers, but also
maintain our focus on retaining existing customers
and strengthening their loyalty to MegaFon.

Risk mitigation

In 2015, as part of our ongoing efforts to improve
our customers’ loyalty and attract new customers,
we continued to improve the quality of connections
and customer service across our retail stores, call
centres, and online platforms; to rollout our 4G/
LTE networks and modernise our 3G network and
to commercially launch LTE-Advanced networks in
new regions.
In 2015, we offered our customers revised bundled
tariffs and tariff options at affordable prices, started
introducing new services, and improved customer
experience (e.g. by launching a service to shorten
the blocking period in case of late payments).
In addition, in 2015, we launched a new advertising
campaign to more clearly differentiate our offering
from competition.

RISK OF NEW BUSINESS
ACQUISITIONS OR
STRATEGIC ALLIANCES
HAVING AN ADVERSE
IMPACT ON OUR
BUSINESS

Description and potential impact

MegaFon may continue to expand its business
through business acquisitions and strategic
alliances. Should we be unsuccessful in integrating
or managing any acquired company or strategic
alliance, there is a very low probability that
management’s attention may be diverted away
from other business concerns. In addition, any
unsuccessful acquisition could negatively affect
our financial position and credit ratings or dilute the
value of our shares subject to the asset acquisition
deal structure, possible deferred payments, FX
exposure in the transaction price, etc.
Risk mitigation

Our aim is to increase the Company’s market value
by effectively integrating any new acquisitions or
assets to achieve maximum synergies, including
in costs and revenue, and ensure further growth
for the acquired assets. Any asset acquisition is
always preceded by due diligence of the asset,
evaluation of the viability of acquiring the asset,
verification of ownership and other legal due
diligence, and a thorough financial analysis of the
proposed transaction. We believe that we have a
good track record on all these counts in relation
to transactions in the past and our management
consists of experienced professionals who have
necessary expertise and qualifications for effective
decision making.

www.megafon.com

In 2015, MegaFon completed three major
acquisitions:
●● acquisition of 100% of the voting shares in
JSC SMARTS-Samara, CJSC Astrakhan GSM,
CJS Yaroslavl GSM, and CJSC SMARTSCheboksary (the “Companies”). These acquisitions
will provide MegaFon with a number of strategic
benefits, including consolidation and improvement
of its position in 900/1,800 MHz spectrum in
the regions through more efficient network
development. It will also allow the Company to
consolidate its leadership in the Samara market,
as well as protect its telecoms market shares in
other cities of the Volga and North-West regions;
●● acquisition of 100% interest in GARS Telecom.
The acquisition will enable MegaFon to grow its
share of the B2B market and enhance its fixedline presence in business centres in Moscow and
St Petersburg;
●● acquisition of 49.999% of the share capital
of Glanbury Investments Ltd, the owner of
CJSC Sadovoe Koltso (Garden Ring), which owns
and operates a class A office building in Oruzheyny
Pereulok in the centre of Moscow. The building will
be used as MegaFon’s new headquarters, allowing
MegaFon to move to a single location up to 4,000
employees who currently occupy six separate
properties in various parts of Moscow. A ten-year
lease agreement was signed simultaneously with
the transaction completion. This transaction will
enable MegaFon to cut its rental costs (saving up
to US$ 98m over the next ten years) and mitigate
FX risks as the lease rates were fixed in roubles.
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Risk Management (continued)

OPERATIONAL RISKS (continued)
TELECOMMUNICATIONS
FRAUD RISKS

Description and potential impact

To support these activities we use a number of
specialist, automated anti-fraud solutions which
enable near real-time detection of fraud threats
to our business and elimination of such threats.
Monitoring for the more critical fraud threats is
carried out 24/7.

Risk mitigation

In 2015, further efforts were made to prevent
fraud-related losses, by improving the existing and
developing new business processes, systems and
services.

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

MegaFon may incur losses as a result of wilful
misconduct of unscrupulous counterparties or
subscribers. We also risk losing subscribers
who become victims of fraud, which also causes
reputational damage.
We have a separate unit within the Company
responsible for the prevention of fraud and
associated financial or reputational losses, and
for the protection of our customers against
fraud. Its activities are carried out in accordance
with applicable laws of the Russian Federation
and regulatory requirements, and are aligned to
MegaFon’s business targets.

INFORMATION SECURITY
RISKS

Given the fast-paced development of information
technology, there is a risk of failure to ensure the
appropriate levels of information security for our
software, subscribers’ personal data protection
tools, and equipment.
There is also a risk of intrusion into the Company’s
internal networks, including IT systems, which may
result in malicious applications being introduced
onto the equipment of the Company’s employees,
unauthorised access to customers’ personal data
or confidential information, with such data being
compromised, or the spread of malware (viruses).
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MegaFon takes all necessary measures to ensure
the appropriate levels of security for its IT systems,
software, technologies and equipment, including
continuous monitoring for potential threats and
the use of Security Intelligence platforms across
its IT and telecommunications infrastructures, as
well as the use of the latest software ensuring high
levels of security. MegaFon also maintains and
implements a strong information security policy
and provides training and testing of all employees
in this field.
To prevent security risks and minimise the
likelihood of threats being realised a working group
has been established in the Company to develop
and implement a set of new measures to improve
information security. The Company’s management
has launched a high priority project for 2016 to
enhance the telecommunications security strategy.
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REGULATORY RISKS
GENERAL

Russia’s mobile telecommunications industry is governed by federal laws On Communications, On Personal
Data, and On Information, Information Technology and Information Protection, as well as by numerous
relevant regulations and standards.

TRANSFER PRICING

Description and potential impact

In 2012, significant amendments were made to
transfer pricing legislation, providing for monitoring
of prices used in controlled transactions to make
sure they are in line with the market. The amended
legislation expands the range of methods used to
monitor prices to make sure they are in line with the
market, extends the list of transactions treated as
controlled transactions, and imposes on taxpayers the
duty to prepare documentation related to controlled
transactions and notify the tax authorities about the
execution of such transactions. The tax authorities
may impose additional tax liabilities if prices applied
under a controlled transaction are found to be not at
“arm’s length”.
Since the practice of enforcement of transfer pricing
legislation is still in its infancy, it is possible that the
approaches used by us to justify the market level of
prices under controlled transactions will be challenged
by the tax authorities, which may lead to additional tax
liabilities being imposed.

CONTROLLED FOREIGN
COMPANIES

Description and potential impact

In 2015, the Russian law On Controlled Foreign
Companies (CFC Rules) came into force. The CFC Rules
govern the taxation in Russia of the retained profits
of foreign companies and non-corporate structures
(including trusts) controlled by Russian residents
(companies and individuals).
Russian taxpayers (controlling parties) must
inform the tax authorities of the foreign companies
controlled by them, while the tax authorities may
impose additional tax liabilities on taxpayers failing to
include the retained profit of their controlled foreign
companies in their taxable base.

www.megafon.com

Risk mitigation

We have implemented a number of measures to
monitor the compliance of the Company’s pricing
practices with transfer pricing rules.
Specifically, as of 2012, we implemented and
continue to improve the Company’s internal
procedures designed to ensure compliance
with transfer pricing legislation requirements,
including an internal system for the identification
of controlled transactions. In addition, we have
formed a consolidated group of taxpayers within
the MegaFon Group, so that transactions within
this consolidated group are not subject to transfer
pricing control.
We believe that the Company’s transfer pricing
policy and practice comply with the requirements of
transfer pricing legislation.

Risk mitigation

To ensure compliance with the CFC Rules we
have developed internal procedures to identify
companies that may be treated as controlled
foreign companies. We have further developed
a step-by-step action plan in relation to such
companies and the schedule for preparation and
filing of the required documents with the tax
authorities.
Specifically, in 2015, we submitted to the Russian
tax authorities on time the information about the
Company’s participation in foreign entities.
We continue to improve our internal procedures in
accordance with official directives and instructions
provided by the competent authorities; we also
monitor and analyse new regulatory initiatives
related to CFC legislation.
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Risk Management (continued)

REGULATORY RISKS (continued)
RISK OF REVOCATION,
SUSPENSION OR
NON-RENEWAL
OF OUR LICENCES

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

RISK OF THE
TECHNOLOGICAL
NEUTRALITY
PRINCIPLE HAVING AN
ADVERSE IMPACT ON
OUR BUSINESS

Description and potential impact

The SCRF plans to take these efforts further,
extending the technological neutrality principle
to allow LTE technology to be deployed in other
frequency ranges.

Since MegaFon’s principal activity is providing
telecommunications services, revocation,
suspension or non-renewal of our licences could
have a significant adverse impact on our business.
The Company also uses resources which are
considered finite, including frequency spectrum and
numbering capacity, and their unavailability for any
reason could adversely affect our operations.

Technological neutrality can potentially increase
competition for MegaFon in the future in spite of
the significant investment requirements made by
the State Commission for Radio Frequencies of the
Russian Federation (SCRF).
In December 2013, the SCRF approved the principle
of technological neutrality for UMTS technologies in
the 900 MHz frequency band and for LTE technology
in the 1,800 MHz frequency band, and in 2014 for
LTE technology in the 900 MHz frequency band. The
stated objective of these measures is to stimulate
the development of 3G and 4G technologies in
Russia, as operators with 2G licenses for 900 MHz
and 1,800 MHz frequencies may now use these
frequencies to deploy 3G and 4G technologies.

RISK OF CHANGES
IN REGULATION OF
INTER-OPERATOR
RELATIONSHIPS

Description and potential impact

In 2014, the Government Communications
Commission, led by Deputy Prime Minister Arkady
Dvorkovich, discussed the issue of amending
the existing regulation of operator cooperation
with regard to requirements for traffic transfer
procedures in communications networks and
requirements for networking.
Government regulatory bodies continue to
develop new regulations in the field of operator
relationships, including tariff regulations.

So far, MegaFon has not faced difficulties in
obtaining or renewing licences or permits, or in
gaining access to adequate spectrum or numbering
capacity. To ensure this continues we maintain
a constructive dialogue with regulators and
ensure compliance with the terms of our licence
agreements and with other regulatory requirements
applicable to our business.

Risk mitigation

We regard technological neutrality not only as
a risk, but also as an opportunity because it will
allow us to provide better quality services to our
customers as a result of making available our entire
frequency range.

Risk mitigation

The Russian Government has been considering
various options of amending the existing regulation
regarding inter-operator relationships between
mobile operators and fixed operators to assess
their potential impacts on the telecommunications
industry.
We are in the process of developing a set of
measures to mitigate the potential negative
consequences of this risk.

The implementation of these government initiatives
may result in lower rates for traffic transfer and
call services, and thus a decrease in revenues from
communications services.
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REGULATORY RISKS (continued)
INTRODUCTION
OF AUCTIONS FOR
NUMBERING CAPACITY

Description and potential impact

The Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications
of the Russian Federation prepared a draft law
introducing auctions for numbering capacity,
which will be open to parties who are not telecoms
operators. The procedure for holding such auctions
is expected to be defined by the Ministry of Telecom
and Mass Communications; in addition, a state-run
information system will be set up to keep tabs on
the utilisation of allocated numbering capacity.
This initiative, if implemented, will mean tougher
sanctions for non-utilisation of allocated numbering
capacity.

Risk mitigation

The concept of the draft law provides for nontransparent arrangements for numbering capacity
allocation and entails additional expenses both for
the Russian budget and for telecom operators. The
draft law needs careful examination for corruption
potential

Individuals and legal entities shall be entitled
to participate in auctions along with telecom
operators.
RISK OF CHANGES IN
THE SET-UP OF DATA
COMMUNICATIONS
NETWORKS OF FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT BODIES

Description and potential impact

On 24 November 2014, the Government of the
Russian Federation amended the procedure for
setting up data communications networks of
federal government bodies.
Such bodies have now been given the right to
connect to data communications networks which
are part of the infrastructure of government
services administered by one of the communications
operators. In 2015, the Ministry of Telecom and
Mass Communications issued a decree to support
the implementation of this initiative, and systematic
guidelines were developed for the design of data
communications networks of federal government
bodies. The implementation of this regulatory
initiative could result in the Company losing a
share of the B2G segment of the data transfer and
telematics services market.

RISK OF THE
INTRODUCTION
OF MINIMUM
COMMUNICATIONS
SERVICE QUALITY
PARAMETERS

www.megafon.com

Description and potential impact

Legislation in the Russian Federation currently
does not contain provisions specifically
requiring compliance by communications service
providers with minimum quality parameters. The
regulator’s current philosophy is that the quality
of communications services will be assured as
long as subscribers have the right to select their
communications operator, based on operators’
mandatory provision of information about service
quality.

Risk mitigation

Services that are rendered to federal government
bodies represent a significant part of the services
provided by the Company in the B2G market.
We are carefully monitoring this change to the
procedure and developing measures to minimise
possible market share losses.

Risk mitigation

The chances that compliance with minimum
parameters for service quality will be required in
the medium term are not significant. However, even
if the regulator changes its current approach, the
Company believes that it will be able to ensure
its services comply with any such minimum
parameters.
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Risk Management (continued)

REGULATORY RISKS (continued)
RISK OF NEW
REGULATIONS REQUIRING
MOBILE OPERATORS TO
SIGN MVNO AGREEMENTS

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

RISK OF ADDITIONAL
COSTS RELATING TO
ENHANCED REGULATION
OF PERSONAL DATA
ON THE INTERNET
AND BIG DATA

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

RISK OF THE
INTRODUCTION OF
CHARGES FOR INTERNET
USERS (GLOBAL LICENCE
INITIATIVE)

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

NET NEUTRALITY
REGULATION

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation
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At present, Russian law does not require a mobile
network operator to grant virtual operators access
to its infrastructure.

In 2015, significant changes in the field of processing
internet users’ personal data were made. In
particular, from 1 September 2015, in the process of
personal data collection, Russian citizens’ personal
data must be recorded, systematised, accumulated,
stored, clarified and retrieved with the use of
databases located within the territory of Russia.
Further amendments to the regulation of Internet
users’ personal data and Big Data processing are
expected to be introduced in the future. Specifically,
in accordance with the list of instructions issued by
the Russian President following the meeting with
participants of the First Russian Internet Economy
Forum that took place on 22 December 2015, federal
executive authorities are to present their legislative
proposals on regulation of the processing on the
internet of personal data of Russian citizens.

The Ministry of Culture has proposed a draft law
providing for a global licence for internet users
to access third-party content (audio, visual, or
written), under which internet users will be given
the right to download and use such content, with
the cost of such use being charged to the subscriber
by the internet access provider and being paid by
the provider to the owner of the content (or any
organisation managing the owners’ rights on a
collective basis).

In 2015–2016, a working group within the
Federal Antimonopoly Service discussed the
principles of net neutrality, which is defined as a
framework for interaction between end users and
content, application and service providers with
telecom operators that ensures open and nondiscriminatory use of the internet to distribute
and access information and services. If a strict
approach to net neutrality is implemented
through legislation, operators will not be able to
differentiate between internet traffic in any way,
which may lead to networks being overloaded with
heavy content.

We consider the risk of a change in the regulator’s
approach to the regulation of MVNO arrangements
in the Russian Federation as possible. If this risk
materialises, it could adversely affect MegaFon’s
and its subsidiaries’ operations.

We fully comply with the current legislation, in as
much as the personal data of all of our subscribers
are processed within the territory of the Russian
Federation. In addition, we believe that we
will be able to fully comply with any additional
requirements. However, the implementation of
possible new requirements may entail additional
costs for the Company.

In 2015, the Presidential Administration shelved
plans to further develop this initiative as unfeasible.
We are carefully monitoring these possible
developments to ensure that, if any of them are
implemented, we are able to develop measures
to minimise any potentially adverse impact on our
business.

We are closely monitoring all relevant initiatives and
are working with regulatory authorities to develop
a “moderate” approach to the net neutrality,
which would create a favourable environment for
telecoms development, help attract investments
and encourage innovations, and promote the free
development of competition so that internetbased business is conducted and internet traffic is
transferred based on market mechanisms.
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REGULATORY RISKS (continued)
COMMUNICATION LINES
CONSTRUCTION

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

RISK OF HAVING TO MOVE
OVERHEAD TELECOMS
LINES UNDERGROUND

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

OTHER REGULATORY
RISKS

Description and potential impact

Risk mitigation

www.megafon.com

New provisions of urban development legislation
will take effect in 2016 requiring the development
of an extensive project (land surveying) plan
in order to obtain a permit for the construction
of communication line facilities. Given the new
requirements and the fact that the required
forms of land-use planning documents are not
yet available in a number of constituent entities
of the Russian Federation, starting from 2016,
the construction and upgrade of communication
facilities will become a significantly more difficult
process, potentially leading to a slowdown in
communications networks development and
deployment of new technologies in Russian
regions, as well as the slowdown of the industry
development in general.

In 2013–2014, the administrations of a number of
major Russian cities passed resolutions requiring
overhead telecoms lines to be buried underground.
In particular, in 2014, the Government of Moscow
adopted a draft resolution On Approval of the
Deployment Procedure for Overhead Power and
Telecoms Lines in the City of Moscow, which in
effect prohibits the deployment of telecoms lines
overhead. The likelihood of the draft resolution
being passed is regarded as high. Nevertheless,
it is expected that the requirement for relocation
of existing telecoms lines will only apply to the
historical city centre and areas along major
highways. Given that operators’ relocation costs
are not expected to be reimbursed from the
government’s budget, this initiative could result
in significant expenses for operators, reduced
connectivity, and increased costs of telecoms
services.
There are a number of other regulatory initiatives
being proposed at various levels of government
which, if implemented, could have a negative effect
on our business, operations and prospects.

We are closely monitoring the manner in which this
new urban construction legislation may be applied,
to minimise any potentially adverse impact on
our business. If the construction of line facilities
becomes more challenging, it is expected that the
regulation might be eased.

We are developing integrated measures to
mitigate the risk of additional costs relating to the
reconstruction and relocation of existing overhead
telecoms lines. We are also working on measures to
prevent breaches of network integrity or security.

We are carefully monitoring these possible
developments to ensure that, if any are adopted,
their final form will minimise any potential adverse
impact on our business, operations and prospects.
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Risk Management (continued)

SECURITIES COMPLIANCE
RISK OF FAILURE TO
PROTECT INSIDER
INFORMATION

Description and potential impact

As a public company, MegaFon is obliged to ensure
the security of its insider information. Insider
information is information which is directly or
indirectly linked to the Company’s operations and/or
its securities, which has not been publicly disclosed
and may have an impact on the share price.
Under Russian and English laws, the Company and
its employees have responsibilities to ensure proper
usage and protection of insider information. Failure
to discharge these responsibilities could result in
claims by regulators and investors and financial and
reputational damage.

Risk mitigation

To prevent this risk MegaFon is introducing
safeguards to ensure the security of insider
information, every year making improvements to its
data security framework.
In 2012, the Board of Directors approved a number
of regulations governing the use of insider
information. In 2013-2015, the Company introduced
a number of internal procedures restricting access
to insider information and started implementing
special technical tools for the protection of insider
information, including protection of information on
mobile devices.
In addition, employees are regularly trained and
tested to increase their awareness of insider
information protection.
The Company’s Audit Committee oversees the
execution of these measures, which are designed
to ensure that all shareholders and investors
are treated equally in their access to data and
information.

RISKS RELATED
TO IMPROPER
OR INACCURATE
DISCLOSURE
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Description and potential impact

As a public company, we are exposed to the risk
of claims against our Directors and top managers
from regulatory authorities, shareholders and
investors for improper and/or untimely disclosure
of information affecting the Company’s business,
operations or prospects as well as disclosure of
incomplete, confusing or contradictory information.

Risk mitigation

To limit the extent of potential losses or costs
incurred by our Directors, our officers or the
Company as a result of legal claims related to
improper or inaccurate disclosure, we have obtained
insurance covering these risks - Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Policy. This policy protects the
Company and its Directors against claims of third
parties in respect of mistakes or omissions that
could potentially occur in the course of regular
management activity.
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FINANCIAL RISKS
RISK OF ADVERSE
CHANGES IN FX RATES

Description and potential impact

Some of our capital expenditures, liabilities and
operating expenses (roaming and interconnect
charges, frequency fees, etc.) are denominated in
foreign currencies, mostly in US dollars or euros.
The recent rouble depreciation (the rouble fell
from RUB 56.24 per US$ as at 1 January 2015 to
RUB 72.88 per US$ as at 31 December 2015) could
increase such expenses in rouble terms, result in
foreign exchange losses and thereby reduce our net
income.
Furthermore, since some of the Company’s debt
is denominated in US dollars or euros, further
depreciation of the rouble against the US dollar
and/or the euro could make it more difficult for the
Company to repay or refinance such debt.
Risk mitigation

We negotiated with counterparties (vendors,
service providers, etc.) to accept payments in, or
switch payments to roubles, or to fix a specific
exchange rate for the purpose of payments under
contracts.
INTEREST RATE RISK

Description and potential impact

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from
adverse movements in interest rates on liabilities
and off-balance-sheet instruments. Any increase
in rates could increase the costs of raising new
financing for the Company’s operations and
investments and, where existing financing carries a
floating rate, the costs of servicing such debt.

For contracts which remain denominated in foreign
currencies (relating to FX-denominated CAPEX or
OPEX), we have implemented additional controls to
ensure that relevant transactions are cost-effective
and that value for money is delivered.
With respect to the latter, MegaFon has access to
adequate funding through the credit facilities it has
opened for the purchase of equipment from foreign
suppliers, which enables FX liquidity replenishment
as needed for equipment purchases.
To offset foreign exchange losses (or gains) and
cover our FX-denominated CAPEX and OPEX
requirements we hold the vast majority of our bank
deposits in US dollars.
In order to reduce the negative impact of changes
in foreign exchange rates on the Company's
financial liabilities, MegaFon has also hedged a
part of its debt portfolio which is denominated in
foreign currencies. We plan to continue our hedging
initiatives in 2016.

Risk mitigation

In 2015, we continued the implementation of
our strategy of limiting the use of floating-rate
financing. As a result, around 80%1 of our debt
portfolio has fixed rates, while the Company has no
rouble-denominated facilities with interest rates
tied to the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia.
A major portion of the Company’s funding portfolio
is long-term and has been sourced at attractive
interest rates.
Around 55% of the amounts outstanding become
due in three years or later, providing us with
sufficient headroom to refinance through the current
elevated interest rate environment.

1

Including swaps.
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58

31,576

projects were supported
in 2015 together with
166 foundations and NGOs

employees as of the end
of 2015

No. 1 Brand

Customer
eXperience

Winner in the Mobile
Operator category of No.1
Brand 2015
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Sustainable development is
an integral part of MegaFon’s
business strategy. This
principle shapes our approach
to innovation, development
and launch of new products
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Sustainability
APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

AA(s)

MegaFon’s rating for its
corporate social responsibility
policies and performance
by Reputation rating agency

OUR AWARDS

In 2015, the Reputation rating agency
reaffirmed for the second year running
MegaFon’s AA(s) (“very high”) rating for
its corporate social responsibility policies
and performance.
●● In the Corporate Charity Leaders ranking,
MegaFon took the second place among mobile
operators and was included in the top 20
Russian companies from different sectors.
●● MegaFon won the No. 1 Brand in Russia 2015
award in the Mobile Operator category.
●● MegaFon was recognised as the best
operator of 2015 by thousands of
Russians who took part in the open vote
on the Hi-Tech Mail.Ru expert portal.
●● MegaFon was the winner of the
prestigious Customer Rights and Quality
of Service award in the Communications
and Telecoms sub-category within the
Retail Services category.
●● The MEGAFONLIVE music festival
received the high-profile Innovations
Time 2015 award in the Best Innovation
Implementation Project / Event Initiative
of the Year / Technological Innovation of
the Year category, was named as the Best
●●
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Sustainable development is an integral
part of MegaFon’s business strategy.
This principle shapes our approach to
innovation, development and launch of
new products. MegaFon’s Chief Executive
Officer, Board of Directors and Management
Board collectively guide the strategic
leadership behind our approach to
sustainability, while selected employees
take responsibility for implementing
specific programmes and initiatives.
In line with international best practice, our
social and environmental programmes,
along with corporate governance
initiatives, form an integral part of the
Company’s general sustainability strategy.
Being a responsible business means for
MegaFon harmonising commercial, social,
and environmental interests.

Event of the Year in the Eventiada Awards
2015 competition and was included in the
list of the most spectacular events on the
Moscow scene, according to KudaGo.com.
●● MegaFon was the winner of the
Competitive Procurement Leader
competition, having been awarded
the first place in the Cost Efficiency
of Procurement Operations category
established for purchasers.
●● Two of MegaFon’s projects were included
in the catalogue of the Best Social
Projects of Russia programme: the 10th
open Russian football championship
among children from orphanages and
boarding schools “The Future Depends
on You”, and the establishment of
Communication and Art Clubs in ten
Russian cities. The Communication and
Art Clubs project was also the winner
in the Projects to Support Socially
Vulnerable Social Groups category.
●● The Dobro (Kindness) conference,
organised by MegaFon together
with Mail.ru and Metalloinvest, won
second place in the Best Programme

Our sustainability goals complement our social
mission to overcome communication barriers,
unite people across Russia, and provide quick
access to information in any situation.
MegaFon acknowledges the supremacy
of law and complies with all Russian legal
requirements. We adhere to generally
accepted moral and ethical standards,
endorse business transparency, respect
human rights and support environmental
initiatives. Our sustainability activities are
guided by international regulations and
standards, including the United Nations
Global Compact and the Social Charter
of Russian Business. Our reporting on
sustainability makes part of the Company’s
annual report, but takes into account
specific standards: the Guidelines on Social
Responsibility (ISO 26000) and the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) recommendations.

Implemented in Cooperation with Another
Business category of the Corporate
Charity Leaders contest.
●● The MegaFon Helps programme, launched
in April 2015 in cooperation with a
crowdfunding platform, was recognised at
the Digital Communications Awards 2016
ceremony as the best in the Projects &
Strategies (CSR Communication) category.
●● MegaFon was among the winners of
Customer eXperience Awards Russia
2015. The Company was recognised in two
categories: the Most Customer-Oriented
Company in Russia and the Best MultiChannel Customer Experience.
●● MegaFon was a runner-up in the Website
of a Telecommunications Company (B2C)
category of the annual Russian Golden
Site awards. We also took silver in the
Website of a Charitable Organisation/
Project category for our internet portal
“The Future Depends on You”.
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STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION
Efficient stakeholder interaction is a
prerequisite for the implementation of a
successful sustainability strategy. We need
to know how the Company is perceived by
stakeholders, what their needs are and what
they expect from MegaFon’s business and its
social, environmental and charity initiatives.
Our interaction with stakeholders is based
on the principles of partnership, equality
and respect.

Customers

MegaFon’s customers represent the
largest group of stakeholders, and the
Company’s prosperity and long-term
reputation depend on them. We are not
only responsible for the quality of our
services, but also for compliance with
the highest international standards of
consumer relations.
MegaFon pays special attention to
confidentiality, reliability of information
about our products and services
underpinned by the principle of responsible
marketing, guaranteed security, and
prompt response to requests and
complaints and their amicable resolution.

www.megafon.com

Employees

MegaFon’s employee relations are based
on respect and trust. We do all we can
to encourage employees to realise their
potential, ensure fair remuneration and
equal rights, and guarantee their health
and safety. Through ongoing dialogue, we
study the level of staff engagement and
loyalty and adjust our policies accordingly.
Our employee engagement survey is the
most important and efficient tool to explore
employee expectations and motivation.

Local communities

MegaFon operates across all Russian
regions, so good communication with local
communities is essential for us. Our policy
of interaction with local communities
is rooted in the principle of corporate
citizenship. In addition to providing access
to new technologies, we help improve
the quality of life in the regions where
the Company operates through social
investments targeted at developing the
education system, preserving cultural
heritage and endorsing sustainability.

Shareholders

We are committed to continuous
development of our business and growth
of shareholder value. MegaFon adheres
to best practices in corporate governance
and cares for its reputation. We provide
all our shareholders with equal access to
information about the Company and its
financial position, and we ensure absolute
equality of shareholder rights. The main
sources of information are mandatory
disclosure documents, annual reports,
financial statements, our corporate
website and a dedicated website for
investors.

The state

We are aware of our responsibility to the
state and society, and we strive to make
the greatest possible contribution to the
development of the Russian Federation
in close coordination with federal and
regional authorities and in line with the
interests of society. MegaFon is actively
involved in modernisation of Russia’s
telecommunications infrastructure and
development of an information space, as
well as protection of public safety including
support in national emergencies.
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The Company is a member of working
groups and commissions dealing with
regulation in the telecoms industry. We do
not support any political parties or political
figures; at the same time the Company’s
voluntary contribution to the prosperity
of Russia goes beyond the minimum legal
requirements and includes large-scale
charity and sponsorship initiatives.

Business partners

As a reliable and responsible partner,
MegaFon aims to ensure timely
performance of its obligations to
counterparties. We support transparency,
fair competition and anti-corruption efforts.
We do not tolerate unfair competition and
do not get involved in collusive practices.
The Company is committed to establishing
long-term business relationships and
provides its partners with all relevant
information, while always remaining open
to dialogue and willing to consider its
counterparty’s position.

Industry community

As a member of a number of industry
associations and unions, MegaFon is
actively involved in the development of
the Russian telecoms industry. We engage
in the elaboration of telecommunications
standards, and through our own example
aim to encourage increased investment
in sustainability among our corporate
partners.

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY
In its operations, MegaFon is governed
by generally accepted standards of
business ethics and the principles of
legal compliance, fairness and integrity in
business operations.

The Code details the general principles
of interaction with key stakeholders and
specific requirements for employees. The
Code determines the Company’s position in
countering corruption, discrimination and
misbehaviour, and proclaims the need to
ensure legal compliance, integrity, equal
rights, and informational transparency.
In addition, MegaFon has in place an
Anti-Corruption Policy, the document
that defines our policy on corruption and
corruption risks. This Policy provides,
inter alia, guidance to be followed by all
MegaFon employees before accepting
gifts from, or making gifts to, suppliers or
other third parties. This guidance is set
out in more detail in MegaFon’s Gifts and
Hospitality Policy.

Since 2013

MegaFon has followed
the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics

We provide training to employees on
the Anti-Corruption Policy to encourage
appropriate behaviour in potentially risky
situations connected with gifts, conflicts of
interest, etc.
We have in place a “Direct Line” through
which MegaFon employees and other
stakeholders can receive guidance as to
whether a particular action is deemed
corrupt, or can discreetly (and, if required,
anonymously) report violations. Through
this “Direct Line” employees can also
get advice on the terms of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics. The Direct
Line usage statistics and information
on the most important issues are
communicated to the Audit Committee. The
“Direct Line” is available 24/7.

MegaFon highly values its reputation and
strictly adheres to Russian anti-corruption
regulations, such as the Federal Law On
Countering Corruption and the Methodical
Recommendations of the Ministry of
Labour and Social Protection adopted in
2013. In 2014, we also joined the AntiCorruption Charter of Russian Business.
Since 2013 MegaFon has followed the Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics, which
was approved by the Board of Directors
as a fundamental document defining
the Company’s standards and principles
and rules of business conduct for our
employees and members of the Board of
Directors. The Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics equally applies to subsidiaries in
which MegaFon has a 100% interest.

We do not tolerate any form of bribery or corruption, and
in addition we expect our partners to follow the same
principles. Company employees should not promise,
allow or give bribes of any kind, nor should they request,
agree to receive or accept them.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
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HR Policy
ACHIEVING LEADERSHIP
THROUGH EFFICIENCY
To ensure sustainable development and
maximise the Company’s business value
over the long term MegaFon is building a
management system that will both drive the
achievement of the Company’s short-term
goals (for the current financial year) and
support its long-term sustainable growth.
Our efforts to implement transparent and
efficient business processes for improved
speed and quality of decision-making,
enhanced cross-functional cooperation and
better performance remain as important
and relevant as before.
We standardise and streamline internal
business processes at MegaFon, focusing
on launching federal-level service centres to
offer higher levels of service to both external
and internal customers. Specifically, in
2015, we started the “federalisation” of
MegaFon’s second line customer support.
This initiative is expected to increase the
customer service quality while maintaining
optimal cost levels.
We “federalise” routine operations,
focusing on core business competencies.
In 2015, we initiated the creation of our
Shared Services Centre, which is scheduled
to be launched on 1 June 2016 and start
operating at full capacity by the end of
2017. In its cooperation with subsidiaries,
MegaFon is also focused on gaining
maximum savings from the automation and
scalability of routine back-office operations
while retaining core competencies.
Several major IT and business projects
offering significant potential efficiency
gains in the future are now under way
(implementation of the unified billing
system, SAP re-engineering, etc.).

www.megafon.com

In 2015, MegaFon initiated the integration
of all Moscow offices in one location, which
will improve the quality of interaction
between the head office, the Moscow
branch and subsidiaries, and speed up
decision-making. A similar initiative to
co-locate MegaFon’s offices and operations
has already been implemented in most
Russian regions.
We are developing a goal-setting
framework to ensure that each employee
understands his or her role and their
individual contribution to the achievement
of MegaFon’s overall goals. A transparent
bonus system is linked directly to
employees’ individual performance.
We continue our efforts to drive
performance both through unification
and automation of operations and
through enhancement of our employees’
professional skills and competencies.
A special focus is made on the
development of the KPI management
framework.

HR MANAGEMENT POLICY
Our HR management policy is based
on the following principles:
●● Efficiency: We strive to achieve
more with fewer resources,
developing the Company’s talent
pool and relying on internal
expertise.
●● Flexibility: We promptly respond
to changes and new tasks set by
the business.
●● Transparency: We make Company
information accessible and easy
to use, and we standardise
communication channels across
the Company.
●● Innovation: We aim to ensure
timely responses to the challenges
of our times, embracing the most
advanced services and procedures
in training, HR management and
internal communications.

MEGAFON
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VISION: LEADERSHIP IN EFFICIENT GROWTH

ORGANIZATIONAL
STRUCTURE AND BUSINESS
PROCESSES
Clear areas of responsibility
by levels and functions
leading to faster desicion
making
●● Further optimization and
unification of business
processes
●● Federalization of IT systems
and services
●●

EMPLOYEES
AND COMPETENCIES

KPIs MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Timely and transparent
cascading of Company's goals
to individual level targets
●● Transparent bonus system
linked to perfomance results
for all employees
●● Cross-functional and project
KPIs and SLAs facilitating
critical end-to-end business
processes
●●

Increase in productivity
and strengthening of
competencies
●● Creation of federal centers
of competencies & services
supporting entire Company
●● Stronger focus on internal
candidates fill rate and
in-house people development
●●

CORPORATE CULTURE
Focus on customer and high
quality service
●● Company values are the core
of employees' behaviour and
cooperation
●● People engagement as
a key factor in increasing
the Company's value over
the longer term
●●

THE COMPANY’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
MegaFon’s organisational structure has
been streamlined over the past few years:
the number of management levels has
been reduced, with positions standardised.
As a result, the Company’s manageability
has increased.
In 2015, we adopted a new innovative
approach to HR management: we switched
from a territorial to a function-based
approach. Teams were set up within a number
of business areas that were not attached to
a particular region, but operated together as
separate virtual groups (“clouds”) based on
common business objectives or involvement
in specific projects.

Parallel operation of the traditional and
function-based organisational structures
has proved a challenge to the existing HR
accounting and recruitment processes,
as well as the setting of goals and the
remuneration system. We had to modify
the HR accounting system and procedures,
to develop methods for the teams’
interaction (regular video conferencing,
portals for information sharing), and for
ensuring data security, etc. Experience
gained in practical operation helped us
identify and develop the skills required by
employees when working in virtual groups.

Modern technologies enable us to recruit
highly-skilled professionals from all over
the country and arrange for their remote
collaboration from different locations.
The labour market experiences a shortage
of professionals in certain areas (e.g.
technical specialists). The ability to
extend the search beyond one city gives
us access to talented and highly qualified
professionals located across the country.
Each of them contributes their unique
experience and skills to the team, with a
positive effect on performance. Employees
get an opportunity to join MegaFon’s
exciting projects at the federal level
without having to relocate their families.
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We are confident that these new structural
arrangements will drive our successful
growth in a number of MegaFon’s business
segments across the country, improve
operational efficiency, and help attract and
retain the best talent by offering career
building opportunities and exciting projects
to get involved in.

THE WAY IT WAS

THE WAY IT IS NOW

HEAD OFFICE

INFORMATIONAL TECHNOLOGIES

BRANCH

BRANCH

Business
systems
City 1

City 2

City 5
Position

Position

Position

Analytic
systems
City 4

City 3

City 4

Infrastructure
City 2

City 7

City 7

Positions
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MEGAFON’S TEAM AT A GLANCE (PERSONNEL STRUCTURE IN 2015)

PERSONNEL BREAKDOWN BY GENDER

PERSONNEL BREAKDOWN BY AGE
1%

+2.3%

31,576

4%
15%

31%

48%

employees
in 2015

52%

49%

Female

Male

18-25 years

46-55 years

26-35 years

over 56 years

36-45 years

HEADCOUNT1,2, (people)
29,318

30,854

31,576

PERSONNEL BREAKDOWN BY
EDUCATION LEVEL
6%

PERSONNEL BREAKDOWN BY TYPE
OF EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT
5%

94%

2013

2014

2015

Higher education

Incomplete higher
education, secondary
and vocational
education

95%

Permanent staff

Temporary staff

1

The headcount has been increased through organic business growth and new acquisitions.

2

Number of employees includes full-time and temporary employees, excluding maternity leave and outsourced employees, and represents the annual time average.

www.megafon.com
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SAFE WORKING CONDITIONS AND
CARE FOR EMPLOYEES’ HEALTH
With a headcount of over 30,000
people, MegaFon is fully aware of its
responsibilities to its employees, making
their health and safety one of its top
priorities. To implement its health and
safety policy, the Company has developed
and adopted the regulation on MegaFon’s
Occupational Safety Management
System, a specific set of guiding principles.
These principles were drafted in line
with GOST 12.0.230-2007, Occupational
safety standards system. Occupational
safety management systems. General
requirements.
To meet the tough health and safety
requirements, in 2015, MegaFon promulgated
instructions providing employees with
detailed explanations of workplace
precautions and safety rules concerning,

in particular, the use of PCs and office
appliances, as well as emergency procedures.
All employees of the Company must study
these instructions and undergo an induction
training before they start working.
Key occupational safety initiative in 2015
included:
●● Internal training and development of
employees’ knowledge of occupational
and fire safety.
●● Training for employees whose job duties
involve extra hazards (work at height,
electrical equipment operation, safe
operation of lifting equipment, etc.) at
specialised training centres.
●● Scheduled and unscheduled monitoring
of occupational health status across the
Company, and specific assessment of
working conditions for compliance with
occupational safety standards.
●● Medical examination of employees (at
the start of employment and on a regular
basis for certain activities).

Purchasing, distribution and accounting
for workwear and other personal
protective equipment for employees.
●● Recording and investigating occupational
accidents.
●●

MegaFon’s expenses on occupational
safety in 2015 amounted to RUB 49.8m.

EMPLOYEE MOTIVATION
AND TRUST
Employee motivation is one of the key
investments in the Company’s future.
MegaFon acknowledges that its employees
require fair remuneration, support and
encouragement from the employer.

Monetary remuneration system

MegaFon has created a balanced
remuneration system, underpinned by the
principle of internal and external fairness:

EXTERNAL

INTERNAL

PERFORMANCE-BASED

RECOGNITION

(salaries competitive in
the labour market)

(balance between business
segments within the Company)

(bonus for meeting targets)

(non-monetary)

To define the salary level for each position we take into account the specifics of the regional labour market, the conditions of the industry,
and comparable seniority and skill levels. MegaFon applies a standardised approach to remuneration:

Fixed salary review – simultaneously for all
functions, regions and levels

Income structure within different functions is
balanced and comparable

In 2015, the average salary at MegaFon increased by around 4% year-on-year.
In addition to the fixed part of the salary, there is also a variable part which accounts for a significant part of employees’ remuneration –
flexible bonus schemes have been developed for different functions based on business goals and individual targets:

Employees directly providing
interface with retail customers
Technical functions
employees
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Employees directly providing
interface with corporate customers
EMPLOYEE BONUS
SCHEMES

Management
Support functions employees
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Goal setting

In 2015, for the first time in its history,
MegaFon made the process of setting
annual targets applicable to all employees.
Individual targets for each employee (from
directors to specialists) were published on
the corporate portal following a discussion
in functional groups and approval by
the respective managers. They were
then made publicly available within the
Company. Knowing the focus of the efforts
of employees in other divisions promotes
cooperation to achieve targets and improve
performance. The transparent process also
gives managers more responsibility for the
quality of targets.

Compensation and benefits

Along with a decent salary, the Company
aims to provide its employees with
opportunities to lead a healthy and active
life, maintain their welfare, and focus on
business goals and results as best they can.
MegaFon offers its employees a range of
social benefits and guarantees:
●● Voluntary health insurance (VHI)
policies – the Company’s employees
are entitled to high-quality healthcare
(including clinical services, dentistry,
ambulance services and emergency
hospitalisation); special VHI benefits are
offered to employees’ family members.
●● Employees’ accident insurance reduces
the risk of the loss of income and/
or provides for the reimbursement of
expenses to employees or their families.
●● Partial reimbursement for employees’
expenditures on sports or fitness classes.
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Employees are free to choose a fitness or
sports club at their own discretion.
●● Temporary disability payment above
the statutory minimum – in case of
temporary disability up to 14 calendar
days per year in the aggregate, the
Company tops up the payment to 100% of
the salary.
●● Lump sum allowances to employees
and their family members in difficult life
situations.
●● Comprehensive support to employees
relocating to a new place of work in a
different region: the Company covers
travel and transportation expenses of
employees and their family members, as
well as the cost of finding accommodation
(hotel accommodation may be provided
in the interim); a lump sum of RUB 25,000
is paid to help employees settle in at the
new place of residence; the Company
also provides relocated employees with
information and organisational support
for up to months after relocation.
●● Compensation for mobile phone expenses –
to be on equal terms with the Company’s
customers, all employees of MegaFon
pay for mobile phone usage at standard
commercial rates. However, employees get
reimbursed for their mobile phone expenses
up to certain monthly limits.
In 2015, MegaFon spent approximately
RUB 569m on social benefits for its
employees.

Financial
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we are actively developing our employee
recognition scheme. MegaFon uses
non-material forms of recognition, such
as certificates of appreciation, letters of
gratitude, MegaFon-branded souvenirs, etc.
The scheme is designed to recognise both
the individual contribution of our employees
and their team work. We reward employees
for delivering strong performance and for
behaviour reflecting the Company’s values.
In 2015, over 1,000 employees received
recognition at the federal level.
BREAKDOWN OF EXPENSES ON SOCIAL
PROGRAMMES

17%
1%
7%
4%

71%

VHI
Material aid
Compensation for
sports activities

We value our employees and do our best to
recognise their success and inspire them
to new achievements. With this in mind,

Compensation
for settlement
expenses after
relocation
Additional payment
to make up for 100%
of salary in case of
temporary disability

ELEMENTS OF MOTIVATION

MONETARY

Fixed salary
Bonus
●● Temporary disability payments
●● Relocation support
●● Material aid
●●
●●

Health insurance
Accident insurance
●● Corporate discounts
●● Payment for sports classes
●●
●●

INDIVIDUAL

STANDARD
Career development within
the Company
●● Training
●● Involvement in projects at
the federal level
●● Challenging goals
●●

Safe working conditions
Corporate culture
●● Professional contests, success
stories and other forms of nonmaterial recognition
●●
●●

NON-MONETARY

www.megafon.com
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MegaAcademy

MegaAcademy was launched in 2010 and evolved significantly
over five years – from four distance training courses to the
Corporate University that employs almost 200 trainers.
Today, MegaAcademy is focused on eight areas to best meet the
Company’s employee training and development needs:
●● Development programmes for managers
●● Corporate business
●● Company stores
●● Project management
●● Individual performance
●● Training for specialists
●● Employee assessment
●● E-learning training
We are committed to developing MegaAcademy as a solid expertise and training
platform; therefore, our in-house trainers regularly take advanced courses from the
best training and development experts and learn innovative training formats. We
continuously expand our programme portfolio across all areas of focus, doing research
into modern management and individual performance theories. Ongoing coordination
with the Company’s functional leaders ensures that our training courses are fully
optimised to best meet our business needs.

Talent Pool

The aim of our Talent Pool programme is to provide development opportunities to our
people with high leadership potential willing to further pursue their careers.
The Talent Pool programme is our internal resource base that enables the Company to fully
tap its internal pool of experienced and talented leaders to support its growth plans.
Employees with management experience who have been in their current position at
MegaFon for at least one year are eligible to participate in the Talent Pool programme.
We involve every participant of the programme in developing their own, individually
tailored development plans that will help them focus on the most important areas and
distribute their efforts evenly for maximum results.

Talent Pool School

In September 2015, we held the Talent Pool School, a major corporate employee training
and development event. The School, a truly unique event for MegaFon and the Russian
market, brought together over 130 Talent Pool members from across the Company’s
operations, together with top managers and guest consultants. Participants in the
Talent Pool School event enhanced their knowledge of strategic management, project
management, and team leadership; gained insights into best business practices and
international experience; and proved their worth in developing and defending business
cases supporting 14 business projects before an audience of the Company’s top
managers. Following the successful project presentations, the School participants
moved to the implementation phase outside the School environment.
The School programme was developed and hosted by MegaAcademy, with minor
support from external providers.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
The Company runs a successful
employee training and development
system developed in-house. The
Company’s training and development
priorities include:
●● Induction programmes for new hires
●● Advanced training for employees
●● Knowledge accumulation and sharing
within the Company
●● The Company’s talent pool build-up.
We use the most advanced approaches
and training techniques to make sure
that our programmes meet our business
needs.
In 2015, MegaAcademy, our corporate
university, celebrated its fifth
anniversary. The considerable popularity
of MegaAcademy’s programmes
among employees is due to the high
effectiveness and practical focus of
the courses they offer. Our managers
are increasingly likely to favour our
internal programmes over anything
else. Statistical data for 2015 show
that a milestone of over 120,000 man/
courses was achieved, i.e. one employee
completes on average around four
MegaAcademy’s training programmes
per year.
In 2015, our distance training courses
increased in popularitу – currently,
virtually all of the Company’s employees
are active users of the corporate
distance training system. MegaFon’s
employees see this modern training
format as a most effective and
convenient tool.
The Company also offers a wide range of
other distance training options, including
an e-library offering a collection of
professional and business literature,
video lectures from some of the leading
business schools, and webinars.
At MegaFon, we are conscious of the
need to provide development and career
opportunities to our people; therefore,
we use an open job-posting system.
We successfully run a corporate Talent
Pool programme. In 2015, 11% of those
enrolled in our Talent Pool programme
were promoted. Overall, during 2015,
178 management vacancies across the
Company’s operations (17% of the total)
were filled by programme participants.
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BREAKDOWN OF COSTS FOR EXTERNAL
TRAINING PROVIDED TO EMPLOYEES

44%

Professional training

CORPORATE CULTURE AND
INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS
We see it as essential that our employees
are proud to be a part of the Company
and are actively involved in its corporate
life. All MegaFon employees can access
internal communication channels where
they can read news about the Company’s
most recent activities. Additionally, our
enhanced internal communications greatly
facilitate coordination between employees
who may be thousands of kilometres apart.
We believe in the transparency of our
internal corporate processes for all
members of staff and also in easy and
unified access to the Company information.
For internal communications, we use
a wide range of electronic channels:
the MegaNet corporate portal, the Our
MegaFon web-magazine, news digests,
websites and blogs, corporate mailings,
presentations, and videos.
We focus on online communications as
the most convenient, as well as businessand staff-oriented means of coordination.
During the year, MegaFon introduced
new services and advanced internal
communications formats.
Today, MegaNet is hosting key business
applications that accumulate data on the
Company’s core workstreams and major
projects (e.g. the Unified Billing System). In
addition to obtaining required project data
and status updates, this helps employees
engage in team discussions. To support
top-priority projects, MegaNet developed
websites to exchange big data and work in a
single space. A new MegaNet web page was
launched for newcomers to communicate
information on the Company’s values,
approach to remuneration and incentives,

www.megafon.com
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MEGAFON’S TRAINING HIGHLIGHTS
Number of employees trained:
MegaAcademy: 120,000 man/courses;
distance training: 986,000 man/courses

INTERNAL TRAINING
offered by in-house
trainers (including
via the corporate
educational portal)

56%

Business training

Corporate
Governance

MegaAcademy
training and development, etc. Thus new
employees can receive faster and easier
access to information.
HR administration services such as
MegaHelp and SAP HR also moved online.
In 2015, the Our MegaFon corporate
magazine adopted an innovative long-read
format on a regular basis. The magazine
platform enables implementation of the
state-of-the-art presentation formats and
adaptation of data to specific business needs.
In 2015, one of our internal communication
KPIs was to ensure a personalised
approach to each target audience, and
more targeted communications and
flexibility. We launched a weekly mailing
digest for B2B, which is integrated with the
corporate portal and enables employees
stationed across the country to operate in
a single information space. To disseminate
data on business drivers and performance,
MegaFon launched a new communication
channel reporting on the Company’s
financial and operating results, providing
media presentations where internal
financial experts comment on economic
performance in an easy-to-digest way.
In 2015, we focused in particular on the Unified
Billing System, our top priority initiative. The
project’s scale required providing consistent
information support throughout the year,
as well as the introduction of a whole range
of new communication and incentive levers,
including gamification in the form of the
intellectual game show “What? Where?
When?”.
Various events organised by MegaFon
for its employees throughout the year
helped strengthen our corporate culture
and enhance team spirit. We organised
winter and summer events to promote

2,241 employees successfully
completed external training courses worth
RUB 141.6m

EXTERNAL TRAINING
supplied by external
providers

Business
training

Professional
training

the physical and intellectual development
of our employees. The Company’s
traditional celebrations included
Men’s Day (23 February), Women’s
Day (8 March), Maslenitsa (Pancake
Week), Communications Workers’ Day,
MegaFon’s Birthday, Company Day, Last
Day of Summer, Children’s New Year, and
Corporate New Year.

Employee engagement

It is important for us to maintain a regular
dialogue with our employees and get their
feedback. Once every four years, MegaFon
conducts an employee engagement
survey. The survey results reflect the
overall level of employees’ satisfaction
with every aspect of life in the Company,
enabling us to assess their engagement
in achieving the Company’s goals. The
survey is completely anonymous, and only
summary results are disclosed to ensure
the participants’ maximum honesty and
openness. Based on the survey results,
we develop initiatives to support and
enhance employees engagement. In 2015,
18,500 people took part in the survey
(60% of MegaFon’s total headcount).
Employees stressed their commitment
to the Company’s goals and values, and
stated that they are proud to work here
and are aware of their contribution to the
overall result. We benefit significantly from
our strong team spirit and communication
between managers and employees.
However, employees also indicated a
number of areas for further improvement,
specifically in terms of processes and
organisation of work in the Company.
Following the assessments conducted in
2015, MegaFon once again made it to the
top list of companies with the highest level
of employee engagement, having improved
on its 2012 results in a majority of areas.
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Environmental balance
ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES
AND APPROACH TO
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
MegaFon’s operations do not cause direct
significant damage to the environment,
and we are not engaged in industries that
pose a potential threat to the environment.
We acknowledge the importance and top
priority of environmental considerations
in conducting our business, and we aim to
make a contribution to ensuring a healthy
life for future generations. With all the
resources of a high-tech telecoms operator,
we are well placed to support society’s
progress towards achieving better energy
efficiency, cutting greenhouse gas emissions
and reducing resources consumption.

ENERGY CONSERVATION
AND EFFICIENCY
When constructing base stations, we
utilise advanced energy technologies
to reduce power consumption and are
gradually transitioning to alternative
energy systems. As of now, 12 solar/wind
power generators are installed in Russia:
base stations using this type of power
supply are best suited for areas where
arranging a connection to external power
sources or setting up diesel generators
working 24/7 would not be economically
viable or physically possible. Thanks to this
innovative solution, our communications
network can cover even the most remote
settlements in Russia.
Thus, in 2011, 2013 and 2015, MegaFon
commissioned four wind-powered
base stations in the Murmansk region.
All stations are equipped with wind
generators that provide power supply
for about 80% of the time. In 2014, we
launched a base station powered by solar
panels in Dagestan. Power is supplied
to the station by 42 solar panels, each
including 72 photovoltaic cells, that ensure
reliable round-the-clock operation of
communications equipment. Installation of
an alternative power source helped resolve
the issue of regular power cuts in the area
and ensure the communication facility’s
performance at 100% capacity. In the
first year of the base station’s operation,
MegaFon saved about RUB 1.5m.
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Along with construction of base stations
using an environmentally friendly
alternative power source, we are preparing
to install balanced ventilation systems
in base stations. Detailed testing of this
system in different climate zones confirmed
that it will enable us to cut annual electric
energy costs by 20%.
By optimising our climate control equipment
according to the season, using solar
panels and also the natural cooling of base
stations in the north of Russia, we save
power and reduce thermal loss in winter.
Installed climate control systems with
air-conditioning unit rotation substantially
extend the service life of our base stations
by evening out equipment wear.
To reduce power consumption, our offices
use heating, ventilation and air conditioning
systems with recuperative heat-exchange
and self-cooling functions. We are
monitoring reasonable power consumption
in our offices: lights and electrical
appliances are switched off outside office
hours, incandescent lamps are replaced
with fluorescent lamps, and we have
provided recommendations for employees
on the reasonable use of energy.

ON THE WAY TO A GREEN SOCIETY
Our innovative user-friendly B2B and B2C
products and solutions directly help our
customers reduce energy costs and cut
greenhouse gas emissions. For instance,
thanks to high-quality voice transmission
and high-speed internet, many issues can be
resolved over the phone and online, cutting
fuel consumption for travelling by car and
public transport, while video conferencing
services and M2M solutions help corporate
clients cut their air travel costs.

RESOURCE CONSERVATION
Year after year, we continue to reduce
our environmental footprint through
reasonable use of resources, in particular,
water and paper, in the Company’s offices.
We decrease paper consumption through
our Uniform Library module and the
use of electronic documents and memo
systems. We also promote day-to-day
use of electronic-based communications
instead of paper, and all our printers
or photocopiers operate by default in
a sustainable mode.

USE OF FUEL AND ENERGY RESOURCES IN 2015
Consumption

Cost, ‘000 RUB
(including VAT)

2015

FUEL AND INDUSTRIAL FLUIDS

TOTAL

Boiler fuel:
Diesel fuel, ‘000 litres
Gas (including condensate), ‘000 m 3

64

1,994

586

3,604

3,400

105,450

843,441

3,333,161

17,147

25,949

Technical equipment
Fuel, ‘000 litres
UTILITIES SERVICES
Electricity, ‘000 kWh
Heat, Gcals
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Social responsibility
CHARITY: CONSISTENT APPROACH
Our charitable activities reflect the
specifics of MegaFon’s business and
promote the strengthening of social ties
and elimination of gaps between separate
social groups. Over the 20 years of
MegaFon’s corporate history, charity has
become an integral part of the Company’s
life and a priority for social responsibility.
The Company’s charitable activities pursue
two objectives: to provide consistent
and effective support in solving pressing
social problems in Russia based on our
professional knowledge and experience,
and to promote “smart charity” by helping
Russian foundations and NGOs effectively
engage with the business community.
MegaFon’s charitable initiatives are
structured along three main lines:
1. helping orphans and children deprived of
parental care (10–21 y.o.);
2. supporting people with disabilities;
3. aiding disaster victims.
Our approach to social investments is
underpined by eight principles:
1. We use a consistent approach to
charity that allows us to arrange our
work efficiently, plan future charitable
activities and deliver on our promises.
2. MegaFon’s charity programmes should
bring maximum benefits to their target
audiences.
3. The Company puts emphasis on the
long-term benefits of charity work;
therefore, we focuse on selected areas
and concentrate our efforts accordingly.
4. We maintain a transparent system
of financing, where all the Company’s
expenses are confirmed by expense
reports and accounting documents,
which guarantees that all donations are
spent as intended.
5. We only work with reputable
foundations and NGOs.
6. Our priorities are with regional projects
or federal projects that benefit several
regions where our help is most needed.
7. We welcome the involvement in charity
projects of other companies and work
to attract funds from private donors via
online crowdfunding resources.
8. We support volunteer initiatives by our
employees and take pride in their work.

www.megafon.com

In 2015, we continued our efforts to arrange
the Company’s charitable activities in a
consistent manner. We strive to increase
the transparency of our initiatives,
paying special attention to the quality
and effectiveness of projects, as well as
their compliance with our objective of
consistency. Set up in 2013, the Company’s
Charity Committee reviews and approves
projects, monitors their implementation
and assesses the social effect. We also
promote the creation of an effective
donor community in Russia by raising the
competence of NGOs and teaching them
to interact efficiently with the business
community.
Thus, in February 2015, MegaFon organised
the first Dobro (Kindness) conference to
share best practices and methods for
fundraising, management of NGOs, and
interaction with the business community.
The conference brought together
representatives of 105 foundations and
NGOs from 34 Russian regions who were
given a chance to present their projects to
the Russian business community. Mail.ru
Group and Metalloinvest acted as partners
for the conference. The conference
received extensive positive feedback from
participants and is expected to become an
annual event.

In April 2015, we signed a cooperation
agreement with Planeta.ru, one of the
first and most popular crowdfunding
platforms in Russia. Under the MegaFon
Helps programme, if charitable foundations
can raise 25% of the amount required for
the implementation of a social project on
Planeta.ru, MegaFon will then contribute
the remaining 75%. As at the end of 2015,
18 projects had been presented on the
platform, of which 11 were successfully
implemented; a total of RUB 13.2m was
raised, including donations of RUB 3.3m.
Every tenth out of more than 15,000
visitors to the web pages dedicated
to projects within the MegaFon Helps
programme made a donation, the average
donation being RUB 2,250.

HELPING ORPHANS
MegaFon’s charity programmes for orphans
and children deprived of parental care are
targeted at children and youths aged between
10 and 21 and provide a comprehensive
programme of support: establishing social
contacts through sports, culture, and social
integration; and raising the level of education
and providing vocational guidance and
support to foster home graduates. In 2015, we
supported 18 projects helping 9,300 children,
with a total budget of about RUB 64m.

In 2015, MegaFon worked together with 166 foundations
and NGOs to support 58 projects with a total budget of
approx. RUB 180m. These projects helped 21,000 people
in 120 cities across Russia.
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Sustainability (continued)

RUB 64m
total budget of
supporting projects,
helping 9,300 children

One of the most efficient and high-profile
projects in this area is an open Russian
football championship among children
from orphanages and foster homes,
operating under the moniker “The Future
Depends on You”. In addition, MegaFon has
implemented a number of similar projects:
●● Building Life Together – cross-regional
interactive trainings and competitions
based on the concept of social planning.
●● Support to foster home graduates –
courses helping young people prepare for
independent life through apprenticeships,
psychological rehabilitation and
development of communication skills, as
well asvocational guidance and assistance
in entering educational institutions.
MegaFon also supported the development
and implementation of the Guide to Life
mobile application that helps orphanage
and foster home graduates across Russia
quickly find answers to pressing questions
and successfully adapt to independent life
in society.
●● Sociocultural and educational
rehabilitation – training in relevant skills
and competencies, and provision of
further education (additional coaching in
school curriculum subjects, assistance in
preparation for exams, visits to theatres,
museums and exhibitions, hikes, foreign
language training).
●● Building inclusive playgrounds and sports
facilities on the premises of orphanages
and foster homes across Russia.
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SUPPORTING PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES
According to the Federal State Statistics
Service, as at 1 January 2015, about
13 million people with disabilities lived
in Russia (88 people per 1,000 Russian
residents), including 605,000 disabled
children. Every day they have to overcome
dozens of barriers, both in the external
environment and in their own world.
As a communications operator, MegaFon
is committed to eliminating barriers to
communication and integration in society.
We believe that people with disabilities
are equal members of the society, and all
they need is equal opportunities for life and
self-fulfilment in the community, in work,
studies, and hobbies. Our objective is to
help provide such opportunities.
By helping these people overcome
barriers to integration in the society,
we solve the problem of limited
communication and social contacts,
and lack of access to education, mass
sporting, cultural and artistic events, as
well as employment difficulties.
●● By helping them overcome infrastructure
barriers, we promote the development
of special technologies and services to
eliminate digital inequality: we create
special information portals and services,
organise telethons and provide short
codes for fundraising.

In 2015, MegaFon approved 34 projects for
more than 10,900 people with disabilities
with a total cost of approx. RUB 67m.
For over five years MegaFon has been
supporting Russian paralympic sports.
Since 2011, we have been general partner
for the Russian national ice-sledge
hockey team. International wheelchair
tennis tournaments (MegaFon Dream
Cup, Zelenograd Open – Pervaya Raketka
and Moscow Cup Open), held each year
jointly with the Tennis Foundation of
St Petersburg and the ODA Charity
Foundation, give wheelchair athletes
the opportunity to score points in an
international ranking and succeed at
international sports forums.

●●

34

projects for more
than 10,900 people
with disabilites were
approved
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“The Future Depends on You” –
the 10 th anniversary

Ten years ago we launched our first
independent project – the open
Russian football championship among
children from orphanages and foster
homes called “The Future Depends
on You”, which has now become our
benchmark in charitable activities.
It is the only federal project of such
scale aimed at integration and social
adaptation of orphaned children: in
2015, 700 teams and 5,000 children
from 120 population centres in Russia,
Kazakhstan, China, Tajikistan, South
Ossetia and Latvia took part in the
competition. Since 2005, the project
has involved a total of 1,300 teams
and over 25,000 children.
For many residents of orphanages
and foster homes, the football
championship “The Future Depends
on You” became their chance to make
contact with their peers, make new
friends, and even find a purpose in life.
More and more people learn about this
project every year: in 2015, a photo of
the championship participants made it
to the short list of the Objective Charity
competition organised by the Donors
Forum and was on display in Moscow’s
Hermitage Garden.
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We have been supporting the Russian
Bocce Federation and bocce clubs
across the country for the last three
years – such projects help discover new
talent and train them for high-ranking
competitions. In 2015, almost 1,500
people from over 30 Russian cities took
part in ten international and all-Russia
tournaments; we have also helped
organise six sport and health camps and
conduct seven workshops for 380 people.
In addition to supporting paralympic
sports, we are engaged in programmes for
wheelchair athletes and for rehabilitation
of children and adults with disabilities
across Russia. We help conduct regular
events and competitions in a wide range
of sports – from horse riding and track and
field to swimming and skiing.

Financial
Statements

Releasing copies of Russian feature
films with audio descriptions and special
subtitles for blind and deaf people.
●● Establishment of an ongoing programme
to offer art classes to children with
disabilities.
●● Creating an inclusive space for
interaction – called Communication and
Art Clubs – in ten Russian cities.
●● Summer recreation programmes for
children with special developmental
needs, involving volunteers.
●● Organising sports adaptation and leisure
activities for disabled children.
●● Improving the quality of life for oncology
patients and their families; setting up a
permanent office and a School for Patients.
●● Labour and vocational adaptation, training
and employment for people with disabilities.
●●

In 2015, MegaFon’s flagship projects for
socialisation and adaptation of people with
disabilities included:
●● “Invisible plays” – unique 5-D performances
focused on auditory, kinesthetic, and
olfactory sensations produced for visually
impaired and blind children.
●● Publication of sets of tactile books for
visually impaired and blind children.

As part of the project, MegaFon
not only helps children strengthen
their character and make contact
with their peers through sports,
but also assists them in finding a
family. For this purpose, we have
linked-up with the Change One Life
foundation over the past two years
to create over 1,000 video profiles of
the championship participants from
77 institutions in 34 Russian regions in
the age group from 10 to 18 years old,
for whom it is particularly difficult to
find a foster family. By the end of 2015,
over 200 boys and girls have already
found a home and a family.
In 2015, a documentary was filmed
about the successful football player
Aleksey Skvortsov, a participant
in “The Future Depends on You”
championship, and many residents and
graduates of orphanages across the
country got to see it.

www.megafon.com
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Programmes for people with disabilities
aimed at eliminating barriers to their
integration in society have been another
important priority for MegaFon for many
years. We have developed special tariffs for
subscribers with hearing impairments and
launched a dedicated website for people
with impaired vision. In 2015, we launched
two new projects in the Ural region with
the objective of setting up a dispatcher
service employing professional translators
for more than 3,000 people with hearing
disabilities, and to increase social and
professional engagement of more than
3,000 people with sight disabilities.
MegaFon’s activities in this area also
include supporting a number of projects
to create a favourable environment in
facilities offering long-term treatment for
severely ill children and to attract funding
to cover the treatment. MegaFon’s joint
project with the Independent Non-Profit
Organisation Hospital Clowns and the
Happiness Lessons project in the Far East
have helped speed up rehabilitation of
children by means of hospital clowning,
play therapy, fairy tale therapy, creative
classes and outdoor trips. The We Can
Do It Together project enables treatment
to be arranged for severely ill children
in the Sverdlovsk region through charity
telethons, while the MegaFon Gives Hope
project helps raise money for emergency
procedures, medication and other forms
of medical care for children with oncology
conditions. In addition, MegaFon provides
short codes for fundraising in support of
severely ill children across Russia.

SUPPORT TO EDUCATION
AND CULTURAL PROJECTS
For over seven years, MegaFon has been
helping the Polytechnic Museum in the
renovation and restoration of its historical
building, the development of architectural
projects, and updating existing and
arranging new exhibitions, as well as
supporting educational programmes
and youth projects. In 2015, MegaFon
supported the following Museum projects:
Open Storage, Science Film Festival 360°,
Polytech.Science.Art, the 200 Keystrokes
per Minute exhibition, the Polytech
Festival, and the edition of the annual
Calendar of Significant Dates.
Another MegaFon’s cultural initiative has
been facilitating the production of several
new performances for the Moscow Bolshoi
Theatre.
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CORPORATE VOLUNTEERING
Our charitable activities are an integral
part of our corporate culture and the life of
our people. Our volunteers do a lot of good
work, making blood donations, helping
orphanages, conducting lessons in mobile
literacy, and providing higher educational
institutions with technical equipment.
MegaFon is proud of its volunteers and
gives them full-fledged organisational
support.

EMERGENCIES

31 October 2015 brought the worst disaster
in the history of Russia’s civil aviation when
an airliner crashed in the middle of the Sinai
Peninsula killing 224 people. MegaFon cancelled
all charges for calls to contact phone numbers
for relatives of the crash victims.
FINANCING CHARITY PROJECTS IN 2015
RUB 10m
6%
RUB 39m
22%

As a leading Russian mobile operator,
MegaFon is aware of its responsibilities in
case of national emergencies or forcemajeure circumstances. We are always
among the first to come to aid of people
who suffered in such situations both in and
outside of Russia.
In 2015, MegaFon provided help in two
major emergencies. In April 2015, major
grass fires hit Khakassia, leaving 5,000
people homeless, 15 dead, and 1,300
houses damaged. MegaFon provided
targeted aid of RUB 10m to those affected
by these fires.

35%

RUB 64m

37%
RUB 67m
Helping orphans and children deprived of
parental care (10–21 y.o.)
Supporting people with disabilities
Targeted projects and campaigns
Aiding disaster victims
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CHARITY IN NUMBERS

MEGAFONLIVE FESTIVAL
In addition to our charitable activities,
our corporate social responsibilities also
include organising large-scale cultural
events. In 2015, one of such events –
the MEGAFONLIVE Festival – received
unprecedented public approval. This unique
nationwide interactive music festival ran
from 15 August to 26 September in ten
Russian cities and involved famous Russian
rock musicians from across the country. It
offered the absolutely unique experience
for Russia of having two performances at
the same time in two cities linked up live
using high-speed MegaFon Internet.
The idea of the festival was to unite
people with similar interests from different
corners of the country. MegaFon truly
brought hundreds of thousands of people
closer together in Moscow, St Petersburg,
Novosibirsk, Yekaterinburg, Rostov-onDon, Nizhny Novgorod, Krasnoyarsk,
Chelyabinsk, Samara, and Kazan. Just as
MegaFon unites people across Russia, the
MEGAFONLIVE concerts united people
from different cities. MegaFon also made
sure that access to the music and fun
wasunhindered and organised a special
zone for more than 100 guests with
disabilities.

58

projects

millions of rubles

>21,000

>4,500

1,000

166

people in 120 cities

orphanages, foster
homes, and medical
facilities

1,300
volunteers

www.megafon.com

≈180

events

partners
(foundations
and NGOs)

1,500

experts and specialists
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Being

Responsible
MegaFon’s investment
appeal and sustainability rely
on the corporate governance
system, which we continued
to improve in 2015
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3

RUB 50bn

number of independent
directors increased
to three persons

distributed in dividends
in 2015

‘Two-inthe-box’

Independent
assessment

principle was introduced
in 2015

www.megafon.com

Investor
Relations

of the BoD performance was
carried out in 2015
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Corporate Governance
Framework
MegaFon’s investment appeal, sustainability and success rely on efficient corporate
governance. The consistent development and enhancement of the corporate
governance system helps us build and maintain trust-based relationships with our
investors, employees and other stakeholders.

The Company’s Board of Directors
and executive bodies take ultimate
responsibility for the corporate governance
system, which is designed to balance
the interests of our shareholders and
management. As part of our commitment
to continuous improvement, we are
constantly looking at ways to develop and
enhance our corporate governance policies
and procedures.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DEVELOPMENTS IN 2015

KEY CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

On 1 September 2014, Federal Law No.
99-FZ enacted on 5 May 2014 entered
into effect. This Law materially amended
Article 4 (Legal Entities), Part 1 of the
Russian Civil Code. In particular, joint-stock
companies are now classified as public and
non-public. The amendment does not imply
a change of legal form as the concept of a
“joint-stock-company” remains; rather, it
results in the introduction of new types of
classification for such business entities.

Our approach to corporate governance is
guided by a set of principles, which are fully
compliant with national and international
legislation requirements and standards.
MegaFon’s corporate governance principles
are:
●● enabling shareholders to fully exercise
their rights relating to their shareholdings
in the Company;
●● strategic governance and effective
supervision of the Company’s executive
bodies by the Board of Directors, which
in turn is accountable to the General
Shareholders Meeting;
●● appropriate management of MegaFon’s
day-to-day operations by the Company’s
executive bodies and their accountability
to the Company’s Board of Directors and
shareholders;
●● timely disclosure of complete and
accurate information about the
Company, including its financial position,
performance, ownership and governance
structure;
●● effective control of the Company’s
financial and business operations;
●● ensuring the protection of the interests
and statutory rights of shareholders
and other investors, creditors and other
stakeholders, and commitment to high
standards of social responsibility in
the Company’s activities.
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In a most significant development in
MegaFon’s ongoing efforts to improve its
corporate governance system, in 2015,
the Company’s constituent documents
were brought into compliance with the
provisions of Article 4 of the Civil Code of
the Russian Federation (new version).

On 20 April 2015, an extraordinary General
Meeting of Shareholders approved
amendments to MegaFon’s Charter, including
a change in the Company name, in order to
comply with these changes in Article 4 of the
Civil Code. As a result of the amendment,
OJSC MegaFon was renamed PJSC MegaFon.
Another important development in improving
the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate
governance was the implementation of the
“two keys” (“two-in-the-box”) principle, a
new concept also recently introduced.

The amendment to the Russian Civil Code has
introduced a new concept in Russian corporate
law, aligning it more closely with a number of
advanced foreign legal systems that have long
espoused the practice of appointing several
directors in one company – the so-called “twokeys” (“two-in-the-box”) principle.
On 30 June 2015, the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders approved a new version of
the Company’s Charter to incorporate these
new concepts. The new version provides for
the appointment of a new executive, to be
known as the Chief Operating Officer, to act
independently from Chief Executive Officer
within clearly defined duties of office.
The appointment of an additional person
with executive powers is a powerful tool to
maximise the effectiveness of the dayto-day management of the Company. The
Chief Operating Officer is responsible for
day-to-day management of the business,
including business segments, infrastructure,
branches and subsidiaries, while the Chief
Executive Officer is focused on MegaFon’s
shareholder value growth, development and
implementation of the Company’s strategy,
and mergers and acquisitions.
Another aspect of this change is that one
individual can act with full executive powers
when the other individual is on vacation or
temporarily unable to carry out his duties.

Specifically, in accordance with the
amendments introduced to the Civil Code
of the Russian Federation by Federal Law
No. 99-FZ, a corporation’s charter may
provide for the powers of a sole executive
body to be granted to several persons
acting jointly, or for multiple executive
bodies capable of acting independently to
be appointed. Both individuals and legal
entities may act as a sole executive body of
a corporation (Clause 3, Article 65.3).
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RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MAJOR TRANSACTIONS

Related-party transactions are regulated
by Article 11 of Federal Law No. 208FZ On Joint-Stock Companies. Under
these provisions, transactions in which
shareholders, members of the Board of
Directors, or members of executive bodies
are interested parties must be approved by
either the Board of Directors or the General
Meeting of Shareholders. The interested
member(s) of the Board of Directors or the
interested shareholder(s) does(do) not vote
on the relevant resolution.

In 2015, MegaFon concluded no
transactions which qualify as “major
transactions” (as defined by Article 78 of
Federal Law No. 208-FZ On Joint-Stock
Companies).

MegaFon pays close attention to
identifying and controlling transactions
in which shareholders, members of
the Board of Directors, or members of
executive bodies are interested parties.
Through its SAP ERP system, MegaFon
has developed procedures for determining
and monitoring such transactions. All
MegaFon counterparties are regularly
checked for possible relationships with the
main shareholders and members of the
executive bodies.
In accordance with such procedures, all
related-party transactions are subject to
preliminary review by specific committees
of MegaFon’s Board of Directors, based
upon the subject matter. In 2015, the Audit
Committee carried out preliminary reviews,
recommending for the Board’s approval
(and the Board of Directors subsequently
approved) a total of 63 related-party
transactions. The Finance and Strategy
Committee carried out preliminary reviews,
recommending for the Board’s approval
(and the Board of Directors subsequently
approved) 10 such transactions.
The list of related-party transactions
effected by MegaFon in 2015 is
available on the Company’s website at
www.megafon.ru/ad/ar2015_sdm.

BOARD MEMBERS’ INDEPENDENCE
AND THE BALANCE OF INTERESTS
In accordance with the requirements of
Russian law and regulation, the Board of
Directors of a public company must include
independent directors. Pursuant to the
Regulations on the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration and HR Development
Committee of the Board of Directors,
these committees must have at least one
independent director meeting a specific set
of requirements, including1:
●● having no relationship with the Company;
●● having no links with the Company’s
significant shareholder;
●● having no relationship with the
Company’s competitors or significant
counterparties;
●● having no relationship with any
government or municipal entity.

Financial
Statements

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE
In March 2014, the Central Bank of Russia
adopted a new Corporate Governance
Code, marking a milestone in corporate
governance. The new version of the Code
is the result of a joint effort between
market regulators, the Moscow Exchange,
international organisations, investors
and issuers, as well as international and
Russian corporate governance experts.
The Code contains best practices and
standards and is designed to enhance
corporate governance in Russian
companies.
The Code’s recommendations are
primarily aimed at public and stateowned companies. Certain standards and
recommendations contained in the Code
have already been included in the new
Listing Rules of the Moscow Exchange.
Information on MegaFon’s compliance
with the new Corporate Governance
Code is available on the Company’s
website at www.megafon.ru/ad/
ar2015_sdm.

Upon election, all members of the Board
of Directors go through a process to
determine whether or not they meet
the independence criteria set out in
the Corporate Governance Code. At the
conclusion of this process, the Board
determines which directors qualify as
independent directors.
In accordance with these procedures, in
2015, the Company’s Board of Directors
designated Jan Erik Rudberg, Lord
Paul Myners, and Sergey A. Kulikov as
independent directors.

1 The full list of criteria of the Board members’
independence is stipulated in the Corporate
Governance Code (letter of the Central Bank of Russia
No. 06‑52/2463 dated 10 April 2014) and the Listing
Rules of the Moscow Exchange.

www.megafon.com
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Corporate Governance
Structure
In line with the Federal Law On Joint Stock Companies and MegaFon’s Charter, our
principal management bodies are the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board
of Directors, the Management Board (collective executive body), the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Operating Officer (individual executive bodies).
MEGAFON’S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

GENERAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS

Revision Commission

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Remuneration and HR
Development Committee

Finance and Strategy
Committee

Audit Committee

INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE BODIES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Internal Audit

MANAGEMENT BOARD
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Reports to

Appoints

Elects

Recommends

Appoints based on the recommendations
of the Audit Committee

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements

Governance Bodies
GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
The General Meeting of Shareholders is
MegaFon’s main governing body. Under
the Company’s Charter and applicable
Russian laws, shareholders’ participation
is required in decision-making on some of
the more important corporate matters,
including profit distributions and approval
of major transactions.
The procedure for holding General
Meetings of Shareholders is set out
in the Regulations on the General
Meeting of Shareholders, available
on the Company’s website at http://
corp.megafon.ru/ai/document/147/file/
pologenie_Obshem_sobranii_akcion.pdf.
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
must be held once a year, not earlier than
three months and not later than six months
after the end of the fiscal year.
In 2015, the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders was held on 30 June in
the form of a face-to-face meeting of
shareholders. The total number of votes
held by persons entitled to take part in the
Annual General Meeting was 620,000,000
(the number of votes for cumulative voting
was 4,340,000,000). The holders of shares
and GDRs entitled to cast 90.1% of the total
number of votes took part in the meeting.

Resolutions approved by the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders were as
follows:
●● approval of the Company’s 2014 Annual
Report;
●● approval of the 2014 annual accounting
statements, including profit and loss
statements;
●● distribution of the Company’s profits
and losses based on the 2014 financial
year results, including dividend payment
(declaration), determination of the
amount of dividends payable on shares,
and the payment method and procedure;
●● election of the Board of Directors;
●● approval of the size of the Management
Board, and election of its members;
●● approval of an independent auditor;
●● election of the Revision Commission;
●● approval of the new version of the
Company’s Charter (Version No. 4);
●● election of the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer;
●● election of the Company’s Chief Operating
Officer.
In between Annual General Meetings,
MegaFon may sometimes hold extraordinary
General Meetings of Shareholders. The
decision to convene an extraordinary meeting
is made by the Board of Directors – either
on its own initiative or at the request of
the Revision Commission, the independent
auditor, or shareholders holding at least 10%
of the Company’s voting shares.

In 2015, MegaFon held four extraordinary
General Meetings of Shareholders:
on 19 January, 13 April, 20 April, and
11 December, all of which were held by
absentee voting.
Key resolutions approved by the
extraordinary General Meetings of
Shareholders were as follows:
●● approval of related-party transactions;
●● approval of amendments to the
Company’s Charter;
●● election of I.V. Tavrin as the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, with a term of
office till the date of the Annual General
Meeting of the Company's Shareholders
in 2015;
●● declaration of dividends for the first
nine months of 2015, including the
determination of the amount of dividends
payable, and of the payment method and
procedure.
Detailed information on extraordinary
General Meetings of Shareholders
held in 2015 is available on
the Company’s website at corp.
megafon.com/investors/shareholder_
meetings/extraordinary_general_
shareholde/#2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors exercises general
control over the Company by setting
business development priorities and
defining the Company’s growth strategy.
The Board’s main purpose is to enhance
the efficiency and transparency of
the Company’s internal controls, and
improve the monitoring framework and
accountability of its management bodies,
while protecting and promoting the rights
of all shareholders.

In 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors
consisted of seven members, including
three independent directors. The Board
of Directors was re-elected at the 2015
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

The full powers of the Board are set
out in detail in MegaFon’s Charter
and the Regulations on the Board of
Directors, available on the Company’s
website at http://corp.megafon.ru/
investors/docs/ustav/.

www.megafon.com

Until 30 June 2015, the Board of Directors
had consisted of the following members:
●● Sergey V. Soldatenkov (Chairman);
●● Berndt Kenneth Karlberg;
●● Sergey A. Kulikov;
●● Carl Peter Christian Luiga;
●● Lord Paul Myners;
●● Jan Erik Rudberg;
●● Vladimir Y. Streshinsky.

Since 30 June 2015, the Board of Directors
has consisted of the following members:
●● Sergey V. Soldatenkov (Chairman);
●● Sergey A. Kulikov;
●● Carl Peter Christian Luiga;
●● Lord Paul Myners;
●● Jan Erik Rudberg;
●● Vladimir Y. Streshinsky;
●● Ingrid Maria Stenmark.
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SHORT BIOGRAPHIES OF THE BOARD MEMBERS
Sergey V. Soldatenkov

Born in 1963.

Chairman of the Board of Directors (nonexecutive director);
Member of the Remuneration and HR
Development Committee;
Member of the Audit Committee.

In 1986, Mr Soldatenkov graduated from
Leningrad Institute of Aviation Instrument
Engineering with a degree in radio
engineering.

Since April 2014, he has been member of
the Board of Directors of METALLOINVEST
MC LLC.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: 0.0412%.

From 2003 to April 2012, he was Chief
Executive Officer of MegaFon.

During the year, his share ownership
changed from 0.0128% to 0.0412%.

He has been Member of the Board of
Directors since May 2012 (Chairman of
the Board since June 2012).

Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

Vladimir Y. Streshinsky

Born in 1969.

He is also Chief Executive Officer of LLC USM
Advisors.

Non-executive member of the Board of
Directors;
Chairman of the Finance and Strategy
Committee;
Member of the Remuneration and HR
Development Committee.

Graduated from Moscow Institute of
Physics and Technology in 1992.
Mr Streshinsky is currently a member of
the Board of Directors of JSC Kommersant
Publishing House, LLC Metalloinvest
Management Company, USM Holdings
Limited, Mail.ru Group Limited, UTH
Russia Limited, USM Monaco Limited, and
OJSC CITY.

Lord Paul Myners

Born in 1948.

Independent Member of the Board of
Directors;
Chairman of the Remuneration and HR
Development Committee.

Graduated from the University of London.
He is currently a member of the Board of RIT
Capital Partners, Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Partner at Cevian Capital LLP,
and Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Managing Partner at Autonomous Research
LLP. Lord Myners is also Chairman of the
Board of Platform Acquisition Holdings
Limited and of Nomad Holdings Limited, and
a member of the Global Advisory Board and
Chairman of the London School of Economics
and Political Science. Lord Myners is also

Carl Peter Christian Luiga

Born in 1968.

Non-executive member of the Board of
Directors;
Member of the Finance and Strategy
Committee.

Mr Luiga holds a B.A. in economics from
Stockholm University. He has been Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
TeliaSonera AB1 since April 2014. Currently,
he is Chairman of the Board of Directors of
TeliaSonera Sverge AB, TeliaSonera Asset
Finance, and TeliaSonera Finance AB, and a
member of the Board of Turkcell Holding AS
and TeliaSonera Finland Oyj. Since November
2013, he has been Managing Director and
Chairman of the Board of Directors of
TeliaSonera AsiaHolding BV and Fintur

He has been Member of the Board of
Directors since June 2008.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: 0.012%.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

involved with the UK Government as a
member of the House of Lords and member
of a Parliamentary Committee. He also acts
as a non-executive director of Ecofin Water &
Power Opportunities PLC.
He has been Member of the Board of
Directors since March 2013.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: 0.000484%.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

Holding BV. He is also a Representative
of the Board of Directors of Viveka Luiga
Ekonomibyrå AB and Managing Director of
TeliaSonera UTA Holding BV.
He has been Member of the Board of
Directors since March 2014.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

1 The name of TeliaSonera AB was changed to Telia Company AB. This change is valid from 18 April 2016.
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Participation in committees

7 members
of Board of Directors

3 independent
directors

Finance and Strategy Committee
Remuneration and HR Development
Committee
Audit Committee

Sergey A. Kulikov

Born in 1976.

Independent Member of the Board of
Directors;
Member of the Finance and Strategy
Committee.

In 1999, he graduated from the Military
University of the Ministry of Defence of
the Russian Federation, and in 2009,
obtained a degree in state and municipal
management from the Russian Presidential
Academy of National Economy and
Public Administration. In 2011, Mr Kulikov
presented his thesis to and was awarded
a Candidate of Economic Sciences degree
at the Military Academy of the General
Staff of the RF Armed Forces. Currently, Mr
Kulikov is Executive Director and a member
of the Management Board of Rostec State
Corporation, a member of the Board of
Directors of Yota Holding Limited, and
Chairman of the Board of Directors of OJSC
RT-Global Resources. He has also been a
member of the Management Board of the

Russian Engineering Union since 2008 and
Chief Executive Officer of LLC RT-Business
Development since 2014. Since 2015,
he has been Chairman of the Board of
Directors of LLC RT-Inform and a member
of the Board of Directors of JSC United
Instrument Manufacturing Corporation.
Mr Kulikov is an associate professor at the
Subdepartment of Business and Foreign
Trade Activities at Bauman Moscow State
Technical University.
He has been a Member of the Board of
Directors since March 2014.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

Jan Erik Rudberg

Born in 1945.

Hizmetleri A.S.

Independent Member of the Board of
Directors;
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

He is a graduate of the Gothenburg School
of Business Administration.

He has been Member of the Board of
Directors since June 2010.

Since 2003, he has been a Corporate Advisor
to, and is now Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Hogia AB. Mr Rudberg is also
Chairman of the Board of Kcell JSC and a
member of the Board of Turkcell Iletsisim

Percentage share ownership in the
Company: nil.

Ingrid Maria Stenmark

Born in 1966.

She has been a Member of the Board of
Directors since June 2015.

Non-executive member of the Board of
Directors;
Member of the Audit Committee (since 16
July 2015).

She holds an MSc in Law from Stockholm
University.

Berndt Kenneth Karlberg

Born in 1954.

Non-executive member of the Board of
Directors (until 30 June 2015);
Member of the Audit Committee (until
30 June 2015)

He is a graduate of the Senior Officer
Programme at the Swedish Military
Academy. He is currently the owner and
Managing Director of KarNet AB.

She is Vice President, Head of CEO Office
for TeliaSonera AB’s sole executive body.
Ms Stenmark is also a member of the Board
of Directors of TeliaSonera Asia Holding
B.V., TeliaSonera UTA Holding B.V., Turkcell
Holding A.S., Kcell JSC, Sonera Holding
B.V., and Fintur Holdings B.V.

Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

Percentage share ownership in the
Company: nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

Percentage share ownership in the
Company:nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.

He was a Member of the Board of Directors
since September 2013.

www.megafon.com
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS
In 2015, the Board of Directors held 13
meetings, of which five were face-to-face
meetings, seven were meetings held by
absentee voting, and one strategy session.
The Board of Directors was informed of
the Company’s key operational business
processes, considering in particular the
following matters at its meetings:
●● management reports reviewing quarterly
business performance of the Company
and its rivals;
●● individual reports by Directors on the
state of affairs of specific Company’s
branches and subsidiaries (Ural branch,
Volga branch, North-West branch, OJSC
MegaFon Retail, CJSC MegaLabs);
●● review of the impact of amendments to
the Civil Code and other Russian laws;
●● review of Scartel integration status;
●● alternative views of the Company’s
strategy;
●● the Company’s asset restructuring plans;
●● report on investor perception of the
Company.
At its strategy session, the Board of
Directors reviewed the key business areas
for MegaFon and its business strategy,
and also made recommendations to the
Company’s management to help determine
the direction of further development.
In spring 2015, an independent assessment
of the Board of Directors’ performance and
effectiveness was carried out by “Board
Solutions” at the Board’s initiative in line
with best corporate governance practices.
Based on the results of this assessments,
the Board of Directors identified
certain priority areas for improving its
performance, to be further developed in
a joint effort with the management, in
particular:
●● review of the Company’s approach to
strategic development and identification
of new growth drivers;
●● succession planning and individual
performance assessment by the CEO for
top management;
●● a new approach to designing short-term /
long-term incentive programmes for the
Company’s management.
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BREAKDOWN OF REMUNERATION FOR 2015
Remuneration, RUB m
Chairman of
the Board of
Directors

Independent
members of
the Board of
Directors

Non-independent
members of the
Board of Directors

Remuneration for service on a
management body

4

65

9

Salary

0

0

0

Benefits

0

0

0

Reimbursement of expenses

0

1

0

Bonuses

0

0

0

Long-term incentives

0

0

0

Pension plan contributions

0

0

0

TOTAL REMUNERATION

4

66

9

BOARD REMUNERATION
Our Board members are remunerated
for the performance of their duties.
The amount of remuneration is approved
by the General Meeting of Shareholders
and depends on the actual hours worked
in the previous year. In 2015, the AGM
approved the amount of remuneration
of the Board and payment procedure.
The total amount paid to Board members
in 2015 was RUB 79m.

BOARD COMMITTEES
MegaFon’s three principal Board
Committees provide oversight and
strategic planning in three areas of concern
to the Board of Directors:
●● Audit Committee;
●● Finance and Strategy Committee;
●● Remuneration and HR Development
Committee.

Audit Committee

The Board’s Audit Committee is responsible
for all matters relating to internal and
external audits of the Company’s financial
and business operations.
The Committee’s principal responsibilities
are to:
●● make recommendations regarding
external auditors and fees; resolve issues
arising during audits; and review the work
and performance of internal Auditors;
●● analyse the effectiveness of internal
controls; review reports and
recommendations from the Revision
Committee and internal Auditors; and
review the effectiveness of procedures
of internal control over the Company’s
financial and business operations;
●● continuously evaluate risk management
systems; and make recommendations for
risk response and systems improvement.

Committee members are selected upon
election of a new Board of Directors.
In 2015, the composition of the Board
Committees was approved by the Board of
Directors at its meeting on 16 July.
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As at 31 December 2015, the following
Board Members were members of the Audit
Committee:
●● Jan Erik Rudberg (Chairman);
●● Sergey V. Soldatenkov;
●● Ingrid Maria Stenmark.
In 2015, seven meetings of the Audit
Committee were held.
The key actions taken in 2015 were:
●● review of operation of internal controls;
●● analysis of tax exposures and results of
tax audits;
●● risk identification and operation of the
Company’s risk management system;
●● development of the internal control and
risk management systems;
●● monitoring of the Company’s compliance with
the laws of the Russian Federation and the
UK regarding disclosures and reporting;
●● implementation of the Company’s Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics;
●● consideration of the internal audit reports;
●● approval of the annual internal audit plan;
●● consideration of related-party
transactions relating to business
activities or operations and making
recommendations on their approval for
the Board of Directors;
●● monitoring of development of the
Company’s governance, risk, and
compliance (GRC) system;
●● review of the development and
implementation of the Company’s insider
information protection systems;
●● review of the execution of the action plan
to improve personal data protection.

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Finance and Strategy Committee

The Finance and Strategy Committee
exercises control over the Company’s
strategic development, business planning,
budgeting and investment processes.
The Committee’s principal responsibilities
are to:
●● determine the Company’s strategic
direction, including review of
management reports on progress
towards strategic objectives;
●● agree the Company’s annual budgets
and business plans and oversee their
implementation;
●● oversee the Company’s cash and liquidity
management policies;
●● review and approve the terms of
proposed M&A transactions;
●● review the terms of borrowings and other
financing, and make recommendations on
their approval for the Board of Directors;
●● review the terms of major transactions
and transactions with a cumulative value
exceeding US$ 50,000,000, and make
recommendations on their approval for
the Board of Directors.

Financial
Statements

The key actions taken in 2015 were:
●● approval of the 2016 budget and business
plan;
●● review and approval of acquisitions
by the Company’s subsidiaries, and
recommendations on acquisition of new
assets;
●● review of certain of the Company’s
related-party transactions, including the
approval of loans between the Company
and its subsidiaries;
●● review of transactions with a cumulative
value exceeding US$ 50,000,000,
including facility agreements between
the Company and banks, and agreements
for the supply of telecommunications
equipment.

13

In 2015, the following Board Members
were elected to the Finance and Strategy
Committee:
●● Vladimir Y. Streshinsky (Chairman);
●● Sergey A. Kulikov;
●● Carl Peter Christian Luiga.

BoD meetings
were held in 2015

In 2015, 11 meetings of the Finance and
Strategy Committee were held.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS IN 2015
Meetings of Finance
and Strategy
Committee

Meetings of
Remuneration and HR
Development Committee

7/7

–

8/8

–

11/11

8/8

–

–

8/8

–

11/11

–

–

11/11

–

13/13

7/7

-

–

7/7
BoD member since
30 June 2015

5/5
Committee member
since 16 July 2015

–

–

6/6

2/2

BoD member until
30 June 2015

Committee member
until 30 June 2015

–

–

Meeting of Board of
Directors

Meetings of Audit
Committee

Sergey V. Soldatenkov

13/13

Vladimir Y. Streshinsky

13/13

Lord Paul Myners

13/13

Carl Peter Christian Luiga

13/13

Sergey A. Kulikov

13/13

Jan Erik Rudberg

Director

Ingrid Maria Stenmark

Berndt Kenneth Karlberg
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Remuneration and HR
Development Committee

The principal responsibilities of the
Remuneration and HR Development
Committee are to:
●● assess the performance of the Company’s
Board of Directors;
●● review and make recommendations on
performance targets of the Company, and
make recommendations to the Board on
bonuses and incentive programmes for
the top management team;
●● review personnel remuneration
strategies and make recommendations
to the Board of Directors on employee
bonus programmes;
●● review HR processes for motivating
employees to achieve individual targets
and deliver superior results;
●● review specific HR initiatives and projects;
●● review regular and ad hoc surveys of
employee performance and attitudes.
In 2015, the following Board Members
were elected to the Remuneration and HR
Development Committee:
●● Lord Paul Myners (Chairman);
●● Sergey V. Soldatenkov;
●● Vladimir Y. Streshinsky.
In 2015, eight meetings of the
Remuneration and HR Development
Committee were held.
During the year, the Committee
considered and recommended for the
Board’s approval short- and long-term
incentive programmes for the Company’s
management for 2015. In July 2015, the
long-term incentive programmes were
reviewed and the Board of Directors
approved their revised versions.
The Committee also considered:
●● results of the employee engagement
survey;
●● results of the Company’s CEO and top
management performance assessment;
●● the Company’s talent development policy
based on the organisational climate and
corporate performance survey.

CORPORATE SECRETARY

MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Corporate Secretary acts as the
guarantor of the compliance by the
Company’s management with procedures
and principles that ensure the exercise
of rights and legitimate interests of the
Company’s shareholders.

Providing leadership support to the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief
Operating Officer (COO), the Management
Board is MegaFon’s executive collegial
management body. It is responsible for all
aspects of operational management, apart
from those which fall within the remit of
the General Meeting of Shareholders, the
Board of Directors, and the CEO or COO.

The Corporate Secretary is responsible
for effective communication with our
shareholders, and organises the work
of the Board of Directors and the Board
committees. The Corporate Secretary
ensures that the Company’s management
bodies strictly follow their mandates, and
helps the executive management, the
Board of Directors and the shareholders
interact more effectively.
The Corporate Secretary is elected by
the Board of Directors and reports to it.
MegaFon has stringent requirements for
the person elected to this position. Today,
the role of the Corporate Secretary goes
far beyond its traditionally administrative
remit. It is increasingly outward-focused,
incorporating investor engagement and
corporate communications.
Elena L. Breeva is the Company’s Corporate
Secretary.

Elena L. Breeva
Born in 1979.

In 2003, she graduated from the Moscow
State Law University named after
O.E.Kutafin. In 2010, she graduated from
the Faculty of Economics of the State
University of Management.
Joined MegaFon in 2010. In November
2013, Ms Breeva was appointed the
Corporate Secretary by the Company’s
Board of Directors. She was re-elected
in 2014 and 2015. Ms Breeva also acts as
the Company’s Controller, responsible for
insider information control and security.
Percentage share ownership in the
Company: nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary
shares held: nil.
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The size and composition of the Management
Board are approved annually by the
General Meeting of Shareholders based on
recommendations from the CEO. The CEO is
also the Chairman of the Management Board.
As at 31 December 2015, the composition
of the Management Board was as follows:
●● Ivan V. Tavrin (CEO and Chairman of the
Management Board);
●● Alexander V. Bashmakov;
●● Valery L. Velichko;
●● Gevork A. Vermishyan;
●● Vlad Wolfson;
●● Anait G. Gasparian;
●● Dmitry L. Kononov;
●● Pavel V. Korchagin;
●● Andrey B. Levykin;
●● Konstantin M. Likhodedov;
●● Mikhail I. Molotkov;
●● Alexey B. Semenov;
●● Anna A. Serebryanikova;
●● Alexey L. Tyutin;
●● Evgeny N. Chermashentsev.
Changes made to the composition of the
Management Board during 2015 were as
follows: Mikhail I. Molotkov joined the Board;
and Stanislav A. Frolov and Mikhail A. Dubin
left the Board due to their resignation from
all of their positions with the Company.

15 members
of Management Board
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD,
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

The Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Operating Officer, along with
the Management Board, manage the
Company’s day-to-day operations, except
for the matters reserved to the Company’s
General Meeting of Shareholders or the
Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors determines the
structure and size of remuneration
payable to members of the Company’s
executive management. In 2015, the
aggregate payments to members of the
Management Board, including remuneration
and reimbursement of expenses, totalled
RUB 822m.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Operating Officer are elected by the General
Meeting of Shareholders, which also
determines their terms of office. The Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer are accountable to the Board of
Directors and the General Meeting of
Shareholders.
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Operating Officer act independently from
one another.
At the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 30 June 2015, Ivan
V. Tavrin was re-elected the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer (he was first elected
to this position in April 2012; prior to that,
from 2003 to April 2012, the position of
MegaFon’s Chief Executive Officer had been
held by Sergey V. Soldatenkov).
The Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 30 June 2015 also
approved a new position of the Chief
Operating Officer, and elected Evgeny N.
Chermashentsev to the new position with
a term of office until the date of the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders in 2018.

In 2012 and 2013 the Company’s Board of
Directors approved two long-term incentive
programmes (LTI 2012 and LTI 2013) for
certain key executive and senior level
employees under which the parties selected
to participate are awarded rights to phantom
shares. The maximum number of phantom
shares which could be awarded under each
plan was 1.1% of the share capital of the
Company (or 14 million phantom shares in
the aggregate) at the base price of US$ 17.86
per share under LTI 2012 and US$ 24.25 per
share under LTI 2013.
Each plan had a three year duration
and rights to phantom shares vest, and
payments due to awardees are settled,
in the second and third years. Awardees
receive payments on the basis of the
difference between the base price and the
weighted-average price of the Company’s
shares in the period between January 15
and March 15 in the relevant year of vesting
(the strike price).
In 2015 the Board of Directors of the
Company approved an amendment to the
terms of LTI 2012 and LTI 2013 to change

the base price and the strike price for the
awards outstanding as at 31 December
2014 and 2015 (for which settlement was
due in April-May 2015 and April-May 2016)
to RUB 555 per share and RUB 744 per
share, respectively.
In November 2012, the Board of Directors
approved a long-term incentive plan for the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Under
this plan, Mr Tavrin was granted the right,
exercisable before May 2017, to buy from our
subsidiary, MegaFon Investments (Cyprus)
Limited, shares of MegaFon representing
a 5% stake in the Company at the IPO price
(US$ 20 per share). Mr Tavrin exercised this
right in 2012 and 2013, thereby acquiring
shares representing in the aggregate 2.5%
of the Company’s issued shares.
In March 2014 the Board of Directors of the
Company agreed unanimously to amend the
terms of the CEO long-term incentive plan
and to accelerate the vesting of Mr. Tavrin’s
final two options to acquire a 2.5% interest
in the Company, so that all the remaining
options became exercisable at any time
after 1 May 2014. In addition, the Board
agreed to remove a restriction preventing
Mr Tavrin from holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital until May 2017. On
30 December 2014, Mr Tavrin exchanged
all of the Company shares acquired
pursuant to the exercise of his options
and his unexercised option for 2.5% of the
Company’s shares for a stake in USM Group.

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD IN 2015
Remuneration type

Remuneration amount, RUB m

Salary

240

Benefits

0

Reimbursement of expenses

2

Bonuses and long-term incentives

580

Pension plan contributions

0

Total remuneration

www.megafon.com

822

MEGAFON

99

Governance Bodies (continued)

SHORT BIOGRAPHIES OF MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Ivan V. Tavrin

Alexander V. Bashmakov

Evgeny N. Chermashentsev

Born in 1976.
He graduated from Moscow State Institute of
International Relations in 1998 with a degree in law.
Mr Tavrin has been a member of the Management
Board since 7 March 2012. He was First Deputy CEO
of MegaFon from 19 January 2012 until 20 April
2012, when he became the CEO and Chairman of the
Management Board. He is currently a member of
the Board of Directors at MO-TV Holdings Limited,
LLC 7TV Media Group, LLC CTC Investments, and
LLC Vyberi Radio holding company.
He is also Chairman of the Board of Directors
at UTH Russia Limited and JSC Kommersant
Publishing House. He is also a member of the
Board of Directors and CEO at Media-One
Holdings Limited.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil1.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1984.
He holds a degree in economics with a major in
marketing from Ural State Technical University.
From 2005 to 2008, he worked in strategic
consulting for Accenture; and in 2008–2012, as
analyst and then engagement manager at The
Boston Consulting Group. He joined the Company
in March 2012, and later in the same year was
appointed Director of Strategy. In August 2015, he
was appointed Chief Technological Officer.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2013.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1977.
Mr Chermashentsev graduated from Saratov
State University.
From 2006 to 2007, he was CEO and Development
Director of LLC Regional Media Group. Between
2008 and 2012, as Director of Regional Development,
he was responsible for media asset management at
CJSC Media-1 Management. From 2009 to 2012, he
was CEO of LLC Vyberi Radio. Mr Chermashentsev
joined MegaFon in May 2012 as an adviser to the
Chief Executive Officer. In August 2012, he became
Director of Corporate Business Development, and
in December 2013, Director of Infrastructure. On
1 July 2015, he was appointed Chief Operating Officer
of MegaFon and is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company.
He has been a member of the Management
Board since October 2012.
A member of the Board of Directors of CJSC
PETER-SERVICE and an adviser to CEO of LLC
Scartel since 2015.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Anait G. Gasparian

Dmitry L. Kononov

Pavel V. Korchagin

Born in 1981.
She holds a degree in economics from
St. Petersburg State University.
From 2007 to 2008, she was at Renaissance
Capital as part of its Investment Banking,
Consumer & Retail Group. In 2009, she was
Projects Lead on Operational Effectiveness at
MC Euroset. From 2010 to 2012, she was Director
for Corporate Development at UTH Russia.
She was appointed Director for Corporate
Development at MegaFon in April 2012, and has
been Member of the Management Board since
October of that year.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1964.
He graduated from the University of Colorado,
Denver, with a degree in Financial Accounting.
Joined MegaFon in 2000 and was Chief
Financial Officer from 2002 to 2004. In 2008, Mr
Kononov was appointed Director for Mergers
& Acquisitions, and in 2012, he also became
Director of Investor Relations. From 1993 to
1999, he served as First Deputy General Director
and then as Chief Financial Officer of CJSC “Delta
Telecom”, the first cellular telephone company
in the country. In 1999, he was promoted to
Chief Financial Officer of RTDC, a subsidiary of
US West/MediaOne International (USA), which
incorporated and actively invested in a number
of providers of DAMPS/NMT/GSM services in
certain regions of Russia. In 2000, he became
a consultant to the Board of Directors of First
National Holding SA and Chief Financial Officer of
OJSC “Telecominvest”, subsequently serving as
a member of its board (until 2008).
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2014.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1960.
He graduated from Bauman Moscow State
Technical University with a degree in automated
systems.
From 1993 to 2002, he was a senior engineer
and, later, Head of the Department for
Informatics and Automation of Bank Operations
at Sberbank in Volgograd. From 2002 to 2003, he
was Technical Director and then General Director
of CJSC Volgograd Mobile. He became Technical
Director at CJSC Mobicom-Centre in 2003 and
was appointed First Deputy General Director in
April 2007. In July 2009, Mr Korchagin became
First Deputy Director of the Company’s Central
branch. From September 2011 to December 2014,
he was Director of Central branch. In January
2015, he was appointed Director of Volga branch,
and in February 2016, he was appointed Director
of the Company’s North-West branch.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since November 2011.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

CEO and Management Board Chairman

Director for Corporate Development

Chief Technological Officer

Director, Investor Relations and M&A

Chief Operating Officer

Director of North-West Branch

1 In June and July 2013, Mr Tavrin indirectly acquired a
total of 277,000 Company GDRs.
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Director of Far East Branch

Director of Consumer Business

Konstantin M. Likhodedov

Mikhail I. Molotkov

Born in 1973.
He graduated from Samara State Technical
University with a degree in mechanical
engineering.
From December 2012 to September 2013, he was
Director for Infrastructure at the Company’s
Volga branch, having previously held various
positions there, including First Deputy Director
of the branch, Commercial Director, and Deputy
Commercial Director for Marketing. In September
2013, Mr Levykin was appointed Director of the
Company’s Far East branch.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since October 2013.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1976.
Mr Likhodedov graduated from St. Petersburg
State University of Economics and Finance.
In 2007–2008, he was Deputy CEO of TV-3
channel, and in 2008, Deputy CEO of MTV Russia.
In 2008–2009, he acted as Executive Director
of Vyberi Radio Group. Between 2009 and 2011,
Mr Likhodedov was CEO of 7TV. From November
2011 to May 2012, he was CEO of Disney Channel.
He joined MegaFon in June 2012 as Director of
the Company’s Stolichny branch. In August 2015,
he was also appointed its Director of Consumer
Business. Since September 2015, he has been
a member of the Supervisory Board of Euroset
Holding N.V.and CEO of LLC Scartel.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since October 2012.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1979.
Mr Molotkov graduated from Nizhny Novgorod
State Technical University.
From January 2010 to January 2013, he was
Commercial Director of the Company’s Central
branch; in February 2013, he became Director
of Consumer Business at Central branch. In
January 2015, Mr Molotkov was appointed
Director of MegaFon’s Central branch.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2015.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Alexey B. Semenov

Anna A. Serebryanikova

Alexey L. Tyutin

Director of Stolichny Branch
Born in 1982.
Mr Semenov graduated from Samara State
Academy of Economics.
From 2005 to 2009, he was Director of the
Mary El Republic branch office of OJSC MSSPovolzhie. From 2009 to 2012, he held the
position of Executive Director of CJSC TT mobile,
a subsidiary of MegaFon in Tajikistan. In August
2012, Mr Semenov was appointed Director
of MegaFon’s North-West branch. In August
2015, he was appointed Director of MegaFon’s
Stolichny branch.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since October 2012.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

www.megafon.com

Director of Legal Affairs and Government
Relations
Born in 1974.
She graduated with honours from Moscow State
University, Faculty of Law, and holds a Master of
Law degree from Manchester University.
From 1998 to 2004, Ms Serebryanikova was a
senior legal counsel and department head at
the Non-Commercial Foundation for Enterprise
Restructuring and Financial Institutions
Development under the Ministry of Finance
of the Russian Federation. Between 2004 and
2006, she was a lawyer at J.P. Galmond & Co. In
2006, Ms Serebryanikova became international
legal affairs adviser to MegaFon’s Chief
Executive Officer. In 2008, she was appointed
the Company’s Director of Legal Affairs and held
this position until 2012, when it was renamed
Director of Legal Affairs and Government
Relations. From 2008 to 2013, she also served as
Corporate Secretary, and from 2010 to 2011, she
acted as Deputy CEO for Corporate Development
of CJSC Sinterra.
She has been Member of the Management Board
since January 2009.
From December 2012 to November 2015, was
Member of the Management Board of Euroset
Holding N.V., and since November 2015, she has
been a Member of the Supervisory Board of
Euroset Holding N.V.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Director of Central Branch

Director of Kavkaz (Caucasus) Branch
Born in 1963.
Mr Tyutin holds degrees in industrial and civil
construction from Mikoyan Kuibyshev Institute
of Engineering and Construction, and in
economic and social planning from Samara State
Academy of Economics. He became Head of the
Corporate Finance Department of OJSC MSSPovolzhie in December 2001, and Deputy CEO for
Commercial Affairs of OJSC MSS-Povolzhie in
2004. In April 2009, he was appointed Director
of MegaFon’s Siberia branch. In August 2015, he
was appointed Director of MegaFon’s Kavkaz
(Caucasus) branch.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2009.
In December 2015 was elected to the Board
of Directors of CJSC OSTELECOM and
CJSC Aquafon-GSM.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.
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Governance Bodies (continued)

Valery L. Velichko

Gevork A. Vermishyan

Vlad Wolfson

Born in 1970.
He is a graduate of the Dzerzhinsky Higher
Institute of Border Defence, the Ministry of
Internal Affairs’ Special Police School in Bryansk,
and Urals Academy of Public Administration.
From 2006 to 2009, Mr Velichko was Director
of Security at CJSC Urals GSM. He has been
Director of the Company’s Ural branch since April
2011. Previously, he was Deputy Director and
Director of Security there.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2011.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Born in 1978.
He graduated from the International Economic
Relations Department at the Financial
University under the Government of the Russian
Federation. From 2002 to 2007, he held several
positions at OAO LUKOIL, including Deputy Head
of the Corporate Borrowing Department. From
2007 to July 2011, he was Director of Corporate
Finance / Head of Corporate Debt at Sistema
JSFC. He was appointed Chief Financial Officer of
MegaFon in July 2011.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since November 2011.
Mr Vermishyan has been a member of the
Board of Directors at CJSC TT Mobile and CJSC
OSTELECOM since 2013, and at CJSC AquafonGSM since 2012.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
0.000968%.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: 0.000968%.

Born in 1977.
He graduated from Kyiv National University
of Trade and Economics in Ukraine, and the
University of Haifa in Israel.
Between 2008 and 2010, he was Head of Sales
to small and mid-size business customers at
AO VimpelCom. From 2010 to 2012, Mr Wolfson
served as Vice President of Sales and Marketing
at Medsi Group JSC. Mr Wolfson joined MegaFon
in 2012 as Director for Corporate Clients, and in
December 2013 he was appointed Director for
Corporate Business Development.
He has been Member of the Management Board
since June 2014.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.

Stanislav A. Frolov

Mikhail A. Dubin

Director of Ural Branch

Director of Caucasus Operations and

Member of the Management Board
(until August 2015 when he resigned from all
positions held with the Company)
Born in 1975.
Mr Frolov graduated from Voronezh State
University and All-Russian Distance Learning
Institute of Finance and Economics. From 2009
to 2010, he was Director of Federal State Unitary
Enterprise Rostechinventarization, Federal
Technical Inventory Bureau. In 2011, Mr Frolov
was Managing Director of OJSC Corporation for
the Development of the North Caucasus, and
from 2011 to 2012, CEO of LLC Eurostroy. He
joined MegaFon’s Head Office in 2012, and was
appointed Director of Caucasus Operations in
September 2012.
Mr Frolov was Member of the Management
Board from October 2012 to August 2015.
He was a member of the Board of Directors of
CJSC OSTELECOM and CJSC Aquafon-GSM from
December 2013 to December 2015, a member of
the Board of Director of CJSC TT mobile from
December 2014 to December 2015.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.
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Chief Financial Officer

Director for Corporate Business Development

Executive Director for Consumer Business and
Member of the Management Board
(until August 2015 when he resigned from all
positions held with the Company)
Born in 1978.
Mr Dubin holds a degree in international
economics from the Financial University under
the Government of the Russian Federation and
a PhD in economics. Between 1999 and 2007,
he held various positions at Sberbank, dealing
with project financing in the telecommunications
sector. From 2009 to 2010, he was Deputy
CEO of LLC AF Telecom Holding and OJSC
Telecominvest. He joined MegaFon in July 2010
as First Deputy Executive Director for Strategic
Development. In October 2012, he was appointed
Executive Director for Consumer Business. In
addition, from April to August 2015 he was CEO
of LLC Scartel.
Mr Dubin was Member of the Management Board
from November 2010 to August 2015.
Percentage share ownership in the Company:
nil.
Percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares
held: nil.
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Control Bodies
Effectiveness and accountability underpin MegaFon’s corporate governance principles.
To ensure such effectiveness and accountability in our operations, the Company has
a number of dedicated bodies and internal controls in place.
REVISION COMMISSION
The Revision Commission is elected annually
by the General Meeting of Shareholders to
control MegaFon’s financial and business
operations. The Commission members
cannot be members of the Board or other
management bodies of the Company. The
Revision Commission cannot have more than
three members. The current members of
the Revision Commission are: Pavel Kaplun
(Chairman), Managing Director, Head of the
Investment and Analytical Department at
LLC USM Advisors; Yuri Zheimo, Director
of Internal Audit at MegaFon; and Sami
Haavisto, Senior Business Controller at
TeliaSonera Eurasia.
More information on the powers of the
Revision Commission is available on
the Company’s website at
http://ir.megafon.com/ai/
document/3597/file/Regulations_on_
Revision_Commission_2008.pdf.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Company’s Internal Audit team reports
administratively to the Chief Executive
Officer, and functionally to the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors. Its
operations are based on the Regulations
on Internal Audit approved by the Board
of Directors, as well as the International
Standards for the Professional Practice of
Internal Auditing. The Company’s branches
and MegaFon Retail have their own Internal
Audit teams, which in turn report to the
Internal Audit team at the Company’s
headquarters. The Internal Audit team
provides assurance to and advises on
the Company’s operational processes,
including procurement, investment,
construction, customer service, processes
for external and internal reporting, IT and
information security systems, as well as
participates in the development of various
internal procedures.

www.megafon.com

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The internal control system in place
at MegaFon is a set of organisational
measures, policies, instructions and
procedures designed to ensure the
preparation of reliable financial statements
and compliance with statutory/
regulatory requirements in this area. The
effectiveness of this system is maintained
through the following actions:
●● updating codes and standards relating
to the internal control system and its
functioning;
●● regular monitoring of the quality of
control procedures execution;
●● regular surveys of key process owners on
the effectiveness of internal controls;
●● analysis of business processes and
related risks to verify the effectiveness of
performance of internal controls in these
processes;
●● annual testing of key control procedures
on a sample basis.
In 2015, as part of our efforts to further
develop the Company’s internal control
system (ICS), MegaFon adopted a unified
methodology for the performance of
ICS activities designed to regulate
the Company’s actions and aimed at
maintaining the effectiveness of internal
controls.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
MegaFon engages independent
external auditors to audit the annual
financial statements and review the
quarterly financial statements. The
Audit Committee makes an annual
assessment of prospective auditors and
makes recommendations to the General
Meeting of Shareholders (in particular,
recommendations regarding the auditors’
fees). The selected independent auditors
are then approved by the General Meeting
of Shareholders.
The Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 30 June 2015
approved JSC KPMG as the Company’s
external auditors.
The Company had not previously engaged
JSC KPMG to audit its consolidated
accounting statements. The total fees paid
to JSC KPMG for its audit services provided
during 2015 amounted to RUB 58m, and
RUB 38m were paid for non-audit services.
JSC KPMG was engaged to provide nonaudit services due to its knowledge and
understanding of MegaFon’s business.
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Information Disclosure. Insider Information Protection

Compliance is the foundation of MegaFon’s
corporate governance system. MegaFon
complies with regulations relating to jointstock companies, including the provisions
of Russia’s Federal Law On Joint-Stock
Companies. Since the Company has a
listing on the London Stock Exchange
(LSE), it is required to comply with the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of
the UK Financial Conduct Authority for
“standard” companies, and the LSE Listing
Rules.
For each fiscal year ending 31 December,
MegaFon publishes audited consolidated
financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS and also provides
unaudited consolidated financial
statements under IFRS at the end of the
first, second and third fiscal quarters.
The Company places announcements of
its financial results, as well as notices
of upcoming General Meetings of
Shareholders and other important and
price-sensitive information, on the LSE
website via its Regulatory News Service
(RNS), and in Russia via an authorised
information agency, Interfax. These
announcements are followed by the
publication of press releases on the
corporate website at corp.megafon.com/
investors/.
Information disclosed under Russian
and UK regulations is published via
authorised agencies in Russia and
the UK, and also on the corporate
website at corp.megafon.com/
investors/news/capital_market_
releases/ and/or corp.megafon.ru/
investoram/raskrytie_informatsii/
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As a public company listed on Russian
and UK stock exchanges, MegaFon
understands that prevention of illegal
uses of its considerable amounts of insider
information is a top priority.
The Company consistently implements
safeguards to ensure the security of
insider information, making improvements
to its data security framework every
year. As part of these efforts, in 2012, the
Board of Directors approved a number of
regulations on the use of the Company’s
insider information. In the period 2013 –
2015 MegaFon implemented additional
internal procedures to restrict access to

insider information and insider information
protection tools, including those applicable
for mobile devices.
MegaFon plans to continue to further
develop its insider information protection
system and roll out additional protection
tools. MegaFon will also continue to
provide training and follow up testing
for Company employees to raise staff
awareness of insider information security,
which is critical to our business.
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Shareholders’ Equity
CHARTER CAPITAL

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

MegaFon’s charter capital consists
of 620,000,000 ordinary registered
uncertified shares, each with a par value
of RUB 0.1. The Company is authorised to
issue 100,000,000,000 additional ordinary
shares. MegaFon has no preferred shares.
All issues of ordinary registered uncertified
shares have been combined into one issue
with the state number 1-03-00822-J. The
Government does not hold any shares in
the Company.

MEGAFON SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

In connection with its IPO held in
November 2012 (see below), MegaFon
created a global depositary receipt (GDR)
programme under which ordinary shares
may be converted into an equal number of
GDRs. Each GDR represents an interest in
one ordinary share. Holders of GDRs have
essentially the same rights as holders of
ordinary shares in terms of participation in
general shareholders meetings and receipt
of dividends.
As at 31 December 2015, MegaFon’s major
shareholders were USM Group, which
jointly held 56.32% of the Company’s
charter capital, and TeliaSonera Group1,
which held 25.17% of the Company’s
charter capital.
The holdings of the major shareholders
of MegaFon have not changed during the
reporting year.

USM Group

TeliaSonera
Group

56.32%

25.17%

3.92%

Free float

100%

14.59%

The structure above does not reflect the formal ownership structure because, for the sake of simplicity, it omits
intermediate companies through which shares may be held.

SHAREHOLDERS’ HOLDINGS IN MEGAFON AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015.
Shareholder

Holding,
total

Ordinary
shares

GDRs

USM Group

56.32%

53.66%

2.66%

TeliaSonera Group

25.17%

25.00%

0.17%

MegaFon Investments (Cyprus Limited)
Free float
Total

Presence on the stock exchange and
share price performance

MegaFon shares
on the Highest
Quotation List
of MOEX since 2014

MegaFon
Investments
(Cyprus
Limited)

In November 2012, MegaFon conducted an
initial public offering (IPO) on the Moscow
Exchange and London Stock Exchange.
The offering price was US$ 20 per ordinary
share / GDR. The total offering size was
US$ 1.8bn, including the exercise of an
overallotment option. A total of 2,153,000
ordinary shares and 89,326,500 GDRs were
sold in the offering. This implied a market
capitalisation for MegaFon of US$ 11.2bn
on the listing date.

3.92%

0.00%

3.92%

14.59%

0.72%

13.87%

100.00%

79.39%

20.61%

MegaFon’s GDRs are traded on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.
MegaFon’s ordinary shares are traded on
the Moscow Exchange. They are included
in the highest (Level I) Quotation List of
the Moscow Exchange, which highlights
the high standards of our corporate
governance and consistently high liquidity
of our shares. The Company’s ordinary
shares were initially included in Quotation
List C; on 19 August 2013, they were
admitted to trading on Quotation List B;
and since late April 2014, they traded on
Quotation List A2.

1 The name of TeliaSonera Group was changed to TeliaCompany
Group. This change is valid from 18 April 2016.

www.megafon.com
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Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

TRADING SUMMARY OF MEGAFON’S GDRS AND ORDINARY SHARES
Global Depositary Receipt

Ordinary Shares

Exchange

London Stock Exchange (LSE)

Exchange

Moscow Exchange

Market

Main Market

Listing level

First Level Quotation List

Listing category

Standard GDRs

Security type/category

Ordinary share

Trading start date

28 November 2012

Stock ticker symbol

MFON

Nominal value, RUB

0.10

Index inclusion

MICEX Index,
Moscow Exchange Broad Market Index,
Moscow Exchange Telecoms Index

Type of depository
receipt

144A, Reg S

Admission to trading /
listing date

3 December 2012

Stock ticker symbol

MFON LI

Conversion ratio

1 GDR represents 1 ordinary share

Index inclusion

MSCI Russia,
FTSE Russia IOB

PERFORMANCE OF MEGAFON’S GDRS IN 2015, US$

PERFORMANCE OF MEGAFON’S ORDINARY SHARES IN 2015, RUB
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1,200
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MegaFon, GDRs
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aug

sep

oct

nov

dec

jan

MSCI Russia Index, rebased

TRADING STATISTICS FOR MEGAFON’S GDRS
ON THE LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE, 2015

Average daily trading volume, shares traded

mar apr may

jun

jul

sep
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dec

MICEX Index, rebased

Indicator
7.6
520,035

Average daily trading volume, RUB m

60.08

Average daily trading volume, shares traded
Average number of trades per day

52-week high, US$

aug

TRADING STATISTICS FOR MEGAFON’S ORDINARY SHARES
ON THE MOSCOW EXCHANGE, 2015

Indicator
Average daily trading volume, US$ m

feb

MegaFon, ordinary shares

68,436
894

19.0

52-week high, RUB

1,085

11.4

52-week low, RUB

725

Period-end price, US$

11.65

Period-end price, RUB

850

Period-end market capitalisation, US$ m

7,223

Period-end market capitalisation, RUB bn

527

52-week low, US$
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Bonds
BOND ISSUES
During 2015, two issues of rouble-denominated exchange bonds
of PJSC MegaFon of the series BO-04 and BO-05, as well as
three bond issues of MegaFon Finance LLC, 100% subsidiary of
PJSC MegaFon, of the series 05, 06 and 07 were outstanding.

In May 2015, the Company completed an early repayment of the
entire issue of the series BO-04 rouble-denominated exchange
bonds for the total amount of RUB 15bn. In October 2015,
MegaFon placed an issue of its series BO-05 exchange bonds in
the total amount of RUB 15bn at a coupon rate of 11.4% p.a. for a
2-year period.

ROUBLE BOND ISSUES OUTSTANDING IN 2015

1

Issuer

MegaFon
Finance LLC

MegaFon
Finance LLC

MegaFon
Finance LLC

PJSC MegaFon

PJSC MegaFon

Issue number

Series 051

Series 06

Series 07

Series BO-04
exchange-traded
bonds

Series BO-05
exchange-traded
bonds

Coupon, % per annum

Coupons 1–4 – 8.05%
Coupons 5–7 – 9.85%

Coupons 1–10 –
8.00%

Coupons 1–10 –
8.00%

Coupons 1–2 –
9.45%

Coupons 1–4 –
11.4%

Coupon period

182 days

182 days

182 days

182 days

182 days

Issue size, RUB

10,000,000,000

10,000,000,000

10,000,000,000

15,000,000,000

15,000,000,000

Placement date

11 October 2012

13 March 2013

13 March 2013

20 May 2014

23 October 2015

Maturity date:

29 September 2022

01 March 2023

01 March 2023

19 May 2015

10 October 2025

Earliest put option date

07 April 2016

07 March 2018

07 March 2018

repaid in full in May
2015

20 October 2017

State registration number

4-05-36027-R

4-06-36027-R

4-07-36027-R

4B02-04-00822-J

4B02-05-00822-J

ISIN code

RU000A0JT4G6

RU000A0JTR98

RU000A0JTRA9

RU000A0JUMD2

RU000A0JVVB5

8,249,296 bonds in the amount of RUB 8, 249,296,000 were purchased in October 2014 pursuant to a mandatory put option following a coupon rate revision on 24 September 2014.
A further 1,636,213 bonds in the amount of RUB 1,636,213 000 were purchased in April 2016 under a mandatory put option following a coupon rate reset on 23 March 2016. The
remaining 114,491 bonds in the amount of RUB 114,491,000 were not paid off as at the date of this report.

MEGAFON’S CREDIT RATINGS
As at 31 December 2015, the following credit ratings were assigned to the Company by international rating agencies:
Rating type

Rating

Rating outlook

Last review date

Foreign currency long-term rating

BB+

Negative

04 February 2015

Local currency long-term rating

BBB-

Negative

04 February 2015

Ba1

Stable

04 December 2015

Standard and Poor’s

Moody’s
Long-term corporate credit rating

In February 2015, Standard & Poor’s (S&P) confirmed MegaFon’s
long-term local currency rating and changed its long-term
foreign currency rating. S&P affirmed its ‘BBB-’ local currency
rating on the Company, noting that MegaFon’s profitability was
above the industry average and the Company stood out for its
well-balanced borrowing policy, sufficient liquidity and ability to
service its debts. At the same time, S&P downgraded MegaFon’s
foreign currency rating to ‘BB+’, following its assessment of risks
associated with foreign currency payments.

www.megafon.com

In February 2015, Moody’s downgraded Russia’s sovereign credit
rating to ‘Ba1’, while setting the country ceiling for ratings of
Russian companies at ‘Ba1’. Following this revision, Moody’s
changed MegaFon’s long-term corporate family rating to the
said level, with a negative outlook. In December 2015, Moody’s
changed MegaFon’s outlook to stable following its revision of
Russia’s government bond rating outlook.
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Interactions with Investors
MegaFon is primarily focused
on ensuring maximum clarity
and transparency in its
communications with the
Company’s shareholders and
the investment community
generally, all in conformity with
Russian and English laws, as well
as international best practice.

In 2015, MegaFon took the following actions to make
communication with the investment community more complete
and transparent:
1. Prepared and published reports on the Company’s financial and
operational results under IFRS for FY2014 and Q1–Q3 2015.
The disclosure of quarterly results was accompanied by
conference calls and webcasts with analysts and investors in
which the Company’s top management participated.
2. Prepared and published the Company’s 2014 Annual Report.
3. Participated in eight conferences organised by international
and Russian investment banks, where meetings with
representatives of over 150 institutional investors were held.
4. Held on-site one-on-one meetings and site-visit group meetings
with representatives of 50 international and Russian investors.
5. Organised and conducted two roadshows to meet institutional
investors based in the United States.

Prepared and published
reports on financial and
operational results

Organized non-deal
roadshow

Meetings with
investors at investment
conferences

4

2

50

8

operational
and financial reports

events with institutional
investors in the US

international
and Russian investors

conferences

4
conference calls
and webcasts

To support our interactions with MegaFon's shareholders we
have the "For Investors" section on the corporate websites:
corp.megafon.com (English version) and corp.megafon.ru (Russian
version), featuring mandatory disclosure documents, corporate
documents, the Company’s financial statements under IFRS and
RAS, information about the ordinary shares and GDRs, share price
information, and a calendar of key corporate events and activities.
In 2015, MegaFon was awarded a prize at the XVIII Annual Report
Competition, organised by the Moscow Exchange and RCB Media
Group, for the Best Annual Report in the Telecommunications
Industry category. In making its award, the jury cited its highly
illustrative content and detailed disclosure of information to
investors and customers.
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one-on-one meetings

MEGAFON

150
investors

The Company’s 2014 Annual Report was also shortlisted in two
categories of the prestigious Best Practice Awards by the UK
Investor Relations Society.
In 2015 – early 2016, the Company’s GDRs were regularly covered
by analysts at 18 investment banks.

Information on the analysts covering the Company’s GDRs and
publishing reports on a regular basis is available on the corporate
IR website at corp.megafon.com/investors/stock_and_capital/
analyst_coverage/.
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Dividends
DIVIDEND POLICY
In accordance with the Company’s dividend
policy approved in 2012, the General
Meeting of Shareholders approves the
amount of dividend to be disbursed,
based on a recommendation by the
Board of Directors (following preliminary
determinations by the CEO). The amount
will depend on the financial results, the
cash needed by the Company to develop its
business, implement its strategy and meet
its obligations, and any other factors that
the Board of Directors believes relevant,
including the impact on the Company’s
investment-grade credit ratings.
The Company aims to pay at least 50% of
adjusted net profit or 70% of adjusted cash
flow (whichever is greater) in dividends

annually. The target pay-out percentages
may be adjusted upwards or downwards
by the Board of Directors as needed to
maintain a capital structure based on a net
debt/adjusted OIBDA ratio of 1.2–1.5.

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS
The Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 30 June 2015
approved the payment of RUB 10bn
in dividends for FY2014 (RUB 16.13
per share or GDR). The Extraordinary
General Meeting of Shareholders held on
11 December 2015 approved the payment
of RUB 40bn in dividends for the first
9 months of 2015 (RUB 64.51 per share or
GDR). As a result, the dividends distributed
in 2015 totalled RUB 50bn.

The procedure for the payment of dividends
is as follows. The Company transfers
dividends to its direct shareholders and
registered nominee holders listed in the
Company's register as shareholders as of
the respective record dates.
The nominee holders then distribute the
dividends to sub-nominees at the next
levels (including the Bank of New York
Mellon, as depositary under the Company’s
GDR programme), and asset management
companies, funds, trustees and other
nominee holders, who are then responsible
for the distribution of dividends to persons
on their books shown as entitled to receive
dividends.

DIVIDEND HISTORY
Year
Dividend accrual period
Dividends paid for the period, RUB bn
Total dividends distributed in the calendar year, RUB bn
DPS, RUB
Record date
Dividend payment dates 3
Dividend payout ratio 4
1
2
3
4

2012

2013

2014

2015

9 months1
33.59
–
54.17
21 May 2013
22 July 2013
96%

12 months
46.412
40.00
74.85
11 July 2014
06 August 2014
90%

12 months
10.00
40.00
16.13
13 July 2015
17 August 2015
27%

9 months
40.00
50.00
64.51
22 December 2015
03 February 2016
119%

Q2–Q4 2012
Of which RUB 6.41bn in dividends for Q1 2013 were approved by the Annual General Meeting of MegaFon’s Shareholders on 28 June 2013, along with the dividends for 2012, and paid
out on 22 July 2013.
Date of official disclosure of the dividend payment at the London Stock Exchange
Total dividend as a percentage of profit for the same financial year (in accordance with IFRS) attributable to equity holders of the Company.

TAXATION OF DIVIDENDS
Under the Russian tax legislation, dividend
income received by shareholders is subject
to Russian income tax at the following
rates:
●● tax at the rate of 13% is payable on the
dividend income received by Russian
tax residents (both companies and
individuals)
●● tax at the rate of 15% is payable on the
dividend income received by non-Russian
tax residents (both companies and
individuals). This rate may be reduced in
accordance with the provisions of effective
Double Tax Treaties signed between Russia
and the countries of residence of the
beneficial owners of dividends.
The above tax is determined, withheld and paid
to the Russian Treasury by the tax agent upon
each payment of dividends, i.e. by MegaFon in
relation to dividends paid to the shareholders
whose rights to the shares are accounted for
in the Company’s securities register, and by a
Russian depository in other cases.

www.megafon.com

To benefit from a reduced tax rate
envisaged by a Double Tax Treaty a foreign
shareholder who is the beneficial owner
of the dividend income, must provide to
the tax agent a certificate confirming
his/her residence in the country which
concluded the relevant Double Tax Treaty
with Russia. The above certificate must be
duly notarised by the competent authority
and provided to the tax agent prior to the
dividend payment date.
Special rules apply to shareholders who
hold MegaFon’s shares or GDRs through
foreign nominee holders. In this case, the
depository withholds income tax at the
standard rate prescribed by the Russian
Tax Code or by the Double Tax Treaty (if
applicable). Should the Double Tax Treaty
provide for an additional reduction in the
tax rate subject to certain criteria being
met, such reduced rates are not applied.

Shareholders may subsequently claim a
refund of excess tax withheld and paid to
the Russian Treasury by the tax agent by
providing to the Russian tax authorities
documents confirming their entitlement to
a reduced rate of income tax. Such a refund
claim may be submitted within three years
following the year of the dividend payment.
MegaFon aims to comply with the legislation
affecting payment of dividends as directed
by its professional advisers. In the absence
of sufficient evidence confirming that a
different tax rate is applicable, MegaFon
intends to withhold income tax on dividends
at the standard rates listed above.
MegaFon recommends that shareholders
consult their tax advisers about possible
legitimate ways to minimise their exposure
to the Russian income tax on dividends to
which they may be entitled.

MEGAFON
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Directors’ Responsibility
Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing annual accounts for each of the financial years
of the Company, and to ensure that they present fairly, in all material respects, the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company.
The Board of MegaFon confirms that to the best of its knowledge:
1. The consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as of 31 December 2015 and 2014, and also for the years
ended on those dates, including the consolidated statements of financial position,
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, cash flows, changes in equity and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects,
the state of affairs of MegaFon in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
2. The Business Review contained in MegaFon’s Annual Report for 2015 gives a fair view of
the performance of the business, and specifically the operational results of MegaFon,
of its efforts to meet its strategic objectives, and of the risks and uncertainties faced by
the business, as well as other events which in the near future may have an impact on
the operations of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

SERGEY V. SOLDATENKOV
Chairman of the Board
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JSC “KPMG”
10 Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya
Moscow, Russia 123317

Telephone: +7 (495) 937 4477
Fax: +7 (495) 937 4400/99
Internet: www.kpmg.ru

Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
PJSC MegaFon
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PJSC MegaFon (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 2015, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Сonsolidated Financial Statements Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Russian Federal Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

AKYLBEK Y. A.
Director, power of attorney dated 16 March 2015 No. 77/15
JSC “KPMG”
16 March 2016
Moscow, Russian Federation

Entity: PJSC MegaFon
Registered by Committee of external economic relations under the
Saint Petersburg Town Council on 17 June 1993, Registration No.
АОL 51-92.
Entered in the Unied State Register of Legal Entities on 15 July 2002
by Saint Petersburg Central District Inspectorate of the Ministry for
Taxes and Duties of the Russian Federation, Registration No.
1027809169585, Certicate series 78 No. 004009033.
30 Kadashevskaya Emb., Moscow 115035.
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Independent auditor: JSC “KPMG”, a company incorporated under the
Laws of the Russian Federation, a member rm of the KPMG network
of independent member rms aliated with KPMG International
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
Registered by the Moscow Registration Chamber on 25 May 1992,
Registration No. 011.585.
Entered in the Unied State Register of Legal Entities on 13 August
2002 by the Moscow Inter-Regional Tax Inspectorate No.39 of the
Ministry for Taxes and Duties of the Russian Federation, Registration
No. 1027700125628, Certicate series 77 No. 005721432.
Member of the Non-commercial Partnership “Chamber of Auditors of
Russia”. The Principal Registration Number of the Entry in the State
Register of Auditors and Audit Organisations: No.10301000804.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(In millions of Rubles)

Years ended 31 December
Note

Revenue

2.1

2015

2014

313,383

314,795

84,410

84,629

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing expenses

2.2

18,122

16,456

General and administrative expenses

2.3

78,494

75,190

Depreciation

3.1, 3.8

48,173

47,431

Amortisation

3.2

7,313

7,827

913

1,437

237,425

232,970

Operating profit

75,958

81,825

Finance costs

(14,779)

(13,792)

2,508

1,155

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total operating expenses

Finance income
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures

3.3

(649)

(516)

Other non-operating loss

5.2

(2,949)

(1,370)

1,502

(50)

Foreign exchange loss, net

(10,041)

(16,884)

Profit before tax

51,550

50,368

12,334

13,368

39,216

37,000

Gain/(loss) on financial instruments, net

Income tax expense
Profit for the year

3.4.3

2.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
(In millions of Rubles, except per share amounts)

Years ended 31 December
Note

2015

2014

(1,068)

(1,288)

(2)

297

Other comprehensive income/(loss) items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Foreign currency translation difference, net of tax of nil
Net movement on cash flow hedges, net of tax

3.4.3

Net other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

(1,070)

(991)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

38,146

36,009

39,041

36,726

175

274

39,216

37,000

38,247

36,055

(101)

(46)

38,146

36,009

Profit for the year
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Attributable to non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Attributable to non-controlling interest

Earnings per share, Rubles
Basic, profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company

2.5

66

63

Diluted, profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company

2.5

66

63

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(In millions of Rubles)

As of 31 December
Note

2015

2014

Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets, other than goodwill
Goodwill
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Non-current financial assets
Non-current non-financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

3.1
3.2.1
3.2.2
3.3
3.4
3.7
2.4

234,417
61,800
33,909
47,885
4,102
2,894
832
385,839

224,655
57,427
32,292
34,944
2,863
2,053
782
355,016

Current assets
Inventory
Current non-financial assets
Prepaid income taxes
Trade and other receivables
Other current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

3.6
3.7
2.4
3.5
3.4
3.4.1

8,684
6,649
2,641
21,156
26,973
17,449
83,552

6,484
5,161
3,713
16,260
48,887
22,223
102,728

469,391

457,744

4

147,898
(147)
147,751

157,689
144
157,833

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Other non-current financial liabilities
Non-current non-financial liabilities
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

3.4
3.4
3.7
3.8
2.4

172,643
5,033
2,435
4,603
20,358
205,072

156,319
1,270
1,712
4,958
19,572
183,831

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Other current financial liabilities
Current non-financial liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities

3.4
3.4
3.4
3.7
2.4

45,961
47,037
2,900
20,567
103
116,568

36,549
51,149
7,731
20,493
158
116,080

469,391

457,744

Assets

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(In millions of Rubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Ordinary shares
Note

As of 1 January
2014

Treasury shares

Number of
shares Amount

620,000,000

Number of
shares

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

526 46,940,089 (33,588) 12,567

157,986

Amount

Other
capital
reserves
(Note 4)

Noncontrolling
Total
interests

543 138,034

Total
equity

271 138,305

Net profit

—

—

—

—

—

36,726

—

36,726

274

37,000

Other
comprehensive loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(671)

(671)

(320)

(991)

36,726

(671)

36,055

(46)

36,009

Total
comprehensive
income
Dividends
Share-based
compensation

4

—

—

—

—

—

(38,428)

5.1

— (38,428)

— (38,428)

—

—

—

—

—

—

689

689

—

689

Settlement of
convertible debt

—

— (22,641,056)

16,201

—

5,138

—

21,339

—

21,339

Contribution of noncontrolling interest

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

51

51

Dividends to noncontrolling interests

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(132)

(132)

(17,387) 12,567

161,422

As of 31 December
2014

620,000,000

526 24,299,033

561 157,689

144 157,833

Net profit

—

—

—

—

—

39,041

—

39,041

175

39,216

Other
comprehensive loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(794)

(794)

(276)

(1,070)

Total
comprehensive
income

—

—

—

—

—

39,041

(794)

38,247

(101)

38,146

Dividends

—

—

—

—

—

(48,038)

Contribution of noncontrolling interest

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

7

7

Dividends to noncontrolling interests

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(197)

(197)

(17,387) 12,567

152,425

As of 31 December
2015

4

620,000,000

526 24,299,033

— (48,038)

(233) 147,898

— (48,038)

(147) 147,751

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In millions of Rubles)

Years ended 31 December
Note

Operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
(Gain)/loss on financial instruments, net
Net foreign exchange loss
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Change in impairment allowance for receivables and other non-financial assets
Finance costs
Finance income
Equity-settled share-based compensation
Working capital adjustments:
(Increase)/decrease in inventory
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in current non-financial assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Decrease in current non-financial liabilities
Change in VAT, net
Income tax received
Income tax paid
Interest received
Interest paid, net of interest capitalised
Net cash flows from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of interest in joint venture and of loans receivable
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Escrow cash deposit
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration
Net change in short-term demand deposits
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings, net of fees paid
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Payment of liability for marketing related licences
Other
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

3.1
3.2

3.3

3.3
5.3
5.3

4

3.4.1

2015

2014

51,550

50,368

48,173
7,313
913
(1,502)
10,041
649
2,100
14,779
(2,508)
—

47,431
7,827
1,437
50
16,884
516
1,398
13,792
(1,155)
689

(2,188)
(6,405)
(1,692)
6,040
(1,788)
(1,121)
619
(11,095)
2,571
(13,100)
103,349

1,900
(6,048)
(416)
(2,314)
273
2,122
427
(10,052)
1,183
(12,009)
114,303

(64,455)
304
(15,759)
(1,495)
(690)
(9,046)
32,033
(59,108)

(58,146)
751
—
(189)
—
(36,330)
165
(93,749)

68,007
(75,299)
(48,038)
(197)
—
7
(55,520)

48,522
(22,868)
(38,428)
(132)
(184)
51
(13,039)

(11,279)
6,505
22,223
17,449

7,515
4,769
9,939
22,223

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(In millions of Rubles)

1.

General

1.1. About the Company
Public Joint Stock Company MegaFon (“MegaFon”, the “Company” and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a
company incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation (“Russia”) and registered in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities
under number 1027809169585. Its registered office is at 30 Kadashevskaya Embankment, Moscow, 115035, Russian Federation.
MegaFon is a leading integrated telecommunications operator in Russia and provides a broad range of voice, data and other
telecommunication services to retail customers, businesses, government clients and other telecommunication services providers.
MegaFon lists its ordinary shares on the Moscow Exchange and its ordinary shares represented by Global Depositary Receipts, or GDRs,
on the London Stock Exchange, in each case under the symbol ‘‘MFON’’.
As of 31 December 2015, the Group is primarily owned by USM Group, an indirect controlling shareholder, and TeliaSonera Group,
another major shareholder with significant influence over the Group, whose parent is a publicly owned Swedish company.

1.2. Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, unless disclosed otherwise. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in millions of Rubles, except for per share amounts which are in Rubles or unless otherwise
indicated.
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Accountant
on 16 March 2016.
Foreign currency translation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Rubles, which is also the functional currency of PJSC MegaFon and its
principal subsidiaries.
The functional currency of TT-Mobile, the Company’s 75% owned subsidiary in Tajikistan, is the US dollar as a majority of its revenues,
costs, property and equipment purchases, debt and trade liabilities is either priced, incurred, payable or otherwise measured in US
dollars.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or fair value measurement where items are re-measured to their fair value. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the ‘Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net’ line in profit or loss.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Rubles at the rate of exchange prevailing on the reporting date and
their statements of comprehensive income are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. The exchange
differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).

1.3. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2015.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1.4. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements required management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and the accompanying disclosures. Subsequent revisions or corrections made of these assumptions and estimates hereafter could
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made various judgments. Those which management has
assessed to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements have been discussed
in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items: revenue, income taxes, property and equipment, intangible assets,
investments in associates and joint ventures, financial assets and liabilities, provisions, share-based compensation, and business
combinations.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are also
described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

1.5. Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies have been discussed in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
During 2015 the Group applied a number of amendments to accounting standards for the first time which do not have a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. These amendments are described below:
IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations – Amendments to IFRS 11
The amendments require the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business, as defined in IFRS 3,
Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting and disclosure in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs
except for those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11. The amendments did not impact the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
The amendments clarify that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because
revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the
economic benefits embodied in the asset. The amendments did not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Improvements to IFRSs (September 2014)
The amendments issued as a result of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle introduced relatively minor changes to
clarify guidance in existing standards. The amendments did not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

1.6. Standards issued but not yet effective
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, and are applicable to the Group, are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they become
effective unless otherwise stated below.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, a common revenue recognition guidance that replaces
the following previous revenue recognition standards: IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty
Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31,
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
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1.6. Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
During 2015 the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15, which deferred the effective date of the Standard by one year to 1 January 2018.
Early application is permitted. The Standard provides a choice of transition methods.
The Group is currently evaluating the possible effect of the Standard on its consolidated financial statements and the best date for its
adoption, as well as the transition method to be used.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014 the IASB completed its process to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, with the issuance
of the final amendments to IFRS 9. IFRS 9 (July 2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier
application is permitted. IFRS 9 (July 2014) should be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors. IFRS 9 (July 2014) should not be applied to items that have been derecognised at the date of initial
application.
The Group will adopt IFRS 9 (July 2014) from 1 January 2018. The Group is evaluating the effect of the standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases
In January 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and replaces previous guidance on leases. The Standard requires lessees to present right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases (with limited exceptions).
The Standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities
that apply IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.
A lessee should apply IFRS 16 to its leases either: (a) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented applying IAS 8;
or (b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 recognised at the date of initial application.
The Group is currently evaluating the possible effect of the Standard on its consolidated financial statements, the best date for its
adoption and the transition method to be used.
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
In September 2014 the IASB issued, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture –
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, which contains narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and
IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The main consequence of the amendments is that full gain or loss is recognised
when a transaction involves a business (whether it is held in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are held in a subsidiary.
Originally, the amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. In December 2015 the IASB issued
amendments which extended the effective date to a date to be determined by the IASB. The Group does not expect these amendments
to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
In December 2014 the IASB issued, Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 1, which gave more guidance on disclosing information in
the financial statements, presenting the line items and aggregating information in the financial statements, including the notes, and
ordering and grouping of the notes. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Group
will adopt them from that date. The amendments affect presentation and disclosure only and have no impact on the Group’s financial
position or performance.
IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
In February 2016 the IASB issued, Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7, which requires companies to provide information about
changes in their financing liabilities. The amendments will help investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including changes from cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017. The Group will adopt them from that date. The amendments affect presentation and disclosure only and have no
impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.

Income Statement

2.1. Revenue
Accounting policies
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for the sale of
goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities, net of value added taxes, returns and discounts.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the applicable entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The
Group bases its estimate of return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.
Service revenue
Service revenue is generally recognised when the services are rendered.
Wireless revenue
The Group earns wireless revenues for usage of its cellular system, which include airtime charges from contract and prepaid
subscribers, monthly contract fees, interconnect fees from other wireless and wireline operators, roaming charges, data transfer
charges, and charges for value added services (“VAS”). Interconnect revenue includes revenues from wireless and wireline operators
that was earned from terminating traffic from other operators. Roaming revenues include revenues from customers who roam outside
their selected home coverage area and revenues from other mobile carriers for roaming by their customers using the network of the
Group. VAS include SMS, MMS, provision of content and media and commissions for mobile payments.
The revenue from provision of content is presented net of related costs when the Group acts as an agent of the content providers
while gross revenues and related costs are recorded when the Group is a primary obligor in the arrangement. The reporting of revenue
on a net versus gross basis, depending on an analysis of the Group’s involvement as either principal or agent, involves management’s
judgment.
(a) Loyalty programme
The Group operates a loyalty programme which allows customers to accumulate awards for usage of the Group’s cellular network. The
awards can then be redeemed for free services, subject to a minimum number of awards being obtained. The portion of consideration
received is allocated to the awards based on their fair value and deferred until the award credits are redeemed or expire. The Group
estimates the fair value of awards to a customer by applying a statistical analysis. Inputs to the models include making assumptions
about expected redemption rates, the mix of services that will be available for redemption in the future and customer preferences. Such
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.
(b) Multiple element arrangements
The Group enters into multiple element arrangements in which a customer may purchase a combination of equipment (e.g. handsets)
and telecommunication services (e.g. airtime, data, and other services). The Group allocates consideration received from subscribers to
the separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values but not exceeding the contractual consideration receivable for the
delivered element. Revenues allocated to the delivered equipment and related costs are recognised in the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income at the time of sale provided that other conditions for revenue recognition are met. Amounts
allocated to telecommunication services are deferred and recognised as revenue over the period of rendering the services. Allocation of
each separable component of a bundled offer based on the individual components’ relative fair values involves estimates and judgment.
(c) Roaming rebates
The Group enters into roaming discount agreements with a number of wireless operators. According to the agreements the Group is
committed to provide and entitled to receive a discount that is generally dependent on the volume of roaming traffic generated by the
respective subscribers. The Group uses actual traffic data to estimate the amounts of rebates to be received or granted. Such estimates
are adjusted and updated on a regular basis. The Group accounts for discounts received as a reduction of roaming expenses and rebates
granted as reduction of roaming revenue.
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2.1. Revenue (continued)
The Group takes into account the terms of the various roaming discount agreements in order to determine the appropriate presentation
of the amounts receivable from and payable to its roaming partners in its consolidated statement of financial position. Amounts of
rebates earned from and given to roaming partners are included in trade and other receivables and payables, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated statement of financial position.
Management has to make estimates relating to revenue recognition, relying to some extent on information from other operators on
values of services delivered. Management also makes estimates of the final outcome in instances where the other parties dispute the
amounts charged.
Wireline revenue
The Group earns wireline revenues for usage of its fixed-line network, which include payments from individual, corporate and
government subscribers for local and long-distance telecommunications and data transfer services. Charges are based upon usage
(e.g., minutes of traffic processed), period of time (e.g., monthly service fees) or other established fee schedules. Wireline revenues also
include interconnection charges from wireless and wireline operators for terminating calls on the Group’s wireline networks. Revenue
from service contracts is recognised when the services are rendered. Billings received in advance of service being rendered are deferred
and recognised as revenue as the service is rendered.
Sales of equipment and accessories
Revenue from the sale of equipment and accessories is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.
Change in presentation
In these consolidated financial statements the presentation of revenue has been changed so as to present service revenue and
revenue from the sale of equipment and accessories combined, in line with growing trend of bundled offerings (e.g. handsets and
telecommunication services).

2.2. Sales and marketing expenses
Accounting policies
Dealer commissions for connection of new subscribers are expensed as incurred. The Group’s third party dealer arrangements call for
provision of post-sales services and revenue sharing. As a result, dealer commissions are recognised as the services are performed,
generally during a twelve-month period from the date a new subscriber is activated.
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

2.3. General and administrative expenses
Included in general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December are:

Employee benefits and related social charges
Operating lease expense

2015

2014

28,095
16,866

27,605
15,711

Government pension funds
The Group contributes to local state pension funds and social funds on behalf of its employees. The contributions are expensed as
incurred. Contributions for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 were 5,514 and 5,112, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.4. Income taxes
Accounting policies
Current income tax
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in OCI or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries
in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which the applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. If the applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation, it establishes a provision where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Significant estimates
The Group assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on estimates of future earnings. The ability to recover these
taxes depends ultimately on the Group’s ability to generate taxable earnings over the period for which the deferred tax assets remain
deductible. The recognition of tax assets and liabilities depends on a series of factors, including estimates as to the timing and
realisation of deferred tax assets and the projected tax payment schedule.
Actual Group income tax receipts and payments could differ from the estimates made by the Group as a result of changes in tax
legislation or unforeseen transactions that could affect tax balances. The expected resolution of uncertain tax positions is based upon
management’s judgment of the likelihood of sustaining a position taken through tax audits, tax courts and/or arbitration, if necessary.
Circumstances and interpretations of the amount or likelihood may change through the settlement process.
Disclosures
The following presents the significant components of the Group’s income tax expense for the years ended 31 December:

Current income tax:
Current income tax charge
Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods
Deferred tax
Income tax expense

2015

2014

11,450
223
661
12,334

9,069
(648)
4,947
13,368

Income tax is calculated at 20% of taxable profit for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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2.4. Income taxes (continued)
The reconciliation between the average effective income tax rate and the applicable Russian enacted statutory tax rate is as follows:

Statutory income tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of intra-group transactions
Deferred tax assets write-off
Effect of income tax preferences
Other
Effective income tax rate

2015

2014

20.0%
2.9%
0.9%
0.2%
(0.3%)
0.2%
23.9%

20.0%
2.9%
1.6%
3.0%
(0.7%)
(0.3%)
26.5%

In 2014 the effective income tax rate was higher primarily due to derecognition of deferred tax assets related to the investment in
Euroset and the acquisition of Scartel. The effect of intragroup transactions, in the table above, represents taxable intra-group income.
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Statement of financial
position as of 31 December

Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries
Tax loss carry-forwards
Revenue recognition
Accrued employee benefits
Accrued expenses
Other movements and temporary differences
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense
Net deferred tax liabilities
Reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Statement of comprehensive
income (profit and loss) for
the years

2015

2014

2015

2014

(15,087)
(8,991)
(659)
(94)
2,779
641
461
821
603

(12,810)
(9,233)
(624)
(45)
2,322
622
378
(127)
727

2,202
(242)
35
49
(457)
(19)
(83)
(948)
124
661

2,253
(135)
711
770
384
111
806
908
(861)
4,947

(19,526)

(18,790)

832
(20,358)

782
(19,572)

The Group recognises deferred tax assets in respect of tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that realisation of tax losses against
future taxable profit is probable. Deferred tax assets related to tax losses of the Group’s subsidiaries are recognised based on the tax
planning opportunities that would be implemented, if necessary, to prevent unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets in respect of the tax losses are attributable to the following subsidiaries:

Scartel
MegaFon Retail
Balance at end of year

2015

2014

2,180
599
2,779

1,664
658
2,322

In order to utilise tax losses the Group is able to implement appropriate tax planning strategies depending on the results of these
subsidiaries in subsequent periods. The tax planning strategies may include, among others, merging of the respective subsidiaries with
PJSC MegaFon which is expected to have sufficient pretax income to utilise the accumulated tax losses of these subsidiaries. Tax loss
carry-forwards available for utilisation by the Group expire in 2019-2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.4. Income taxes (continued)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2015 and 2014 amounted to
2,716 and 2,202, respectively. Unrecognised deferred tax assets arose on the acquisition of subsidiaries due to the difference between
the accounting and tax bases of the acquisitions and are not expected to be realised due to lack of appropriate taxable profits.
Reconciliation of net deferred tax liabilities for the years ended 31 December is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Tax expense during the year
Translation adjustment of foreign operations
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5.3)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges in OCI
Change through equity
Balance at end of year

2015

2014

18,790
661
60
14
1
—
19,526

14,079
4,947
160
—
(74)
(322)
18,790

2.5. Earnings per share
Accounting policies
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed by dividing net profit available to shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing adjusted net profit available to shareholders by the weighted-average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period increased to include the number of additional ordinary shares that would be issued on
the conversion of all the potentially dilutive securities into ordinary shares. Potentially dilutive securities include outstanding stock
options and convertible debt instruments.
Disclosures
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended 31 December:

Numerator:
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
Denominator:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options (Note 5.1)
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding, adjusted
EPS – basic, Rubles
EPS – diluted, Rubles

www.megafon.com

2015

2014

39,041

36,726

595,700,967

583,915,212

—
3,652,843
595,700,967 587,568,055
66
66

63
63
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3.

Assets and Liabilities

3.1. Property and equipment
Accounting policies
Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Cost includes all costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition for its intended use. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset.
Depreciation expenses are based on management’s estimates of residual value, the depreciation method used and the useful lives of
property and equipment. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions and
other factors, and may result in changes in estimated useful lives and depreciation charges. The actual economic lives of long-lived
assets may be different from the estimated useful lives. A change in estimated useful lives is accounted for prospectively as a change in
accounting estimate.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Telecommunications network
Buildings and structures
Vehicles, office and other equipment

3 to 20 years
7 to 50 years
3 to 7 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. The lease term
includes renewals when such renewals are reasonably certain.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. The cost of major renovations and other subsequent expenditure is included
in the carrying amount of the asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset.
Please refer to Note 3.8 for further information about the provision for decommissioning liabilities.
At the time of retirement or other disposition of property or equipment, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in profit or loss.
Finance leases
Finance leases, that is, leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the
Group, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs within profit
or loss.
A leased asset is depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the asset.
The Group has entered into long-term leases of telecommunication assets. The Group has determined that, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term constituting a major part of the economic life of the asset, it
obtains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these assets. Accordingly, it accounts for the contracts as finance leases.
At the commencement of the lease term the Group recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. In determining the present value of the minimum lease payments, assumptions and estimates are made in
relation to discount rates, the expected costs for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to the lessor, and long-term inflation
forecasts where the lease agreements include provisions to adjust the lease payments for inflation.
Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale (“AHFS”) and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the sale is
considered highly probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.1. Property and equipment (continued)
Capitalised borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset during the construction phase
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time are capitalised as part of property and equipment until the asset is ready for use. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Impairment
The Group tests long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment when circumstances indicate there may be a potential
impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Estimating recoverable amounts of assets is based on management’s evaluations, including estimates of applicable market rates, if the
market approach is used, or future cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and assumptions about future market conditions,
if the income approach is used.
Disclosures
Property and equipment is as follows:
Telecommunications
network

Buildings and
structures

Vehicles, office
and other
equipment

Construction
in-progress

Total

Cost as of
1 January 2014
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Transfer from AHFS
Put into use
Translation

338,366
—
225
(8,915)
—
46,159
2,332

64,007
—
4
(438)
1,405
2,971
808

24,310
—
2
(1,738)
—
3,397
777

28,106
49,841
7
(287)
—
(52,527)
1,102

454,789
49,841
238
(11,378)
1,405
—
5,019

31 December 2014
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Put into use
Translation

378,167
—
320
(9,119)
53,562
2,232

68,757
—
—
(197)
5,583
723

26,748
—
3
(1,525)
2,378
905

26,242
58,278
14
(764)
(61,523)
292

499,914
58,278
337
(11,605)
—
4,152

31 December 2015

425,162

74,866

28,509

22,539

551,076

Depreciation as of
1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfer from AHFS
Translation

(195,493)
(39,676)
7,824
—
(1,585)

(20,459)
(4,364)
297
(212)
(317)

(18,565)
(3,391)
1,371
—
(689)

—
—
—
—
—

(234,517)
(47,431)
9,492
(212)
(2,591)

31 December 2014
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

(228,930)
(41,226)
8,441
(1,563)

(25,055)
(4,636)
58
(290)

(21,274)
(3,094)
1,500
(590)

—
—
—
—

(275,259)
(48,956)
9,999
(2,443)

31 December 2015

(263,278)

(29,923)

(23,458)

—

(316,659)

Net book value:
31 December 2014
31 December 2015

149,237
161,884

43,702
44,943

5,474
5,051

26,242
22,539

224,655
234,417
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3.1. Property and equipment (continued)
Included in construction in-progress are advances to suppliers of network equipment of 1,293 and 1,601 as at 31 December 2015 and
2014, respectively.
Assets purchased under certain contracts with deferred payment terms in the amount of 1,351 (2014: 1,252) are pledged as security for
the related liabilities.
Finance leases
The carrying value of buildings and structures and telecommunications network held under finance leases at 31 December 2015 was
3,116 (2014: nil) and 66 (2014: nil), respectively. Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.
Capitalised borrowing costs
Capitalised borrowing costs were 1,499 (out of the total interest expense of 16,278) and 1,789 (out of the total interest expense of
15,581) for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively. The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation was 7.0% and 7.2% for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively.

3.2. Intangible assets
3.2.1. Intangible assets, other than goodwill
Accounting policies
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any. Intangible assets consist principally of operating licences, frequencies, software,
marketing related licences and customer base.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives, other than goodwill. All intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:
4G operating licences
Other operating licences
Frequencies
Software
Customer base
Other intangible assets

20 years
10 to 20 years
10 to 12 years
2 to 5 years
4 to 19 years
1 to 10 years

Amortisation expenses are based on management’s judgment as to the amortisation method to be used and its estimates of the useful
lives of the intangible assets. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions
and other factors, and may result in changes in estimated useful lives and amortisation charges. Critical estimates of useful lives of
intangible assets are impacted by estimates of average customer relationship based on churn, remaining licence period and expected
developments in technology and markets. The actual economic lives of the assets may be different from the estimated useful lives.
A change in estimated useful lives is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
Change in estimate
During the year the Group changed its method of amortisation of 2G licences from sum-of-the-years’-digits basis to straight-line basis. In the
past the Group assumed a gradual decrease in the number of 2G subscribers and chose the method that best reflected the pattern in which the
economic benefits of these operating licences were expected to be consumed or otherwise used up. Considering the growing trend of technology
neutrality, which means that certain spectrum frequency can be used for a number of technologies, i.e. spectrum that was used for 2G can
now be used for 3G or 4G technologies, the Group concluded that the straight-line method better reflects the pattern of consumption of the
economic benefits of these licences. The change has been accounted for as a change in accounting estimate and resulted in an additional profit
of approximately 200.
The Group continues to evaluate the amortisation periods to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised amortisation periods.
Additionally, the Group considers whether the carrying value of such assets should be impaired based on the expected future economic benefits.

128

MEGAFON

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.2.1. Intangible assets, other than goodwill (continued)
Impairment
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of (1) an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and (2) value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for each individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in the expense categories which are consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
For assets, other than goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
Estimating recoverable amounts of assets is based on management’s evaluations, including estimates of applicable market rates, if the market approach
is used, or future cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and assumptions about future market conditions, if the income approach is used.
Disclosures
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are as follows:
4G
operating
licences

Other
operating
licences

Software

Customer
base

Other
intangible
assets

Frequen-cies

Total

Cost as of
1 January 2014
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Transfer
Translation

42,879
—
—
—
—
—

18,831
87
—
(14)
—
162

6,205
1,298
—
(344)
(71)
—

11,631
3,633
—
(588)
—
—

3,552
—
—
—
—
—

9,886
1,613
38
(792)
71
3

92,984
6,631
38
(1,738)
—
165

31 December 2014
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Translation

42,879
—
—
—
—

19,066
6,973
—
(30)
108

7,088
1,218
—
(398)
—

14,676
2,030
17
(2,401)
—

3,552
215
425
—
—

10,819
1,450
16
(3,738)
2

98,080
11,886
458
(6,567)
110

31 December 2015
Amortisation as of
1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

42,879

26,117

7,908

14,322

4,192

8,549

103,967

(524)
(2,144)
—
—

(15,757)
(702)
—
(143)

(1,997)
(783)
248
—

(7,913)
(2,424)
552
—

(1,210)
(543)
—
—

(6,735)
(1,231)
656
(3)

(34,136)
(7,827)
1,456
(146)

31 December 2014
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

(2,668)
(2,143)
—
—

(16,602)
(510)
4
(105)

(2,532)
(906)
304
—

(9,785)
(2,480)
1,869
—

(1,753)
(588)
—
—

(7,313)
(686)
3,729
(2)

(40,653)
(7,313)
5,906
(107)

31 December 2015

(4,811)

(17,213)

(3,134)

(10,396)

(2,341)

(4,272)

(42,167)

40,211
38,068

2,464
8,904

4,556
4,774

4,891
3,926

1,799
1,851

3,506
4,277

57,427
61,800

19

7

5

2

3

6

14

Net book value:
31 December 2014
31 December 2015
Weighted-average remaining
amortisation period, years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.2.1. Intangible assets, other than goodwill (continued)
Operating licences and frequencies provide the Group with the exclusive right to utilise certain radio frequency spectrum to provide
wireless communication services.
Operating licences primarily consist of
●● several 2G licences,
●● a nationwide 3G licence,
●● a nationwide 4G licence to use 2.5–2.7 GHz spectrum (10x10 MHz band) awarded to PJSC MegaFon in 2012, and
●● a nationwide 4G licence to use 2.5–2.7 GHz spectrum (30x30 MHz band) acquired in the Scartel business combination.
These licences are integral to the wireless operations of the Group and any inability to extend existing licences on the same or
comparable terms could materially affect the Group’s business. While operating licences are issued for a fixed period, renewals of
these licences previously had occurred routinely and at nominal cost. The Group believes that there are currently no legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that could result in delays in licence renewal, or even an outright refusal to renew.
Nationwide 3G and 4G licences were obtained by PJSC MegaFon at nominal cost in 2007 and 2012, respectively, but require the Company
to meet certain conditions, including capital commitments and coverage requirements (Note 5.7).
Acquisitions
In August 2015 MegaFon acquired 900/1,800 MHz band spectrum in the Samara, Astrakhan, Yaroslavl regions and the Chuvash Republic
through the purchase of 100% of the shares of JSC SMARTS-Samara, CJSC Astrakhan GSM, CJSC Yaroslavl GSM and CJSC SMARTSCheboksary (together “SMARTS”), the subsidiaries of Russian regional mobile operator JSC SMARTS. The Group’s management
concluded that assets and activities of the acquired companies are not capable of being conducted and managed as a business,
accordingly the acquisition of SMARTS was accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The purchase price totaled 5,745 at the date of
acquisition, consisting of cash consideration of 5,505 and a deferred payment with a fair value of 240 payable within six months from the
date of acquisition (Note 3.4).
In October 2015 the Company successfully bid for 1800 MHz band spectrum in the Republic of Dagestan and the Karachay-Cherkess
Republic pursuant to a frequency distribution auction conducted by the Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information
Technology, and Mass Media of the Russian Federation (“Roskomnadzor”). The total consideration for the spectrum is 1,260.
3.2.2. Goodwill
Accounting policies
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred plus the fair value of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
company at the acquisition date over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired, and is not amortised, but tested for
impairment at least annually.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Disclosures
The changes in the carrying value of goodwill, net of accumulated impairment losses of nil, for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014 are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Measurement period adjustments
Balance at end of year

2015

2014

32,292
1,641
(24)
33,909

31,899
374
19
32,292

3.2.3. Goodwill impairment
Accounting policies
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment as of 1 October or more frequently whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.2.3. Goodwill impairment (continued)
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the acquisition date to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group has
identified and recognised the following CGUs: 1) integrated telecominucation services group of CGUs and 2) broadband internet CGU.
Each CGU or any group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.
An impairment loss of associated goodwill is recognised for the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of (1) a CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and (2) value in use. The recognised impairment
loss is not subsequently reversed.
Estimating recoverable amounts of assets and CGUs is based on management’s evaluations, including determining the appropriate
CGUs and estimates of applicable multiples, if the market approach is used, or future cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates,
and assumptions about future market conditions, if the income approach is used. Allocation of the carrying value of the assets being
tested between individual CGUs also requires judgment.
Goodwill impairment test
The Group considers the relationship between market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for
indicators of impairment. As of 31 December 2015, the market capitalisation of the Group was not below the book value of its equity.
As a result of the annual test, no impairment of goodwill was identified in 2015 or 2014.
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to related CGUs and groups of CGUs as follows:
31 December
2015

2014

Integrated telecommunication services (group of CGUs)
Broadband internet CGU
Total allocated goodwill

25,384
6,927
32,311

25,480
6,812
32,292

Unallocated:
GARS (Note 5.3)
Total goodwill

1,598
33,909

—
32,292

In assessing whether goodwill has been impaired, the carrying values of the CGUs (including goodwill) were compared with their
estimated recoverable amounts.
Integrated telecommunication services (group of CGUs)
Investment in the Euroset joint venture (Note 3.3) and the net assets of the Company’s own retail network have been allocated to
the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs. In 2015 the management of the Group conducted an analysis of Euroset’s
operations and concluded that it shall be allocated to the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs starting from 2015.
This was due to the increasing control over and integration with retail network leading to reduction of subscriber acquisition costs
and realisation of synergies together with integration of handsets and telecommunication services (bundled offerings). Thus, cash
flows of Euroset and the Company’s own retail network are no longer considered largely independent of those from the integrated
telecommunication services group of CGUs.
The recoverable amount of the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs has been determined based on its fair value
less costs to sell (Level 3). The fair value was estimated based on a multiple of earnings, which is 4 times operating income before
depreciation and amortisation (“OIBDA”), which represents a lower point of the range observed in the market for acquisitions of similar
businesses. The fair value was reduced by 5% as an estimate of costs to sell the business.
Management believes that any change in any of these key assumptions which can currently be reasonably anticipated would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount of this unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.2.3. Goodwill impairment (continued)
Broadband internet CGU
The recoverable amount of the broadband internet CGU has been determined based on its value in use. The value in use was estimated
using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior management covering 2016 and further seven-year projections.
Due to less favourable economic environment foreseen for the next two years, the extended forecast period has been used for testing
to take into account better growth rates forecasted in the long term.
The calculation of value in use for the broadband internet unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions: average monthly revenue
per user (“ARPU”), discount rates, market share in Moscow, salary growth index and capital expenditures (“CAPEX”) to revenues ratio.
The key assumptions used in the forecast are as follows:
31 December

Growth of ARPU for retail customers during the forecast period by
Pre-tax discount rate
Market share in Moscow (in terms of retail customer base)
Annual salary growth rate during the forecast period
CAPEX/Revenue ratio from 2020/2018

2015

2014

1.0%-5.0%
12.8%
6.6%-6.9%
5.9%-8.2%
10.5%

5.0%
16.3%
7.1%
7.5%
10.5%

Revenue growth is projected based on market share dynamics, ARPU growth and other factors.
The discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU, taking into consideration the time value
of money and individual risks to the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment
by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk
is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data. The
discount rate decreased since last year consistent with the general decrease in market interest rates over the year.
Annual salary growth is projected based on inflation estimates.
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions
The estimated recoverable amount of the broadband internet unit exceeds its carrying value by 321. The following changes in the key
assumptions made independently, with all other assumptions constant, would result in impairment for the broadband internet unit:
Growth of ARPU for retail customers in each region during the forecast period reducing to
Pre-tax discount rate increasing to
Market share in Moscow reducing to
Annual salary growth rate during the forecast period increasing to
CAPEX/Revenue ratio from 2020 increasing to

0.2%
13.0%
6.0%
7.1%
11.1%

There are no reasonably possible changes in other assumptions that could result in impairment for the broadband internet unit.

3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures
Accounting policies
Investments in associates and joint ventures which are jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profits and losses of these companies is included in the ‘Share
of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures’ line in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated only to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates or joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates or joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

132

MEGAFON

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Impairment
For associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, at each reporting date the Group determines whether there is
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the Group’s investment in associate or joint venture and its
carrying value, then recognises its share of the loss as ‘Share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures’ within profit or loss.
Disclosures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are as follows:

Investee

LLC Euroset-Retail (“Euroset”), joint venture
CJSC Sadovoe Koltso (“Garden Ring”), joint venture
Other investments - associates
Total

% equity
interest

50.000
49.999

31 December
2015

2014

34,174
13,529
182
47,885

34,762
—
182
34,944

Garden Ring
On 9 October 2015 MegaFon acquired 49.999% of the shares of Glanbury Investments Limited (“Glanbury”), which holds 100% of the
shares of CJSC Sadovoe Koltso (“Garden Ring”), which owns and operates an office building in the center of Moscow.
Under the transaction, the Group is required to pay approximately $282 million (17,550 at the exchange rate as of the date of acquisition)
for its share in Glanbury and loans receivable from Garden Ring transferred from seller as part of the deal (Note 3.4). By 31 December
2015 the Group has paid $252 million (15,759 at the exchange rates as of the payment dates) to the seller, including purchase of Garden
Ring debt of $63.6 million (3,960 at the exchange rates as of the payment date), and the remaining portion of the consideration is being
deferred for up to one year with interest charged at 2.5% per annum.
Simultaneously MegaFon has entered into a joint venture agreement for the operation of the building with Sberbank Investments
Limited, a subsidiary of PJSC Sberbank (“Sberbank”), which owns another 49.999% in Glanbury, and with Woodsworth Investments
Limited, an independent real estate developer, which owns the remaining 0.002% in Glanbury.
MegaFon has signed a ten-year lease agreement with Garden Ring for a part of the building. This building will become the new corporate
headquarters of the Group, permitting the consolidation of the Group’s operations in Moscow into a single location. At 31 December 2015 the
amount of the commitment in relation to this lease is approximately 16,000. The remaining part of the building will be leased by Sberbank.
The Garden Ring joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
The reconciliation of summarised financial information of Garden Ring to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture
as of 31 December 2015 is presented below:
Assets
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Total identifiable net assets
The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of identifiable net assets
Excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share in the fair value of identifiable net assets
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest as of 31 December 2015

www.megafon.com
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1,630
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51,695
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9,597
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3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The composition of the Group’s share of loss of the joint venture accounted for using the equity method from 9 October to 31 December
2015 is as follows:
Loss and total comprehensive loss of Garden Ring
Amortisation of the Group’s purchase price allocation adjustments and application of the Group’s accounting policies
Loss and total comprehensive loss of the joint venture
The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of the loss and total comprehensive loss of Garden Ring

(65)
(57)
(122)
49.999%
(61)

Euroset
Euroset is a retail chain, whose primary activities are sales of mobile phones, audio devices, other portable gadgets and accessories,
and provision of customer subscription and payment collection services for major telecommunication operators in Russia.
The Euroset joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. The primary reason for the
investment in Euroset was to realise benefits from synergies related to a reduction of subscriber acquisition costs of the Group due to
implementation of a revenue sharing model, procurement savings and the opportunity for prominent marketing of MegaFon services in
Euroset outlets (Note 3.2.3).
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information of Euroset to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture
is presented below:
31 December
2015

2014

34,970
8,363
18,733
62,066

38,934
12,711
17,135
68,780

(1,340)
(5,365)
(8,690)
(18,352)
(33,747)

(8,660)
(6,928)
(1,371)
(22,326)
(39,285)

Total identifiable net assets

28,319

29,495

The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of identifiable net assets
Excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share in the fair value of identifiable net assets
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest

50%
14,160
20,014
34,174

50%
14,748
20,014
34,762

Assets
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The composition of the Group’s share of the loss of the joint venture accounted for using the equity method is as follows:
Year ended 31 December

Profit of Euroset
Amortisation of the Group’s purchase price allocation adjustments
and application of the Group’s accounting policies
Loss of the joint venture
Other comprehensive loss of Euroset
Total comprehensive loss of the joint venture
The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of the loss and total comprehensive loss of Euroset

2015

2014

1,481

868

(2,604)
(1,123)
(54)
(1,177)

(1,899)
(1,031)
—
(1,031)

50%
(588)

50%
(516)

3.4. Financial assets and liabilities
Accounting policies
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, except for a financial asset or financial liability
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, in which case transaction costs are expensed.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities
The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities depends on their classification as described below:
●● Fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are classified as held for trading and
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets and
liabilities accounted for at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss, in the ‘foreign exchange gain/(loss)’, ‘finance costs’ or ‘gain/(loss) on
financial instruments’ lines, depending on the nature of the changes.
●● Loans and receivables (assets) and loans and borrowings (liabilities). Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables and loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
amortisation based on EIR is included in profit or loss.
De-recognition of financial assets
A financial asset is de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of an event that occurred subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets may be impaired. For assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the original EIR
(excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets together with the associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the relevant costs in profit or loss.
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3.4. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
De-recognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised within profit or loss.
Disclosures
Financial assets are as follows:
31 December
2015

2014

Trade and other receivables (Note 3.5)

21,156

16,260

Other financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedge
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

1,456
1,456

1,533
1,533

Financial assets at fair value through OCI:
Cross-currency swap designated as cash flow hedge
Total financial assets at fair value through OCI

1,903
1,903

2,082
2,082

12
20,224
—
4,061
3,419
—
27,716

15,730
4,346
27,458
—
—
601
48,135

Total other financial assets
Other current financial assets
Other non-current financial assets

31,075
(26,973)
4,102

51,750
(48,887)
2,863

Total financial assets
Total current financial assets
Total non-current financial assets

52,231
(48,129)
4,102

68,010
(65,147)
2,863

Loans and receivables at amortised cost:
Short-term bank deposits in Rubles
Short-term bank deposits in US dollars
Short-term bank deposits in HK dollars
Loans receivable from Garden Ring (Notes 3.3, 5.2)
Other deposits
Bank promissory notes
Total loans and receivables at amortised cost

Other deposits
Other deposits consist of cash advances received under certain contracts with customers and reserved in bank accounts as well as
cash reserved for deferred and contingent consideration settlements under the sale and purchase agreement with the sellers of GARS
(Note 5.3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.4. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December
2015

2014

45,961

36,549

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Loans and borrowings:
Bank loans
Equipment financings
Ruble bonds
Total loans and borrowings
Total current loans and borrowings
Total non-current loans and borrowings

96,390
85,717
37,573
219,680
(47,037)
172,643

95,140
74,964
37,364
207,468
(51,149)
156,319

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Finance lease obligations (Notes 3.1, 5.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration (Notes 3.3, 5.3)
Long-term accounts payable
Due to employees and related social charges, non-current
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost

3,504
3,209
1,048
109
227,550

—
7,407
1,325
5
216,205

7
7

16
16

41
15
56

215
33
248

Total other financial liabilities
Other current financial liabilities
Other non-current financial liabilities

7,933
(2,900)
5,033

9,001
(7,731)
1,270

Total financial liabilities
Total current financial liabilities
Total non-current financial liabilities

273,574
(95,898)
177,676

253,018
(95,429)
157,589

Trade and other payables

Other financial liabilities at fair value:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedge
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI:
Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Total financial liabilities at fair value through OCI

Settlement of Scartel deferred consideration
On 1 October 2015 the Group fully paid the deferred consideration for Scartel acquisition. The payment was in the amount of $120
million plus interest at 6% per annum accrued thereon from the closing date, 1 October 2013 (8,863 as of the payment date).
3.4.1. Cash and cash equivalents
Accounting policies
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits in banks with original maturities of three months or less.
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3.4.1. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Disclosures
Cash and cash equivalents are as follows:
31 December

Cash at bank and on hand in
Rubles
US dollars
Euros
HK dollars
Short-term bank deposits in
Rubles
US dollars
HK dollars
Total cash and cash equivalents

2015

2014

4,012
777
77
19

4,264
4,866
110
1,919

2,251
10,313
—
17,449

2,411
5,825
2,828
22,223

3.4.2. Loans and borrowings
Principal amounts outstanding under loans and borrowings are as follows:
31 December

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate

Maturity

Bank loans:
Ruble loans – fixed rates
US dollar loans – floating rates
Total bank loans

10.62%
LIBOR+5.2%

Equipment financings:
Ruble loans – fixed rates
US dollar loans – fixed rates
US dollar loans – floating rates
Euro loans – floating rates
Euro loans – fixed rates
Total equipment financings

10.00%
2.24%
LIBOR+2.28%
EURIBOR+2.05%
3.64%

Ruble bonds
Total
Total current
Total non-current

9.48%

2015

2014

2016-2020
2016

96,047
729
96,776

92,072
3,375
95,447

2016-2019
2016-2022
2016-2022
2016-2019

846
14,047
68,016
3,433
—
86,342

734
9,521
61,339
3,785
310
75,689

36,751

36,751

219,869
(46,072)
173,797

207,887
(50,299)
157,588

2022-2024 with a put option
in 2016-2018

Bank loans
In December 2015 the Group signed a new revolving credit loan for up to 30,000 for up to a five-year term. The facility can be used for
general operating purposes. In December 2015 the Group drew down 15,000 for three years at a fixed rate. The amounts have been used
to refinance more expensive loans.
In December 2015 the Group signed a new credit facility agreement for up to $300 million (21,865 at the exchange rate as of
31 December 2015). The credit facility must be used to refinance a portion of the Group’s existing debt, and is repayable in the period
from December 2018 to December 2021. As of 31 December 2015 no amount has been drawn under this credit facility.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.4.2. Loans and borrowings (continued)
Equipment financing facilities
In March 2015 the Group drew down approximately $93.5 million (6,815 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2015) under the $150
million agreement for equipment financing signed in February 2014. As of 31 December 2015, this credit facility has been fully drawn.
In June 2015 the Group signed a new credit facility agreement for up to Euro 150 million (11,955 at the exchange rate as of 31 December
2015). The credit facility must be used to finance purchases of equipment and related services and requires the Group to make semiannual payments, including accrued interest, over the period from 2016 to 2024. As of 31 December 2015 no amount has been drawn
under this credit facility.
In December 2015 the Group signed a new credit facility agreement for up to $300 million (21,865 at the exchange rate as of 31
December 2015) in total. The credit facility must be used to finance purchases of equipment and related services, and is for an eightyear term. As of 31 December 2015 no amount has been drawn under this credit facility.
In December 2015 the Group signed a new credit facility agreement for a Ruble equivalent of up to Euro 70 million (5,579 at the exchange
rate as of 31 December 2015). The credit facility must be used to finance purchases of equipment and related services, and is repayable
in the period from December 2017 to December 2025. As of 31 December 2015 no amount has been drawn under this credit facility.
In December 2015 the Group drew down approximately $40.9 million (2,981 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2015) under $500
million (36,441 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2015) agreement for equipment financing signed in June 2011. As of 31 December
2015 this credit facility has been fully drawn.
Ruble bonds
In April 2015 the Group decided to repay its Series BO-04 Ruble bonds in full on the second anniversary of the placement date. The
payment of the principal amount of 15,000 was made in full in May 2015.
In October 2015 the Group placed its Series BO-05 Ruble denominated exchange bonds, in an aggregate principal amount of 15,000. The
bonds have a term of 10 years following placement, subject to a put option exercisable by the bondholders on the second anniversary
of the placement date. The coupon rate was set at 11.4% per annum, payable semiannually, and will be revised in two years from the
bonds’ placement. Proceeds from the bonds will be used for general corporate purposes, including the refinancing of the Group’s
existing liabilities.
Covenant requirements
The majority of the Company’s financing facilities contain restrictive covenants, which, among other things, with permitted exceptions,
limit the Group’s ability to incur debt, encumber assets, undertake mergers and acquisitions and make material changes in the nature of
the business without prior consent from the required majority of lenders. In addition, these financing facilities require the Group to meet
various financial covenants.
3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Accounting policies
Derivative financial instruments which include currency and interest rate swaps are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value.
Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices and discounted cash flow models as appropriate. Derivatives are included within
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when fair value is positive and within financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss when fair value is negative. Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives
when their economic risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the combined instrument is not
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss.
The Group has derivatives which it designated as cash flow hedges and derivatives which it did not designate as hedges. At the
inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to
apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Such hedges are expected to be
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in
OCI. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. For derivative instruments that are not
designated as hedges or do not qualify as hedged transactions, the changes in the fair value are reported in the profit or loss.
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3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
The Group uses derivatives to manage interest rate and foreign currency risk exposures. The Group does not hold or issue derivatives
for trading purposes.
Disclosures
The Group had the following outstanding interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps stated at their notional amounts:
31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Original
currency

Millions,
original currency

Interest rate swaps:
designated as cash flow hedge
Total interest rate swaps

US Dollar

217

15,816
15,816

460

25,879
25,879

Cross-currency swaps:
designated as cash flow hedge
not designated as cash flow hedge
Total cross-currency swaps

US Dollar
US Dollar

46
225

3,353
16,399
19,752

76
464

4,276
26,104
30,380

Millions, Rubles

Millions,
original currency

Millions, Rubles

Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
The Group’s objective in using interest rate derivatives is to add certainty and stability to its interest expense and to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Group primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest
rate risk management strategy.
Interest rate swaps involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Group making fixed-rate
payments over the life of the agreements without the exchange of the underlying principal amount of long-term debt.
The interest rate swaps have been designated and qualified as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. There has been no ineffective
portion in the reporting period.
Cross-currency swap designated as a cash flow hedge
At 31 December 2015 the Group had a fixed-to-fixed rate cross-currency swap agreement in place that limits the exposure from changes
in US dollar exchange rates on certain long-term debt.
The swap has been designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge of foreign currency risk. There has been no ineffective portion in the
reporting period.
The table below presents the effect of the Group’s derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December:

Interest rate swaps:
Amount of loss recognised in cash flow hedge reserve
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into finance costs
Deferred tax on movements in OCI
Cross-currency swap:
Amount of gain recognised in cash flow hedge reserve
Amount of gain reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into foreign exchange loss, net
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into finance costs
Deferred tax on movements in OCI
Total in OCI
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2015

2014

(35)
216
(36)
145

(61)
216
(31)
124

825
(1,067)
58
37
(147)

1,981
(1,899)
134
(43)
173

(2)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
At 31 December 2015 the amount recorded in OCI which is expected to be reclassified to profit or loss in the next twelve months is 1,254
(gain), the remaining gain of 651 is expected to affect the earnings in 2017.
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
At 31 December 2015 the Group had two cross-currency swap agreements that limit the exposure from changes in US dollar exchange
and interest rates on certain long-term debt.
In February 2015 the Group amended its cross-currency swap agreement with a remaining notional amount of $204 million (14,868 at
the exchange rate as of 31 December 2015) by changing the swap rate for all the remaining swap payments.
The terms of the swap agreements did not meet the requirements for hedge accounting, therefore the Group has reported all gains and
losses from the change in fair value of these derivative financial instruments directly in the consolidated profit or loss.
Gain/(loss) on financial instruments
Gains and losses on other financial intruments are recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Change in fair value of financial instruments measured through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swaps not designated as hedges
Euroset settlement put option
Total gain/(loss) on financial instruments, net

2015

2014

1,502
—
1,502

(485)
435
(50)

3.4.4. Fair values
Accounting policies
The fair value of financial instruments recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position and/or disclosed in the notes that
are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations,
without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate valuation techniques, which include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of
another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; or other valuation models.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment
is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly;
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market
data.
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3.4.4. Fair values (continued)
Disclosures
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments and certain nonfinancial assets that are carried in the consolidated financial statements:

Financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swaps not designated as hedge
Financial assets at fair value through OCI:
Cross-currency swap designated as cash flow hedge
Loans and receivables at amortised cost:
Short-term bank deposits
Loans receivable from Garden Ring (Note 5.2)
Other deposits
Bank promissory note
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Loans and borrowings
Ruble bonds
Deferred and contingent consideration
Finance lease obligations
Long-term accounts payable
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedge
Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI:
Interest-rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Due to employees and related social charges, non-current
Total financial liabilities

Carrying amount

Fair value

31 December

31 December

2015

2014

2015

2014

Level 2

1,456

1,533

1,456

1,533

Level 2

1,903

2,082

1,903

2,082

Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2

20,236
4,061
3,419
—
31,075

47,534
—
—
601
51,750

20,236
4,061
3,178
—
30,834

47,534
—
—
601
51,750

Level 2
Level 1
Level 3
Level 3
Level 3

182,107
37,573
3,209
3,504
1,048

170,104
37,364
7,407
—
1,325

185,841
35,696
3,209
3,504
1,200

161,981
34,664
7,407
—
1,325

Level 2

7

16

7

16

Level 2
Level 2
Level 3

41
15
109
227,613

215
33
5
216,469

41
15
109
229,622

215
33
5
205,646

Management has determined that cash, short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The Group, using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies, where they exist, has determined the
estimated fair values of its financial instruments. However, judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the
estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realise
in a current market exchange. While management has used available market information in estimating the fair value of its financial
instruments, the market information may not be fully reflective of the value that could be realised in the current circumstances.
The GARS escrow account (included in ‘Other deposits’ in the above table) holds cash reserved for deferred and contingent consideration settlements
under the sale and purchase agreement with the sellers of GARS (Note 5.3). The fair value of the account approximates its carrying value.
The fair value of the Group’s other deposits relating to cash received under certain contracts with customers is determined by using a discounted cash
flow method using a discount rate that reflects the bank deposit rates the Group would get in the market as at the end of the reporting period.
The fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings and other liabilities carried at amortised cost, except for market quoted bonds, are
determined by using a discounted cash flow method using a discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the
reporting period. The own nonperformance risk as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was assessed to be insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.4.4. Fair values (continued)
The Group, in connection with its current activities, is exposed to various financial risks, such as foreign currency risks, interest rate
risks and credit risks. The Group manages these risks and monitors their exposure on a regular basis (Note 5.4).
Valuation techniques and assumptions
The fair values of interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps are based on a forward yield curve and represent the estimated amount
the Group would receive or pay to terminate these agreements at the reporting date, taking into account current interest rates, foreign
exchange spot and forward rates, creditworthiness, nonperformance risk, and liquidity risks associated with current market conditions.
The Group estimated the fair value of the GARS contingent consideration of 314 and the SMARTS deferred consideration of 240 using a
probability-weighted cash flow model. These fair value measurements are based on significant inputs not observable in the market and
thus represent a Level 3 measurement. The fair value of the Garden Ring deferred consideration approximates its carrying value.
The following tables summarise the valuation of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the fair
value hierarchy:
Crosscurrency
swaps

Total
financial
assets

Interest
rate/crosscurrency
swaps

Total
financial
liabilities

31 December 2015
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total as of 31 December 2015

—
3,359
—
3,359

—
3,359
—
3,359

—
(63)
—
(63)

—
(63)
—
(63)

31 December 2014
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total as of 31 December 2014

—
3,615
—
3,615

—
3,615
—
3,615

—
(264)
—
(264)

—
(264)
—
(264)

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 there were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

3.5. Trade and other receivables
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables that are not impaired is as follows:
31 December

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired:
Less than 30 days
30 - 90 days
More than 90 days
Total trade and other receivables

2015

2014

17,675

14,342

2,159
1,037
285
21,156

703
768
447
16,260

The following table summarises the changes in the impairment allowance for trade and other receivables for the years ended 31 December:

Balance at beginning of year
Change in the impairment allowance
Accounts receivable written off
Balance at end of year
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2014

1,522
1,643
(948)
2,217

1,462
1,216
(1,156)
1,522
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3.6. Inventory
Accounting policies
Inventory, which primarily consists of telephone handsets, portable electronic devices, accessories and USB modems, is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average cost method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Disclosures
The amount of inventory write-down to net realisable value and other inventory losses recognised in ‘Cost of revenue’ line in the
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2015 is 2,004 (2014: 2,202).

3.7. Non-financial assets and liabilities
Accounting policies
Value-added tax
Value added tax (“VAT”) related to revenues is generally payable to the tax authorities on an accrual basis when invoices are issued
to customers. VAT incurred on purchases may be offset, subject to certain restrictions, against VAT related to revenues, or can be
reclaimed in cash from the tax authorities under certain circumstances.
Management periodically reviews the recoverability of VAT receivables and believes the amount reflected in the consolidated financial
statements is fully recoverable within one year.
Disclosures
Current non-financial assets are as follows:
31 December

Prepayments for services
VAT receivable
Deferred costs
Prepaid taxes, other than income tax
Prepayments for inventory
Total current non-financial assets

2015

2014

3,994
1,481
972
163
39
6,649

2,473
1,274
1,096
235
83
5,161

Non-current non-financial assets are as follows:
31 December

Deferred costs, non-current
Long-term advances
Total non-current non-financial assets

144

MEGAFON

2015

2014

2,441
453
2,894

1,581
472
2,053

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3.7. Non-financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Current non-financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December

Advances from customers
VAT payable
Current portion of deferred revenue
Taxes payable, other than income tax
Other current liabilities
Total current non-financial liabilities

2015

2014

12,809
4,482
1,677
1,542
57
20,567

11,414
5,596
1,894
1,573
16
20,493

Non-current non-financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December

Deferred revenue
Advance received for sale of property and equipment
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current non-financial liabilities

2015

2014

2,377
—
58
2,435

1,309
327
76
1,712

3.8. Provisions
Accounting policies
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Any increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance costs.
Decommissioning provision
The Group has certain legal obligations related to rented sites for base stations and masts, which include requirements to restore
the real estate upon which the base stations and masts are located upon their being decommissioned. Decommissioning costs
are determined by calculating the present value of the expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows, and are
recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are discounted at the current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks
specific to the decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed in profit or loss as finance costs. The estimated
future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in estimated liability resulting from
revisions of the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset, except where
a reduction in the provision is greater than the unamortised capitalised cost, in which case the capitalised cost is reduced to nil and the
remaining adjustment is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
In determining the fair value of the provision, assumptions and estimates are made in relation to discount rates, the expected cost to
dismantle and remove the asset from the site, including long-term inflation forecasts, and the expected timing of those costs.
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3.8. Provisions (continued)
Disclosures
The following table describes the changes to the decommissioning provision for the years ended 31 December:

Balance at beginning of year
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Net additions
Unwinding of discount
Balance at end of year

2015

2014

4,958
(1,097)
140
602
4,603

5,355
(1,234)
289
548
4,958

Revisions in estimated cash flows during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 in the table above mainly relate to a decrease
in expected decommissioning costs per item, which reduced buildings and structures cost in property and equipment (Note 3.1) by 314
(2014: 889) and depreciation expense in profit or loss by 783 (2014: 345).

4.

Equity

Accounting policies
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
The Company’s own issued equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any
difference between the carrying amount and the consideration received upon any subsequent sale is recognised in equity.
Disclosures
Share capital
As of 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Company had 100,000,000,000 authorised ordinary shares with a par value of 0.1 Rubles, of which
595,700,967 were issued and outstanding and 24,299,033 were issued treasury shares (held through its wholly owned subsidiary,
MegaFon Investments (Cyprus) Limited).
Annual dividend payment
On 30 June 2015 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved the payment of dividends for the 2014 financial
year in the amount of 9,609, or 16.13 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR). Such dividends were paid in full in August 2015.
On 11 December 2015 an Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved an additional 38,428 dividend
payment, equivalent to 64.51 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR), which was fully paid in December 2015.
Accordingly, the total amount of dividends distributed in 2015 is 48,038, or 80.64 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR).
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4.

Equity (continued)

Other capital reserves
The disaggregation of other capital reserves and changes of other comprehensive income by each type of reserve in equity is shown
below:

As of 1 January 2014
Foreign currency translation
Change in fair value of cash
flow hedges (Note 3.4.3)
Share-based compensation
(Note 5.1)
As of 31 December 2014
Foreign currency translation
Change in fair value of cash
flow hedges (Note 3.4.3)
As of 31 December 2015

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Cash flow
hedge reserve

Share-based
compensation
reserve

Transactions
with noncontrolling
interests

Reserve fund

Total other
capital
reserves

(123)
(968)

(125)
—

799
—

(23)
—

15
—

543
(968)

—

297

—

—

—

297

—
(1,091)
(792)

—
172
—

689
1,488
—

—
(23)
—

—
15
—

689
561
(792)

—
(1,883)

(2)
170

—
1,488

—
(23)

—
15

(2)
(233)

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations.
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record the accumulated impact of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (Note 3.4.3).
The share-based compensation reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions provided to
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration (Note 5.1).
The reserve on transactions with non-controlling interests is used to record differences arising as a result of transactions with noncontrolling interests that do not result in a loss of control.
The reserve fund has been established according to the requirements of Russian law and is used to cover the Company’s losses,
redemption of its bonds and re-purchase of its own shares in the absence of other capital resources.

5.

Additional Notes

5.1. Share-based compensation
Accounting policies
Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions, such as stock options under the CEO long-term incentive plan, is determined by the fair value
at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in other reserves in equity, over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits and related social
charges expense (Note 2.3). No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest. The dilutive effect of outstanding options
is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.
Cash-settled transactions
The cost of cash-settled transactions, such as phantom stock options under the 2012 and 2013 long-term incentive plans, is measured
initially at fair value at the grant date using an appropriate valuation model. This fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting
date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is re-measured to fair value at each reporting date up to, and including the
settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in employee benefits and related social charges expense (Note 2.3).
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5.1. Share-based compensation (continued)
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payment transactions with employees by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. For cash-settled awards the fair value is re-measured
every reporting period. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires a determination of the most appropriate
valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determination of the most
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making
assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are
disclosed below.
Disclosures
Long-term incentive programmes 2012 and 2013
In 2012 and 2013 the Company’s Board of Directors approved two long-term incentive programmes (LTI 2012 and LTI 2013) for certain
key executive and senior level employees under which the parties selected to participate are awarded rights to phantom shares.
The maximum number of phantom shares which could be awarded under each plan was 1.1% of the share capital of the Company (or
14,000,000 phantom shares in the aggregate) at the base price of $17.86 per share under LTI 2012 and $24.25 per share under LTI 2013.
Each plan had a three year duration and rights to phantom shares vest, and payments due to awardees are settled, in the second and
third years. Awardees receive payments on the basis of the difference between the base price and the weighted-average price of the
Company’s shares n the period between January 15 and March 15 in the relevant year of vesting (the strike price).
In 2015 the Board of Directors of the Company approved an amendment to the terms of LTI 2012 and LTI 2013 to change the base price
and the strike price for the awards outstanding as at 31 December 2014 and 2015 to 555 Rubles per share and 744 Rubles per share,
respectively, for which settlement was due in April-May 2015 and April-May 2016.
The respective awards under LTI 2012 and LTI 2013 are classified as liabilities. The fair value of the phantom share rights had been
estimated using the Monte Carlo model. The fair value of each grant is estimated at the end of each reporting period. The expected
volatility is estimated based on the average historical volatility of the Group over the period equal to the expected life of the rights
granted. The dividend yield is included in the model based on expected dividend payments. The risk free rate is determined on the basis
of the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia with a remaining term to maturity equal to the expected life of the rights. The expected
term of the rights equals their vesting term as the rights are settled in cash at the end of the relevant vesting period.
LTI 2012

Employee benefits expense/(reversal) recognised during the year ended
31 December, including related social charges
The fair value of rights outstanding at 31 December, Rubles per right to
phantom share
The carrying amount of the liability at 31 December, including related social
charges

LTI 2013

2015

2014

2015

2014

569

(186)

98

5

—

—

102

8

—

—

102

5

CEO long-term incentive plan
As part of a long-term incentive plan approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in November 2012, Mr. Ivan Tavrin, the CEO of
the Company purchased 2.5% of the Group’s total issued shares at the IPO price of $20 per share in 2012 and 2013. The remaining
15,500,000 options to buy up to a further 2.5% of the total issued shares at the IPO price could be exercised in May 2014 and May 2015 or
subsequently, up till May 2017.
In March 2014 the Board of Directors of the Company agreed unanimously to amend the terms of the CEO long-term incentive plan and
to accelerate the vesting of Mr. Tavrin’s final two options to acquire a 2.5% interest in the Company, so that all the remaining options
became exercisable at any time after 1 May 2014. The change resulted in an additional employee benefits charge of 380 for the year
ended 31 December 2014 due to the accelerated vesting, including incremental fair value in the amount of 111, recognised in 2014.
In December 2014 Mr. Tavrin exchanged his 2.5% interest in the Company and the 15,500,000 unexercised options for an interest in USM
Holdings Limited (“USMHL”) (Note 5.2).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

5.2. Related parties
In August 2014 USMHL, a non-public entity and the parent company of the USM Group, announced a restructuring amongst its
shareholders. As a result of this restructuring the voting interest held by Mr Alisher Usmanov, which previously enabled him to control
USMHL, has been reduced to a 48% voting interest.
The following tables provide the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties and balances of
accounts with them for the relevant financial years:
For the years ended
31 December

Revenues from USM Group
Revenues from TeliaSonera Group
Revenues from Euroset
Services from USM Group
Services from TeliaSonera Group
Services from Euroset
Services from Garden Ring

2015

2014

52
640
110
802

31
838
167
1,036

979
1,436
1,228
320
3,963

883
1,817
1,274
—
3,974

31 December
2015

2014

Due from USM Group
Due from TeliaSonera Group
Due from Euroset
Due from Garden Ring

477
305
403
4,643
5,828

13
388
379
—
780

Due to USM Group
Due to TeliaSonera Group
Due to Euroset
Due to Garden Ring

809
414
12
63
1,298

7,476
638
3
—
8,117

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Outstanding balances at the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are unsecured. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables. As of 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group has not recorded any impairment of
receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.
USM Group
The outstanding balances and transactions with USM Group relate to operations with Garsdale, the Group’s parent, USMHL, an indirect
owner of Garsdale, and their consolidated subsidiaries.
The Group has entered into an agreement with Telecominvest, a member of the USM Group, for provision of legal and personnel services
effective in 2015 and 2014. In addition, the Group purchased billing system and related support services from PeterService, another
member of the USM Group, in the amount of 5,343 and 1,979 during 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Amounts due to USM Group as of 31 December 2014 mainly represent the deferred consideration for the Scartel acquisition (Note 3.4).
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5.2. Related parties (continued)
The Group is a member of the Not-for-profit Partnership “Development, Innovations, Technologies” (the “Partnership”) which was
established by companies in the USM Group. The Partnership is required to incur education, science and other social costs as well as
to maintain certain social infrastructure assets in Skolkovo Innovation Centre which are not owned by MegaFon and not recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s accrued contributions to the Partnership of 1,826 during the year ended
31 December 2015 (2014: 1,089) are included into other non-operating expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
TeliaSonera Group
The outstanding balances and transactions with TeliaSonera Group relate to operations with various companies in the TeliaSonera
Group. Revenues and cost of services principally related to roaming agreements between MegaFon and members of the TeliaSonera
Group located outside Russia and a wireline interconnection agreement with TeliaSonera International Carrier Russia.
Euroset
Euroset is the Group’s joint venture with PJSC VimpelCom (Note 3.3). The Group has a dealership agreement with Euroset which qualifies
as a related party transaction.
Garden Ring
Garden Ring is the Group’s joint venture with Sberbank (Note 3.3). The Group has a lease agreement with Garden Ring which qualifies
as a related party transaction. The Group also has loan receivable from Garden Ring which it acquired together with the shares of
Glanbury. The balance due from Garden Ring at 31 December 2015 consists of the loan receivable and an advance payment under the
lease agreement.
Compensation to key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors and the Management Board of the Company are the key management personnel. The amounts
recognised as employee benefits expense to key management personnel of the Group for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation (Note 5.1)
Long-term incentive programme
Total

2015

2014

520
246
179
945

603
593
12
1,208

5.3. Business combinations
Accounting policies
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting and recognises the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquired company at the acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that date.
The identification of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of those acquisitions, determining the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as well as any contingent consideration and quantification of resulting goodwill requires management’s
judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash
inflows and outflows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, licence and other asset useful lives and market multiples, among other
items.
Results of subsidiaries acquired and accounted for by the acquisition method have been included in operations from the relevant date of
acquisition.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument within the scope of IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, are recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in the statement of comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and administrative expenses.

150

MEGAFON

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Business
at a Glance

Strategic
Report

Corporate
Governance

Investor
Relations

Financial
Statements
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5.3. Business combinations (continued)
2015 acquisitions
GARS
On 18 September 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the shares of GARS Holding Limited (“GARS”), which is a building local exchange
carrier providing a full range of fixed-line telecommunication services to the tenants of business centers in Moscow and Saint
Petersburg, for a total consideration having a fair value of 2,213 at the date of acquisition, consisting of cash consideration of 1,542 and
deferred and contingent consideration of 671.
The primary reason for the acquisition was to further enhance the Group’s position in the fixed-line telecommunications market in
Moscow and Saint Petersburg.
Contingent consideration, whose payment depends on the satisfaction of certain conditions, has been ascribed a fair value of $5 million
(314 at the exchange rate as of 18 September 2015), approximating the maximum possible amount which is payable within eight months
from the date of acquisition. Deferred consideration of approximately $5 million (357 at the exchange rate as of 18 September 2015) is
payable on or prior to the second anniversary of the acquisition date.
The acquisition of GARS was accounted for using the acquisition method. The valuation of certain acquired assets and liabilities
assumed has not been finalised as of the date these consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue; thus, the provisional
measurements of certain intangible and tangible assets, deferred taxes and goodwill are subject to change.
The table below includes the provisional allocation of the purchase price to the acquired net assets of GARS based on their estimated
fair values.
Assets
Property and equipment

328

Intangible assets

458

Deferred tax assets

24

Other current assets

179

Cash and cash equivalents

75
1,064

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings

158

Deferred tax liabilities

80

Non-current non-fiancial liabilities

17

Current liabilities

194
449

Total identifiable net assets at fair value

615

Goodwill arising on acquisition

1,598

Purchase consideration transferred

2,213

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition and the value to be attributed to the
workforce of GARS.
From the date of acquisition, GARS contributed 392 to revenue and 38 to profit before tax of the Group. If the combination had taken
place at the beginning of the year, revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 would have been 314,281 and profit before
tax would have been 51,942.
The Group recognised GARS acquisition-related costs as general and administrative expenses in the amount of 7 for the year ended
31 December 2015 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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5.3. Business combinations (continued)
Startel
In December 2015 the Group acquired 100% interest in CJSC Startel, which provides a full range of fixed-line telecommunication services
to business clients in Moscow and Tver, for a cash consideration of 48, of which 21 is deferred for up to one year. The resulting goodwill
is 43.
2014 acquisitions
In 2014 the Group acquired 100% ownership interests in a number of alternative wireline and broadband internet service providers in
certain regions of the Russian Federation for a total cash consideration of 381, of which 150 was contingent consideration deferred for
up to one year. In 2015, the contingent consideration was reduced by 26 and the remaining 124 was fully paid by the Group. Goodwill on
these acquisitions amounted to 374.

5.4. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables. The main
purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has trade and other receivables, and cash and shortterm deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Group also enters into derivative transactions.
The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the management of
these risks. The Group’s senior management is supported by the Finance and Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors that
advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group. The Finance and Strategy Committee
provides assurance to the Group’s senior management that the Group’s financial risk-taking activities are governed by appropriate
policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies. All
derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate skills, experience and
supervision. It is the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken.
The Company’s Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market price risks that mostly impact the Group comprise two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk. Financial
instruments affected by market risk include: loans and borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments.
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as of 31 December in 2015 and 2014. The sensitivity analyses
have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed-to-floating interest rates of the debt and derivatives and
the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations in place at 31
December 2015 and 2014.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings. To manage this,
the Group enters into interest rate swaps, under which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between
fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are
designated to hedge underlying debt obligations.
At 31 December 2015, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 78% of the Group’s borrowings are at a
fixed rate of interest (2014: 86%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on loans and borrowings, after the
impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2015
US Dollar
US Dollar
Year ended 31 December 2014
US Dollar
US Dollar

Increase/decrease
in basis points

Effect on profit
before tax

+95
-95

(418)
418

+2
-2

(7)
7

The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of variable rate liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the
whole year.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s financing
activities (when cash deposits and loans and borrowings are denominated in a different currency from the Group’s functional currency).
A significant portion of the Group’s liabilities is denominated in US dollars or Euro. If the Ruble continued to decline dramatically against
the US dollar or Euro, this could negatively impact the Group’s earnings.
To the extent permitted by Russian law, the Group keeps part of its cash and cash equivalents in US dollar and Euro interest bearing
accounts to manage against the risk of Ruble decline or devaluation, and also to match its foreign currency liabilities.
To minimise its foreign exchange exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, the Group is migrating most of its foreign
currency linked costs to Ruble based costs to balance assets and liabilities and revenues and expenses denominated in Rubles. In
order to manage the foreign currency risk the Group is also focused on increasing the proportion of Ruble loans through refinancing and
hedging activities.
Before 2015 the Group entered into three long-term cross-currency swaps. These derivative financial instruments were used to limit
exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates on certain of the Group’s long-term debts denominated in foreign currencies
(Note 3.4).
Overall, the share of Ruble loans (including the effect of cross-currency swaps) amounted to 63% as of 31 December 2015 (65% at
31 December 2014).
In accordance with the Group’s policies, the Group does not enter into any treasury management transactions of a speculative nature.
Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar, HK dollar and Euro exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value and future cash flows of
monetary assets and liabilities including non-designated foreign currency derivatives) after the impact of hedge accounting. The Group’s
exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.
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5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
Change in foreign
exchange rates

Effect on profit
before tax

Year ended 31 December 2015
US Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
Euro

+50%
-50%
+50%
-50%

(24,807)
24,807
(2,063)
2,063

Year ended 31 December 2014
US Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
Euro
HK Dollar
HK Dollar

+30%
-30%
+30%
-30%
+30%
-30%

(18,372)
18,372
(1,307)
1,307
9,644
(9,644)

The movement in the pre-tax effect is a result of a change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated in a
hedging relationship and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company.
Although the derivatives have not been designated in a hedge relationship, they act as a commercial hedge and will offset the
underlying transactions when they occur.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing
activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.
The Group deposits available cash with various banks in the Russian Federation. Deposit insurance is either not offered or only offered
in de minimis amounts in respect of bank deposits within the Russian Federation. To manage the concentration of credit risk, the
Group allocates available cash to domestic branches of international banks and a limited number of Russian banks. A majority of these
Russian banks are either owned or controlled by the Russian government.
The Group extends credit to certain counterparties, principally international and national telecommunications operators, for roaming
services, to certain dealers and to customers on post-paid tariff plans. The Group minimises its exposure to the risk by ensuring that
credit risk is spread across a number of counterparties, and by continuously monitoring the credit standing of counterparties based on
their credit history and credit ratings reviews. Other preventative measures to minimise credit risk include obtaining advance payments,
bank guarantees and other security.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 3.4. The Group
evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in several jurisdictions and
industries and operate in largely independent markets. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited
given that the Group’s customer base is large and unrelated. Due to this management believes there is no further credit risk provision
required in excess of the normal impairment allowance for trade and other receivables.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk relating to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. Approximately 21% of the Group’s loans and borrowings
will mature in less than one year at 31 December 2015 (2014: 24%) based on the carrying value of borrowings reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low.
As of 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group has net current liability position. The Group believes it will continue to be able to generate
significant operating cash flows and that adequate access to sources of funding and significant amount of available credit lines are
sufficient to meet the Group’s requirements. Additionally, the Group can defer capital expenditures if necessary in order to meet shortterm liquidity requirements. Accordingly, Group management believes that cash flows from operating and financing activities will be
sufficient for the Group to meet its obligations as they become due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.
Less than 1 year

1-3 years

4-5 years

More than 5 years

Total

31 December 2015
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Deferred consideration
Finance lease obligations
Long-term accounts payable
Derivative financial liabilities
Total 31 December 2015

61,582
45,961
2,865
387
—
63
110,471

147,587
—
399
925
986
—
148,972

48,135
—
—
925
107
—
48,242

4,248
—
—
5,986
—
—
4,248

261,552
45,961
3,264
8,223
1,093
63
311,933

31 December 2014
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Deferred consideration
Long-term accounts payable
Derivative financial liabilities
Total 31 December 2014

64,445
36,549
7,257
—
263
108,514

85,361
—
—
1,200
—
86,561

78,125
—
—
27
—
78,152

23,036
—
—
54
—
23,090

250,967
36,549
7,257
1,281
263
296,317

Capital management
Capital includes equity attributable to the Group’s shareholders. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that
it maintains a healthy credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to secure access to debt and capital markets at all times and maximise
shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Net debt to OIBDA ratio is an important measure to assess the capital structure in light of the need to maintain a strong credit
rating. Net debt represents the carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and current
and non-current bank deposits. As of 31 December 2015 the Net Debt to OIBDA ratio was 1.37 (2014: 0.98).
Some loan agreements also have covenants based on Net Debt to OIBDA ratios. The Group believes it has complied with all the capital
requirements imposed by external parties.
Collateral
The Group did not pledge collateral as security for its financial liabilities at 31 December 2015 or 2014, except certain assets purchased
under finance leases or on deferred payment terms (Note 3.1 and 3.4).
100% of the shares of Garden Ring (Note 3.3) have been pledged as security for loans received by Garden Ring from Sberbank, which are
due to be repaid in 2026.

5.5. Group information
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the following significant subsidiaries and joint ventures of PJSC MegaFon:
Legal entity

OJSC MegaFon Retail
LLC NetByNet Holding
LLC Scartel
LLC MegaFon Finance
MegaFon Investments (Cyprus)
Limited
LLC Euroset-Retail (Note 3.3)
CJSC Sadovoe Koltso (Note 3.3)

Principal activities

subsidiary
subsidiary
subsidiary
subsidiary
subsidiary
joint venture
joint venture

Retail
Broadband internet
Wireless services
Financing
Transactions with
treasury shares
Retail
Corporate office

Country of
incorporation

% equity interest
2015

2014

Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

Cyprus
Russia
Russia

100
50
49.999

100
50
—

The Company holds interests in material subsidiaries through a number of intermediary holding companies.
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5.6. Segment information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”). The CODM is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. The Company’s CEO
has been designated as the CODM.
The Group manages its business primarily based on eight geographical operating segments within Russia, which provide a broad
range of voice, data and other telecommunication services, including wireless and wireline services, interconnection services, data
transmission services and VAS. The CODM evaluates the performance of the Group’s operating segments based on revenue and OIBDA.
Total assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments and not analysed by the CODM.
Operating segments with similar economic characteristics, such as forecasted OIBDA, have been aggregated into an integrated
telecommunication services segment, which is the only reportable segment. Around 1.6% of the Group’s revenues and results are
generated by segments outside of Russia. No single customer represents 10% or more of the consolidated revenues.
Reconciliation of consolidated OIBDA to consolidated profit before tax for the years ended 31 December:

OIBDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Finance costs
Finance income
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Other non-operating loss
Gain/(loss) on financial instruments, net
Foreign exchange loss, net
Profit before tax

2015

2014

132,357
(48,173)
(7,313)
(913)
(14,779)
2,508
(649)
(2,949)
1,502
(10,041)
51,550

138,520
(47,431)
(7,827)
(1,437)
(13,792)
1,155
(516)
(1,370)
(50)
(16,884)
50,368

5.7. Commitments, contingencies and uncertainties
Russian operating environment
Russia continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required by a market economy. The
future stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic,
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government.
During 2014 and 2015, the Russian economy was negatively impacted by a significant drop in crude oil prices and a devaluation of the
Russian Ruble, as well as sanctions imposed on Russia by several countries. The Ruble interest rates have fluctuated significantly and
as of 31 December 2015 the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia was at 11%.
The combination of the above resulted in reduced access to capital, a higher cost of capital, increased inflation and uncertainty
regarding economic growth, which could negatively affect the Group’s future financial position, results of operations and business
prospects. Management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current
circumstances.
4G/LTE licence capital commitments
In July 2012, the Federal Service for Supervision in Communications, Information Technologies and Mass Media granted MegaFon a
licence and allocated frequencies to provide services under the 4G/LTE standard in Russia.
Under the terms and conditions of this licence, the Company is obligated to provide 4G/LTE services in each population center with over
50,000 inhabitants in Russia by 2019. The Company is also obligated to make capital expenditures of at least 15,000 annually toward
the 4G/LTE roll-out until the network is fully deployed, to clear frequencies allocated to the military at its own cost and to compensate
other operators for surrendering frequencies in an aggregate amount of 401. As of the date these consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue the Group was fully compliant with these capital expenditure commitments.
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5.7. Commitments, contingencies and uncertainties (continued)
Equipment purchases agreements
In 2014 the Group entered into two separate 7-year agreements with two suppliers to purchase equipment and software for 2G/3G/4G
network construction and modernisation. The software usage agreements contain various termination options, however the Group
is specifically committed under the agreements to pay at least 3 years’ worth of fees plus an amount equal to 50-60% of the fees for
years four through seven of the agreements for each base station in use as at the date of termination while receiving a credit against
these commitments for fees already paid. The amount of the commitments at 31 December 2015 is 14,406 (31 December 2014: 9,206).
Social infrastructure expenses
From time to time, the Group may determine to maintain certain social infrastructure assets which are not owned by the Group and
not recorded in the consolidated financial statements as well as to incur education, science and other social costs. Such activities may
be conducted in collaboration with non-governmental organisations. These expenses are presented in other non-operating loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Taxation
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation, including transfer pricing legislation, are subject to varying interpretations and changes,
which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to transactions and activities of the Group may
be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events within Russia suggest that the tax authorities are taking
a more assertive position in their interpretation and enforcement of the legislation and as a result, it is possible that transactions
and activities that have not been challenged in the past may now be challenged. Therefore, significant additional taxes, penalties and
interest may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for the three calendar years
preceding the current year. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.
In 2014 a law “On controlled foreign companies” (the “CFC law”) was enacted aimed at fiscal stimulation by decreasing the number of
the entities involved in the Russian economy but registered abroad, and took effect on 1 January 2015. Under the CFC law retained
profits of foreign companies and non-corporate structures controlled by Russian tax residents (companies and individuals) may be
subject to Russian taxation. Russian taxpayers (controlling parties) must inform the tax authorities of the foreign companies controlled
by them, while the tax authorities may impose additional tax liabilities on taxpayers failing to include retained profit of the foreign
controlled companies in their taxable base, where necessary.
The Group’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and is in accordance with the current
industry practice, and that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained. However, the interpretations of the
relevant authorities could differ.
As of 31 December 2015 the Group’s management estimated the possible effect of additional taxes, before fines and interest, if any, on
these consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing different interpretations being taken by them, to
be in the amount of up to approximately 966.
Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance lease contracts for various items of telecommunications assets. Under these leases the lessor retains title to
the leased assetson security for the Group’s obligation thereunder. Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with
the present value of the net minimum lease payments as of 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Less amounts representing finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

www.megafon.com

Minimum
payments

Present value of
payments

387
1,590
6,245
8,222
(4,718)
3,504

387
1,109
2,008
3,504
—
3,504
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5.7. Commitments, contingencies and uncertainties (continued)
Operating lease commitments
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight line
basis over the period of the lease.
The Group normally enters into operating leases with a term not exceeding one year. Accordingly, the Group’s operating lease
commitments at 31 December 2015 and 2014 approximate the annual rent expense (Note 2.3).
Litigation
The Group is not a party to any material litigation, although in the ordinary course of business, some of the Group’s subsidiaries may
be party to various legal and tax proceedings, and subject to claims, certain of which relate to the developing markets and evolving
fiscal and regulatory environments in which they operate. In the opinion of management, the Group’s and its subsidiaries’ liabilities, if
any, in all pending litigation, other legal proceedings or other matters, will not have a material effect on the financial condition, financial
performance or liquidity of the Group.

5.8. Events after the reporting date
On 8 February 2016 the Group granted Strafor Commercial Ltd a loan in the amount of $43.8 million (3,192 at the exchange rate as of
31 December 2015). The loan is repayable on 28 February 2018 together with interest at 7% per annum.
On 17 February 2016 the Company successfully bid for 2,570-2,595 MHz band spectrum in 40 regions of the Russian Federation
pursuant to a frequency distribution auction conducted by Roskomnadzor. Under the terms and conditions of these spectrum licences,
the Company is obligated to compensate other operators for surrendering frequencies in an aggregate amount of 378. The total
consideration for the spectrum including the compensation due to the other operators is 2,199.
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Key Performance Indicators
over the Last Three Years

2013

2014

2015

Number of mobile subscribers, m people

68.1

69.7

74.8

Number of mobile data users, m people

25.2,

27.4

29.3

177

211

233

1,556

2,614

3,286

37.0

39.3

39.2

OPERATIONAL RESULTS

ARPDU, RUB per month
DSU, MB per month
Data service coverage, %

TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT OF NETWORK
4G/LTE network coverage, number of regions of operation

49

72

77

Number of 2G base stations, BSs

42,929

46,337

47,946

Number of 3G base stations, BSs

33,298

38,147

42,281

Number of 4G base stations, BSs
Length of fibre-optic communication network in Russia, km
Number of retail stores, pcs

10,106

18,547

23,003

112,783

121,102

126,030

7,943

8,087

8,070

29,318

30,854

31,576

PERSONEL
Headcount, people

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue, RUB bn, including:

297.2

314.8

313.4

259.0

269.5

270.0

50.4

67.2

79.9

- from wireline services

20.1

22.2

23.4

- from sales of equipment and accessories

18.1

23.1

19.9

132.6

138.5

132.4

- from wireless services, including:
- from mobile data services

OIBDA, RUB bn
OIBDA margin, %

44.6

44.0

42.2

Net profit, RUB bn

51.6

36.7

39.0

Net profit margin, %

17.4

11.7

12.5

CAPEX, RUB bn

47.1

56.5

70.2

CAPEX/revenue, %

15.9

17.9

22.4

Free cash flow, RUB bn

82.6

70.7

53.8

Free cash flow / revenue, %

27.8

22.5

17.2

Net debt / OIBDA, x

0.78

0.98

1.37
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Contacts
Full name:
Public Joint-Stock Company MegaFon
Short name:
PJSC MegaFon

Head office:

30 Kadashevskaya emb., Moscow 115035, Russia
Tel: +7 (499) 755-2155
Fax: +7 (499) 755-2175
E-mail: info@megafon.ru
Web: www.megafon.ru

Information for shareholders:

Corporate Secretary – Elena Breeva
Telephone: +7 (499) 755-2155
Fax: +7 (499) 755-2100
E-mail: cso@megafon.ru

Information for investors:

Dmitry Kononov
Director, Investor Relations and M&A
Tel: + 7(926) 200-6490
E-mail: ir@megafon.ru

Company’s Auditor:

JSC KPMG
10 Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya, Moscow 123317 Russia
Tel: +7 (495) 937-4477
Fax: +7 (495) 937-4400/99
Web: www.kpmg.ru

Company Registrar:

CJSC Computershare Registrar
FCSM licence of Russia No. 10–000–1–000252 (indefinite).
Kutuzoff Tower Business Center
8 Ivana Franko, Moscow 121108 Russia
Tel: +7 (495) 926-8160
Fax: +7 (495) 926-8178
Web: www.computershare-reg.ru

GDR Depositary:

Bank of New York Mellon
101 Barclays Street, 22nd Floor West
New York, NY 10286, USA
Web: www.bnymellon.com
Fax: +1 (212) 571 3050
Dividends +1 (212) 815 2135/2734/2269
Holders +1(212) 815 4888/2723
Shareowner Services 888 BNY ADRS
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Glossary
4G/LTE

fourth generation of wireless technology which provides greater access to data and services through enhanced
download and upload speeds and enhanced use of spectrum.

ARPDU
(Average Monthly Revenue
Per Data Services User)

is calculated for a given period by dividing the Company’s data services revenues for a given period by the
average number of its data services users during that period, and further dividing the result by the number of
months in that period.

Big Data

represents the Information assets characterized by such a high volume, velocity and variety to require specific
technology and analytical methods for its transformation into value.

Capital Expenditures
(CAPEX)

comprises the cost of purchases of new equipment, new construction, acquisition of new or upgrades to
software, acquisition of spectrum and other intangible assets, and purchases of other long-term assets,
together with related costs incurred prior to the intended use of the applicable assets, all accounted for as of
the earliest time of payment or delivery. Long-term assets obtained through business combinations are not
included in the calculation of capital expenditures.

Data services user

is defined as a subscriber who has consumed any amount of data traffic within preceding month.

DSU
(Monthly Average Data
Services Usage per User)

is calculated by dividing the total number of megabytes transferred by our network during a given period by the
average number of data services users during such period and dividing the result by the number of months in
such period.

Free Cash Flow
(FCF)

means cash from operating activities, less cash paid for purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets, increased by proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment and interest paid. It is a financial measure
which should be considered as supplementary but not as an alternative to the information provided in the Company’s
financial statements. This metric measures the Company’s ability to generate cash after accruals required to
maintain and expand the Company’s assets.

Machine to Machine
(M2M)

refers to technologies that allow both wireless and wired systems to communicate with other devices of the
same type.

Net cash/Net debt position

means the difference between (a) cash, cash equivalents, and principal amount of deposits and (b) principal amount
of loans and borrowings less unamortised debt issuance fees. It is a financial measure which should be considered
as supplementary but not as an alternative to the information provided in the Company’s financial statements.
The Company believes that this metric provides useful information as to the liquidity position of the Company after
debt repayments.

Net Profit

is profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company.

OIBDA
(Operating Income
Before Depreciation
and Amortisation)

is a financial measure which should be considered as supplementary, but not as an alternative to the
information provided in the financial statements of the Company. OIBDA margin means OIBDA as a percentage
of revenue. The Company believes that OIBDA provides a better measure of the Company’s actual operational
results including our ability to finance capital expenditures, acquisitions and other investments and our
ability to incur and service debt. While it does not take into account depreciation of property and equipment,
amortisation of intangible assets and gain/(loss) from disposal of non-current assets, which are considered as
operating expenses in IFRS, these expenses primarily represent non-cash charges related to long-lived assets
acquired or constructed in prior periods. OIBDA is widely used by investors, analysts and rating agencies as
a measure to evaluate and compare current and future operating performance and to determine the value of
companies within the telecommunications industry.

Wireless Subscriber

is defined as each SIM card that is activated in our billing system or has had at least one chargeable traffic event (that is,
use of voice, VAS or data transfer services) within the preceding three months, whether chargeable to the subscriber or
to a third party (for example, interconnection charges payable by other operators). Where an individual person holds more
than one SIM card, each SIM card is included as a separate subscriber.
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Disclaimer
Certain statements and/or other information included
in this document may not be historical facts and
may constitute ‘forward looking statements’ within
the meaning of Section 27A of the U.S. Securities
Act of 1933 and Section 2(1) (e) of the U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The words
‘believe’, ‘expect’, ‘anticipate’, ‘intend’, ‘estimate’,
‘plans’, ‘forecast’, ‘project’, ‘will’, ‘may’, ‘should’ and
similar expressions may identify forward looking
statements but are not the exclusive means of
identifying such statements. Forward looking
statements include statements concerning our
plans, expectations, projections, objectives, targets,
goals, strategies, future events, future revenues,
operations or performance, capital expenditures,
financing needs, our plans or intentions relating to the
expansion or contraction of our business as well as
specific acquisitions and dispositions, our competitive
strengths and weaknesses, the risks we face in our
business and our response to them, our plans or goals
relating to forecasted production, reserves, financial
position and future operations and development, our
business strategy and the trends we anticipate in
the industry and the political, economic, social and
legal environment in which we operate, and other
information that is not historical information, together
with the assumptions underlying these forward
looking statements.

www.megafon.com

By their very nature, forward looking statements
involve inherent risks, uncertainties and other
important factors that could cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially
different from results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements are
based on numerous assumptions regarding our
present and future business strategies and the
political, economic, social and legal environment
in which we will operate in the future. We do not
make any representation, warranty or prediction
that the results anticipated by such forward-looking
statements will be achieved, and such forwardlooking statements represent, in each case, only one
of many possible scenarios and should not be viewed
as the most likely or standard scenario. We expressly
disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update any
forward-looking statements to reflect actual results,
changes in assumptions or in any other factors
affecting such statements.
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